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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Xiwang Property Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”;
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to present
the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 (the “Year”). In 2023, the real estate market in the PRC
continued to be under pressure and the overall market remained
sluggish. The key data of the national real estate market in 2023
recently released by the National Bureau of Statistics of the PRC
showed a continued overall decline in the scale of the industry
in 2028. Indicators such as the gross floor area and amount of
commercial housing sales, investment in real estate development,
available funds of real estate enterprises all showed a downward
trend.

The overall sales of the industry in 2023 showed a pattern of being
“high in the early stage, low in the middle stage and stable in the
later stage”. In particular, the sales in the first quarter recovered
with a short rally, as the previous backlog of demand was released
in a concentrated manner; in the second quarter, the momentum of
market recovery receded rapidly as supply contracted and demand
weakened; in the third and fourth quarters, the central and local
governments in the PRC issued a series of favorable policies, which
resulted in an increase of supply, and marginal improvement in the
low-level sales amount and gross floor area.

Recently, favorable policies to support funding of real estate
companies have been issued, which was helped to boost market
confidence. However, it is expected that a longer period of time will
be required for the full recovery of demand on the purchasers’ side.
Looking forward to 2024, it is expected that pressure on adjustment
of the real estate market will continue to prevail in the near future.
With the issue and implementation of favorable policies and overall
resurgence of macroeconomic conditions, the real estate market
may gradually stabilise.

The Group will keep pace with the times, and pursue efficiency while
maintaining robust management and high quality standards in the
course of future development in line with its actual conditions and
supply and demand in local markets. In addition to optimising its
property management services and construction material trading
businesses, the Group's new project developments will target the
basic housing needs as well as demand for improvement in housing
standards, with a focus on environmental friendliness, health,
livability and safety. Through these strategies, the Group aims to
steadily enhance its profitability and competitiveness to create value
for shareholders and stakeholders.

WANG Yong
Chairman

26 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
MEEJE n—_l' &73 *ﬁ'

INTRODUCTION

The Group was established in 2001 with headquarters located in
Zouping City, Shandong Province of the PRC. The Company was
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in December 2005. The Group
is principally engaged in the businesses of property development,
provision of property management services and trading of
construction materials in the PRC, particularly in the Shandong
Province.

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT BUSINESS

Property development business has been the principal business of
the Group since 2012. In the past 10 years, the Group successfully
completed Phase One and Phase Two of the Lanting Project
and Meijun Project, both of which are residential projects located
in Zouping, Shandong Province. As at 31 December 2023, the
total unsold portion of these two projects was approximately
1,317 sg.m., which mainly consisted of storage rooms and car
parking spaces. The Group will use its best endeavour to sell such
unsold portion as soon as practicable. During the Year, the Group
successfully sold 36.0 sg.m. of Lanting Project.

The business environment of the property development market is
heavily affected by the national and local governmental policies
in the past few years. The real estate market of Zouping City also
fluctuated significantly and showed a downward trend in the recent
years. All these factors led the management of the Company to
take a conservative approach in dealing with potential projects,
particularly given that property development is a capital intensive
industry and a significant portion of the working capital of the Group
will be tied up once a project is kicked off. As such, it takes longer
time for the Group to identify profitable projects while preserving
a healthy financial position. The Company has never depended
heavily on aggressive fundraising for any project and does not have
the pressure of de-stocking and deleveraging which other property
developers may currently encounter.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The development of Meijun Project Phase Three will be divided into
two stages. Stage 1 of Meijun Project Phase Three will include a
parcel of land with an area of approximately 95,820 sg.m. (“Meijun
Land A”), while Stage 2 of Meijun Project Phase Three will be
developed in a parcel of land with an area of approximately 77,334
sg.m. (“Meijun Land B”). The Group has already obtained the
State-owned Land Use Certificate (“Land Use Certificate”) issued
by the Ministry of Land and Resources of the People’s Republic of
China in respect of Meijun Land A but the same for Meijun Land B
has yet to be granted.

Meijun Project Phase Three has been delayed for years as the site
is located in a regeneration area subject to demolition of existing
structures erected on the site. The Group has actively liaised with
various government departments which are responsible for such
demolition works and plot ratio planning.

In particular, the Board would like to highlight that, during the Year,
the Group took the following actions in furtherance of Meijun Project
Phase Three:

- liaised with the relevant officials of the government of Zouping
City and/or Huangshan Street Office* (&= LU #E P EER) on
multiple occasions to follow up on and push forward the
demolition works of Meijun Project Phase Three;

— liaised with the Zouping City Natural Resources and Planning
Bureau* (8T BAERMABEEID) to further understand the
restrictions on the overall planning of floor area ratio for Meijun
Project Phase Three;

- communicated with the deputy director in charge and followed
up on the progress of adjustments to the floor area ratio; and

- communicated with Planning Designing House (3R ZI5&5Ft)
regarding the overall planning design of Meijun Project Phase
Three.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BB W&o (&)

As at the date of this report, the local government departments have
already started the demolition works of the existing structures and it
is expected that a period of approximately one year will be required
to complete the demolition works. The demolition works are entirely
undertaken and handled by the local government.

The development of Meijun Land B is subject to the grant of the
Land Use Certificate which is currently expected to be obtained in
2025. The Company will carefully assess the Meijun Project Phase
Three pre-sale activities after considering certain important factors
such as prevailing conditions and forecasts of the overall economy
and the real estate market in Zouping City.

The Group has set out the following timetable in connection with the
development of Meijun Project Phase Three:

Early 2024 Commencement of the demolition
works of the existing structures for
Meijun Project Phase Three

Late 2024 Completion of demolition works

2025 Obtaining the Land Use Certificate
of Meijun Land B

Commencement of pre-sale
activities of Meijun Project Phase
Three Stage 1
Late 2027 Completion of the entire
development of Meijun Project
Phase Three Stage 1

Another potential real estate development project of the Group is
the Qinghe Project, which involves a parcel of land with a site area
of approximately 131,258 sqg.m. for the construction of residential
units. Due to its heavy working capital investment requirements, the
Group has been very cautious in starting this project. In addition,
the management also considers that the progress of the Qinghe
Project has been very slow and it is difficult for the Group to obtain
the land use rights certificate through public tender, auction and
listing-for-bidding.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The development of the Qinghe Project has been affected by
the weakening of PRC real estate market. In view of the slow
progress and the risk of overstocking of properties in the future,
the management considered it is highly unlikely that the Group
will develop this project in the coming years until there are signs
that demonstrate an upward trend in the demand for residential
properties in the PRC (in particular Zouping City, Shandong
Province) in the near term. Based on independent valuations and
management’s assessment, the Group recorded impairment losses
recognised in respect of goodwill and written off of prepayment of
approximately RMB71.0 million and RMB79.4 million respectively
for the Year (Previous Year: impairment loss recognised in respect
of goodwill of approximately RMB2.0 million).

Reasons for and the circumstances leading to
the impairment loss and written off

The real estate market in the PRC drew a lot of attention in 2023.
Many industrial giants had debt defaults recorded and entered into
restructuring processes. A number of property developers even
went into liquidation. Property sales by value in the PRC dropped to
under RMB12 trillion in 2023 from BMB15 trillion in 2021. Overall, in
2023, investment in real estate development in the PRC fell by 9.6%
when compared to that of 2022 in according to statistics published
by the National Bureau of Statistics of the PRC.

The management expects that the housing market in the PRC will
face additional pressures in coming years from structural factors,
in particular slowdown in the growth of the domestic income per
person in Zouping City. The need for additional new housing will
diminish in coming years as the pace of urbanisation slows. Large
public subsidies in the previous decade helped millions of people
move to newer housing from older buildings lacking modern
amenities. However, such demand will likely be more limited as
depressed land sale revenues have tightened local government
fiscal constraints and there are fewer residents who are living in
older housing and in need of newer housing. Despite continued
discussion with the local government, the government has not
provided concrete responses (such as a public tender timetable) to
the Group.

EEER W&o (&)

FEEMEMSEN  BHEERESE
Z . ENBREREEBEAREEEFER
Bk BEEERE  AEERREFTK
AEEFAEZER  BRIEERERRBFRECE
HREWREHFEH)NEEMES AL
SHEEFABE - BEBYGHEREEEF
& AEBRTFARBEERREBELA
RE7T10BB T ERMBEAEMZTEBHARE
7948 B (EAF  EHERRARERSELY
ARE20BETT) °

LYREBERRMENRERKE

/.

2023%F - AEEEMIS LA AR
BETEEBREBREBHENWMKAZHE
B -Z2RXEHEREHEZRENTEBRE -
Bt - FEIEHEEEREDI2021FHAR
BASE B E2023F TEARB12EE
JC o BIBEFBIERG B AMASETEE
WREEM S 20234 FF B 5 b EE 18 & #22022
FT£9.6% °

BEERY - REEFFHEERE 5K R
REBMERRGROBEINES - LHEFFH
A RERAR R - RREF - BEE
W LERMEE - FBEFFRGRD - 18
E+FERBERMA - HHHEEEAMESR
RBERZNER - BENES - A - B8
ETHHBBARD - T RFM B RS -
MzEEEEFLHERERFNERBE
B ZHFKAESEMER - BERE
BUF T EETTRER - BBUFLES A EE
H AR EE (B AFRBERER)

BAEEXEERBRAR 2023F R 9



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BB W&o (&)

In addition, the site of the Qinghe Project is located in the sub-
urban area of Zouping City and is out of the prime location of the
city. The demand for residential housing in this area has diminished
with customers taking a more conservative approach in acquiring
properties in Zouping City in recent years. A weak demand would
push down the selling price of the properties. The management
has reviewed the development plan of the Qinghe Project taking
into account the purchasing power of the potential customers,
demand for better quality housing in the area and the real estate
market conditions. It is anticipated that the selling prices of the
properties would be lower than those in the previous years. If the
Group continues to develop the Qinghe Project, it may have an
adverse effect on the Group’s financial results in the long term.
The management has made attempts to identify suitable business
partner(s) to collaborate in the development of the Qinghe Project.
However, due to the above-mentioned factors, the management
has not been able to identify a suitable potential business partner.

The Group has conducted annual review on goodwill in connection
to the Qinghe Project to assess the expected recoverable amount
of the same. The Group engaged an external valuer to perform
assessment on the expected recoverable amount of goodwill based
on the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use
(“VIU”) calculation. After careful review and assessment, the Group
recorded impairment losses recognised in respect of goodwill,
details of which are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this report.

The prepayments with respect to the Qinghe Project represented
the prepaid construction costs which include, without limitation, the
costs of relocation house construction ([B3& &= #:%), fence project,
community billboard project, construction of supporting facilities,
demolition compensation, land acquisition management fee paid to
the Bureau of Land and Resources, temporary handling fee charged
by the Bureau of Land and Resources and other miscellaneous
prepaid development costs. All prepayments incurred are non-
fundable. The management considered that the real estate market
in the PRC is unlikely to have significant improvement in the
coming few years. The Qinghe Project may not be able to generate
significant cash inflow from presales of properties to support its
cash outflow in construction works from its further development.
As such, prepayments which amounted to approximately RMB79.4
million was written off during the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the Qinghe
Project before impairment was approximately RMB150.4
million (81 December 2022: before impairment approximately
RMB152.4 million), which comprised (i) goodwill of approximately
RMB71.0 million (31 December 2022: RMB73.0 million) and (ii)
prepaid construction and development costs for the project of
approximately RMB79.4 million (31 December 2022: approximately
RMB79.4 million).

As at 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of the Qinghe
Project was approximately RMB55.0 million (31 December 2022:
approximately RMB150.4 million), being an amount shown in
the valuation report of the Qinghe Project as at 31 December
2023 prepared by the independent professional valuer, which
was determined based on the VIU using the valuation method of
discounted cash flow. It requires estimates concerning future cash
flows and associated discount rate and growth rate assumptions
which are based on the management’s expectation of future
business performance and prospects of the Qinghe Project.

The impairment losses on goodwill and written off of prepayment,
which were non-cash in nature, did not affect the Group’s working
capital condition during the Year.

Key basis and assumptions adopted for projected cash flow of
Qinghe Project

In the Year, the management expected that the field works of the
Qinghe Project would only be able to commence in 2026. The
Group will start the planning work and further negotiate with the
government. If the real estate market is stable, the management
expected that the construction works would start in 2028 and that it
would take approximately two years to complete such construction
works if during the forecast period from the year 2024 to 2033
(“Forecast Period”). The net loss margin for the whole project was
estimated to be approximately 11.9%.

In the Previous Year, the management anticipated that the
construction works of the Qinghe Project would commence in 2026
and that it would take two years to complete the construction works
during the forecast period from 2024 to 2031 (“Previous Forecast
Period”). However, it was then anticipated that the net profit margin
for the whole project would be approximately 25.9%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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The decrease in expected net profit margin was mainly due to the
management setting a lower unit selling price in view of market
conditions and adjustments to the costs of development for Qinghe
Project.

The commencement time of the construction works of the Qinghe
Project is expected to be in 2028 for the Forecast Period (Previous
Forecast Period: in 2026). The commencement of the pre-sale
activities of Qinghe Project will depend on the conditions of the real
estate market and the demand for housing in Zouping City. The
management expected that the pre-sale activities of the Qinghe
Project would commence in 2028 for the Forecast Period (Previous
Forecast Period: in 2026). The management will periodically revise
the development plan of the Qinghe Project and will prioritise Meijun
Project Phase Three in the deployment of the Group’s resources.

There were no significant changes in the basis adopted in the
preparation of the projected cash flow for the Forecast Period in
20283 as compared with those adopted for the Previous Forecast
Period in 2022. The expected annual net profit margins during
the Forecast Period in 2023 was lower than the projection of
the same for the Previous Forecast Period made in 2022, taking
into consideration various factors including but not limited to the
increase in development expenditure, the estimated time to kick off
the project, reduction in the unit selling price of the property and the
market condition in the real estate market in the PRC (in particular,
Zouping City, Shandong Province).

The VIU of the Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”) of Qinghe Project was
developed through the application of the weighted-average-cost-
of-capital (“WACC”) to discount the free cash flows to the CGU. The
WACC was calculated by taking into account the cost of equity and
the cost of debt. The cost of equity is calculated according to the
Capital Asset Pricing Model.
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20234 20224

Risk-free rate 4 31 ez 1) = 2.59% 2.88%
Beta coefficient BB EL 0.47 0.22
Market risk premium g E kR B 5.63% 7.16%
Company specific risk premium NelFER KRS 4.50% 5.50%
Cost of equity e 25 X AR 12.81% 9.93%
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The valuation method of discounted cash flow was adopted for
the calculation of the VIU of the Qinghe Project. In accordance
with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36 Impairment of Assets,
a CGU to which goodwill has been allocated shall be tested for
impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that
the CGU may be impaired, by comparing the carrying amount
of the CGU, including the goodwill, with the recoverable amount
of the CGU, which is the higher of the VIU and the fair value less
costs of disposal. The valuation method of fair value less costs
of disposal was not adopted as there were limited transactions
of comparable CGU available in the market for the determination
of fair value after having carried out research on an international
research database, all announcements on the websites of the
Stock Exchange, the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and the Shanghai
Stock Exchange and the financial reports and publicly available
information of listed companies in Hong Kong. In accordance
with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36, it will not be possible
to measure fair value less costs of disposal because there is no
reasonable basis for making a reliable estimate of the price at which
an orderly transaction to sell the CGU would take place between
market participants at the measurement date under the then
prevailing current market condition. On the other hand, costs of
disposal of transactions can vary on a case-by-case basis and such
information is not easily assessable. As such, VIU was adopted
as the recoverable amount of the CGU. The valuation method of
discounted cash flow has been consistently applied in the valuation
on the CGU of the Qinghe Project since 2012.

The reason for the decrease in the VIU of the December 2023
valuation as compared to the VIU of the Previous Year is that the
projected annual net profit margin for the Forecast Period was lower
than the projection of the same for the Previous Forecast Period
made in 2022, taking into consideration various factors including
but not limited to, the estimated time to kick off the project, the unit
selling price of the property and the market condition in the real
estate market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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PROVISION OF PROPERTY
MANAGEMENT SERVICES

The Company is well-aware of the importance of diversifying
its income streams and has been actively seeking acquisition
opportunities at reasonable prices in the past few years. The Group
has successfully secured property management service contracts
with a number of customers in Zouping City. The Group will also
further explore other business opportunities outside Zouping City. As
at the date of this report, the Group provides services to residential
properties in Zouping City with an aggregate contracted gross floor
area of approximately 179,000 sqg.m.. During the Year, a gross profit
of RMB1.6 million was recorded.

TRADING OF CONSTRUCTION
MATERIALS

The Group considers trading of construction materials to be
complementary to its business of property development. Given that
the Group has developed years of relationship and network in the
industry, the Group intends to expand the scale of its construction
materials trading business both within and outside Zouping City.

The Group intends to rigorously develop its business of
construction materials trading. During the Year, the Group sold
approximately 4,453 tonnes of construction materials (2022:
approximately 12,801 tonnes). The Group will recruit more sales
personnels to expand its customer base, particularly outside
Shandong Province. Besides, the Group will also broaden its
sourcing network in order to enrich and offer a wider variety
of products to its customers. Due to the weak demand for
construction materials, the Group recorded an approximately 65%
decrease in the sales volume during the Year as compared to the
Previous Year.

The future development of this segment of the Group’s businesses
largely depends on the economic situation in Shandong Province and
also the construction works therein. The Group will closely discuss
with potential customers and explore their needs in the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s sources of revenue for the Year include sales of
properties, provision of property management services and
trading of construction materials in the PRC. Geographically,
Shandong Province remains the Group’s main market. The
revenues of the Group during the Year were entirely derived
from Shandong Province. To diversify revenue sources in the
challenging national and global economic environment, the
Group commenced the businesses of construction materials
trading and provision of property management services in
the PRC in December 2020 and July 2022 respectively. It
is expected that the continued development of these new
businesses will broaden the revenue base for the Group and
create value for shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Operating results
1. Revenue

During the Year, the Group’s total revenue amounted
to RMB20,790,000 (Previous Year: RMB48,455,000),
representing revenues from the businesses of trading of
construction materials, sales of properties and provision
of property management services businesses.

The Group successfully sold 36.0 sq.m. of land from
Lanting Project during the Year. The Group mainly
engaged in provision of property management services
and sales of construction materials during the Year.

2. Cost of sales

During the Year, the Group’s total cost of sales amounted
to RMB19,348,000 (Previous Year: RMB47,521,000),
representing costs of sales from the businesses of
trading of construction materials, sales of properties and
provision of property management services businesses.
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Other income

The Group’s other income during the Year amounted
to RMB3,268,000 (Previous Year: RMB3,196,000),
mainly representing interest income from Xiwang Group
Finance Company Limited (“Xiwang Finance”), a
related company of the Company.

Selling and marketing expenses

Selling and marketing expenses of the Group mainly
represented the remuneration of sales staff. These
expenses remained stable during the Year.

Reversal of allowance of expected credit loss on
trade receivables

In accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard 9 “Financial Instruments”, the management
assessed the measurement of expected credit losses
(“ECL”) in relation to trade receivables and used a
collectively assessed provision matrix to calculate
ECL. During the Year, a reversal of impairment loss of
approximately RMB56,000 (Previous Year: reversal of
RMB128,000) was recognised due to the decrease in
trade receivable balances.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group include general
administrative fees, legal and professional fees and
salaries of management and administrative staff.
During the Year, the total amount of administrative
expenses was RMB6,184,000, representing a
decrease of RMB4,200,000 compared to the figure of
RMB10,384,000 during the Previous Year. The decrease
was mainly due to (i) decrease in exchange loss to
RMB612,000 during the Year (2022: RMB3,170,000)
and (ii) decrease in legal and professional fees to
RMB493,000 during the Year (2022: RMB2,089,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

7. Income tax credit

In the year, income tax credit increased to
RMB17,699,000, representing an increase of
RMB16,755,000 from RMB944,000 in Previous
Year. This was mainly attributable to the utilisation of
deferred income tax liabilities from fair value adjustment
arising from acquisition of subsidiary of approximately
RMB17,758,000 during the Year.

8. Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill
and written off of prepayment

The Company recognised impairment loss of goodwill
and written off of prepayment of approximately RMB71.0
million and RMB79.4 million respectively during the Year
(Previous Year: impairment loss recognised in respect
of goodwill of approximately RMB2.0 million). Such
impairment and written off were attributable to Qinghe
Project of the property development business of the
Group. Details of impairment are set out in the section
of this report titled “Property Development Business”,
which is included within the Management Discussion
and Analysis section.

Financial position
Liquidity and capital resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents amounted to RMB150,882,000 (31 December
2022: RMB150,500,000). The Group primarily utilised the
cash flow from operations, cash inflow from investing activities
and cash on hand to finance its operational requirements
during the Year.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s gearing ratio, which
is total debt divided by total equity, was 4.8% (31 December
2022: 3.4%). As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no
bank and other borrowings (31 December 2022: nil).
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Significant investments held, significant acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries and future plans for significant
investments or capital asset acquisitions

During the Year, the Group had no significant investments
and did not enter into any significant acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries. The Group has not made future plans for any
significant investments or capital asset acquisitions.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2023, none of the property, plant and
equipment of the Group was pledged to secure bank and
other borrowings (31 December 2022: nil).

Pledge of shares by controlling shareholders

The controlling shareholder of the Company, Xiwang
Investment Company Limited (in liquidation) (“Xiwang
Investment”), notified the Board on 28 September 2017
that it had entered into share charge agreements with an
independent third party pursuant to which it had charged all of
its shareholding in ordinary shares and convertible preference
shares of the Company in favour of such independent third
party as security for notes issued by its subsidiary to such
independent third party in the aggregate principal amount
of HK$200 million. For further details of this transaction,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
28 September 2017. Subsequent to the aforementioned
announcement, Xiwang Investment converted 172,095,966
preference shares into 172,095,966 ordinary shares of the
Company.

The Company was informed by a letter from the Official
Receiver’s Office of Hong Kong (“Official Receiver”) dated
21 March 2023 that a winding-up order dated 20 March
2023 has been made against Xiwang Investment. As at
the date of this report, Xiwang Investment directly holds
a total of 982,999,688 ordinary shares of the Company,
representing approximately 69.78% of the total number of
ordinary shares issued by the Company, and 506,244,669
convertible preference shares of the Company, representing
approximately 99.75% of the total number of convertible
preference shares issued by the Company. The Company was
informed by the Official Receiver that he had the interest in the
shares of the Company held by Xiwang Investment and was
requested to freeze the transfer of the said shares unless prior
written consent has been obtained from the Official Receiver.
As at the date of this report, Mr. Lai Kar Yan and Ms. Chu
Ching Man are the joint and several liquidators of Xiwang
Investment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

On 2 August 2023, Mr. Osman Mohammed Arab and
Mr. Lai Wing Lun were appointed as the joint and several
receivers of 982,999,588 ordinary shares and 506,244,669
convertible preference shares of the Company held by
Xiwang Investment. Details of the event is set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 4 August 2023.

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s capital commitment
amounted to RMB935,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB935,000), which mainly comprised expenditures for
property development.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group primarily operates in the PRC with Renminbi
(“BRMB”) as its functional currency. During the Year, the
majority of the Group’s assets, liabilities, incomes, payments
and cash balances were denominated in RMB. Therefore,
the Directors believe that the risk exposure of the Group to
fluctuations of foreign exchange rates was not significant as a
whole.

Human resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed approximately
20 staff members (31 December 2022: 23). Staff-related costs
(including Directors’ remuneration) incurred during the Year
amounted to RMB2,484,000 (Previous Year: RMB2,250,000).
The Group regularly reviews the remuneration packages of
the Directors and employees having regard to their experience
and responsibilities in relation to the Group’s business.
The Group has established a Remuneration Committee to
determine and review the terms of remuneration packages,
bonuses and other compensation payable to the Directors
and senior management of the Company.
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Contingent liabilities/advance to an entity

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any
contingent liabilities (31 December 2022: Nil).

Continuing Disclosure Obligations Pursuant to the Listing
Rules

As at the date of this report, the Company does not have any
disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of
the Listing Rules.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Policy adjustment is one of the key factors affecting the
real estate market in the PRC. Looking at key data changes
in real estate development investment and sales in 2023,
although decreases occurred in various parameters such as
real estate development investment and enterprise available
funds, such decreases narrowed compared with the previous
year. Meanwhile, the comprehensive adoption of policy tools
such as “recognising housing rather than loans” (i.e. financial
institutions are required to treat homebuyers and their family
members as first-time buyers and extend favourable terms
on loans so long as they have no existing housing property
registered under their names in the region, regardless of
whether they have taken a loan to buy a home in the past)
reducing the down payment ratio and interest rate and
relaxing purchase restrictions in various regions have been
regarded as effective means to boost the market.

It is expected that real estate policies will continue to ease
further in 2024. Second-tier cities are expected to fully
lift restrictive policies, while policies for first-tier cities are
expected to be relaxed to some extent. Financial policies
supporting financing of property developers are expected
to continue to be strengthened, and rehabilitation of the
reputation and credibility of property developers is expected
to accelerate, thus promoting stable recovery in demand.

Xiwang Property Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2023

FREE RHT-BERNBEX

M2023F12H31H » AEBE W EL M
HARAE (2022912 A31H « £#) -

LR THSERESRRE
RAHmERH - ARFALEETHRA

£%13.20 * 13.21 % 13.221&I8 T K (£ 1A
WEREMT -

EBAI=

BRABERTETRBEEMET SN
BREZ — - #2023FEih ER IR

FHEENBEREEE (L EF - 2023
FRMERBKRE  CEIIVELS
ZEREEE TR EREBERE—F

EAEMEE - &EF - & [RETH
RE(HELeBMBEBEEEERE
REKREREERBEEELLL T
FEFREER(ERREBERTENE
B RERFATAERNMEREA
BEERAEFE)) REEMELHM
ME -BRERBERRTANGEE
A BRERIRT IS B RTE ©

FBE2024 F EHER R KB E — THE
R o “&RW T A L2 E MR S K
B —RBETRHEL - <FHELRE
ESRBRBASEENS  FE
REEEERE  KMEEFKER
[El8x o



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Looking ahead, the position of “housing is for living in, not
for speculation” is still the bottom line firmly held by the PRC
regulators. Since the introduction of such positioning in 2016,
the determination of real estate to return to its residential
attributes has been determined, which is not a short-term real
estate strategy but a decisive positioning for the long-term
future.

In 2023, the Central Economic Work Conference proposed
to accelerate the construction of “three major projects (=
KT #2)”, i.e. the construction of affordable housing, dual-
use public infrastructure for both ordinary and emergency
use and urban village redevelopment, which shall be one of
the priorities of local governments and financial institutions in
2024. It is estimated that the advance in construction of the
“three major projects” may significantly alleviate the downward
risk of the real estate market. Nonetheless, it takes time for
the economy to fully recover and for consumers to restore
confidence in property, and the real estate market is still
gathering steam for revitalisation from its present low levels.

All the above measures can bring tremendous impact to the
Group’s property development and sales business. In the past
years, the Company’s management noted a number of other
players in the industry faced difficulties in securing sufficient
external financing which resulted in delay in completion of
the development of property projects or failure to deliver the
properties to their customers as scheduled. Many property
developers face hurdles in implementing their business
strategies, acquiring land parcels and management of liquidity
risks. To minimise these risks, the management will continue
to closely monitor the governmental policies and the market
demand for properties, in particular in Zouping City where the
Group primarily operates.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EEg

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Jin Tao (£ £8)
Chief Executive Officer

Mr. WANG Jin Tao, aged 40, has been an executive Director
and the chief executive officer of the Company since 26 October
2015. He has more than 10 years of management experience. He
graduated from the professional course in business administration
of The Open University of China (formerly known as China
Central Radio and TV University R R EEEIRKE) in January
2011 and worked as the deputy department head of the security
department of the Xiwang Group Company Limited (A& E A
R AR]) (“Xiwang Group Company”), ultimate holding company
of the Company between July 2005 to May 2006. He became
the administrative deputy general manager of Xiwang Foodstuffs
Company Limited (BAERMARMDBRAA]) (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange under stock
code 000639 in February 2010 and is effectively held as to 46.3%
by Xiwang Group Company as at 31 December 2023) (“Xiwang
Foodstuffs”) from May 2006 to December 2006. He served as the
procuring deputy general manager of the Xiwang Foodstuffs from
December 2006 to October 2008, the executive deputy general
manager of Shandong Xiwang Biotechnology Company Limited* (I
AT ERBFER2AA) (“Xiwang Biotechnology”) from October
2008 to August 2009, the production deputy general manager of
Shandong Xiwang Sugar Company Limited* (LR EEEEBRE A
a]) from August 2009 to December 2009, the executive deputy
general manager of the Xiwang Group First Industrial Park* (7§ E &
B 5% — T #H) from December 2009 to November 2010, the factory
manager of the Fourth Starch Plant of Xiwang Biotechnology (L &
A E AR AR A ARBEE) from May 2011 to August 2012,
and the general manager of Zouping Xiwang Power Co. Ltd* (&
T ES HARAF) from August 2012 to May 2015. Since June
2015, he has been the general manager of Shangdong Xiwang
Property Company Limited* (LR AT EZ* B2 7)) (“Shangdong
Xiwang Property”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. WANG Wei Min (EEK)

Mr. WANG Wei Min, aged 54, has been an executive Director
of the Company since 26 October 2015. He joined the Group in
September 1992 and has more than 22 years of experience in
engineering management. He graduated from the professional
course in microcomputer of the Zouping Professional College* (85
XA R EE 2B of Shandong Province in July 1992 and worked
in the Zouping Xiwang Oil Cotton Factory* (8pF 7 £ i3 R%) from
September 1989 to September 1992. He joined the Shandong
Xiwang Property as the department head of the engineering
department from September 1992 to October 2001 and became
the general manager of Xiwang Real Estate Development Company
Limited* (AL FHEREZEHFRAR]), a subsidiary of Shangdong
Xiwang Property from October 2001 to February 2008. Since
February 2008, he has been the deputy general manager of

Shangdong Xiwang Property.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Di (E#8)
Chairman (resigned on 14 February 2023)

Mr. WANG Di, aged 41, was a non-executive Director and
the chairman of the Company until 14 February 2023. He was
appointed as an executive Director in November 2010 and the
deputy chairman of the Company in July 2012. He was the head
of branding of the Group from 2006 to June 2013. Mr. WANG was
re-designated as non-executive Director and the chairman of the
Company on 15 July 2013. Mr. WANG resigned as a non-executive
Director and chairman of the Company on 14 February 2023.
Mr. WANG attended the bachelor’s degree course of Information
Conflict from the Electronic Engineering Institute of the Chinese
People’s Liberation Army (FF A RN E E 7 TI2Z67) from 2001
to 2005. He joined Xiwang Group Company in August 2005 and
the Group in January 2006. He was in charge of the international
trading business of the Group from 2005 to June 2013 and was in
charge of international trading business of Xiwang Group for more
than eight years. Mr. WANG has been granted various awards and
honours, including outstanding worker for enterprise education and
training of Shandong Province in 2006, labour model of Binzhou
City of Shangdong Province of the PRC, labour model of Shandong
Province and outstanding entrepreneur in food industry of
Shandong Province. Mr. WANG was a director of Xiwang Foodstuffs
from 19 October 2011 to 17 May 2019. He was the chairman and
non-executive director of Xiwang Special Steel Company Limited (in
liquidation) (“Xiwang Special Steel”) (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange under stock code 1266 in February
2012 and is effectively held as to approximately 36.64% by Xiwang
Holdings as at 31 December 2023). Mr. WANG resigned as a non-
executive director and chairman of Xiwang Special Steel on 14
February 2023. Mr. WANG Di is the son of Mr. WANG Yong, who is
a non-executive Director and the chairman of the Company.
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Mr. WANG Yong (£ &)
Chairman (redesignated from Deputy Chairman to Chairman on 14
February 2023)

Mr. WANG Yong, aged 74, is a non-executive Director and the
chairman of the Company. Mr. WANG was redesignated from
deputy chairman to chairman on 14 February 2023 following the
resignation of Mr. WANG Di. He is one of the founders of the
Group. Mr. WANG was appointed as an executive Director and the
chairman of the Company in March 2005 and was re-designated as
non-executive Director and the deputy chairman of the Company on
15 July 2013. Mr. WANG was the legal representative of Zouping
Xiwang Social Benefits Oil and Cotton Factory* (8T & 1@
AHABER) from 1986 to 1992 and Zouping Xiwang Industrial Head
Company* (BBFAEEZE4 A7) from 1993 to 1996. He was the
managing director of Xiwang Group Company from 1996 to 2001.
Mr. WANG has been the chairman of the board of directors of
Xiwang Group Company since 2001. Mr. WANG has been assessed
by the Professional Position Evaluation Committee of Binzhou Non-
Public Ownership Organisations* (BT IEAHE Hll & B AT ER
#5128 Z B €) as a senior economist. He was selected as the
National Labour Role Model (2B &8 #5) by the State Council in
2000 and was appointed as the vice president of the third council
of China Fermentation Industry Association* (ff B3 T 2% &) in
2004.

Mr. WANG was awarded several prizes and titles, including the
National Advanced Worker in Quality Management of Township
Enterprise (2 B 4F$E (> £ & £ & 32 5L i# T {E#) awarded by the
Ministry of Agriculture of China (B £ 2£5) in 2000, the Fourth
National Township Entrepreneur Award (5 PO f& % B 45 $82 1
Z ) and National Advanced Worker in Technological Progress of
Township Enterprise of the Eighth Five-year Plan ([ /\F | & B 455E
ERIE L T EE ) awarded by the Ministry of Agriculture of
China in 2001. Mr. WANG Yong received secondary education in
the PRC. Mr. WANG Yong is the father of Mr. WANG Di, who was
a non-executive Director and the chairman of the Company until 14
February 2023.
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Mr. SUN Xinhu (&% E)

Mr. SUN Xinhu, aged 50, is a non-executive Director and the head
of the Business Development Department of the Group. Mr. SUN
joined the Group in 2003. He had over 4 years of experience in
an international fast food chain in China. Mr. SUN graduated with
a bachelor’s degree in food science from Shandong Polytechnic
University (L5 T 2 £63) in July 1997, and a master’s degree in
food science from Southern Yangtze University (TFAZ) in July
2004. Mr. SUN has been a director of Xiwang Foodstuffs since 2010
and the vice chairman of the board of Xiwang Foodstuffs since June
2014. Mr. SUN was the secretary of the board of Xiwang Foodstuffs
from 2010 to October 2013. Mr. SUN was appointed as a non-
executive director of Xiwang Special Steel since 2011 and was re-
designated as an executive director in April 2015. Mr. SUN has
been serving as vice general manager since he joined Xiwang Group
Company in March 2003 and has served as a director of Xiwang
Group Company since January 2013. Mr. SUN was appointed as
an executive Director of the Company in December 2008 and re-
designated as a non-executive Director on 5 July 2012. Mr. SUN
is @ member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Kai Hing (ZE# &)

Mr. WONG Kai Hing, aged 49, has been an independent non-
executive Director of the Company since February 2022. Mr. WONG
has over 20 years of work experience in finance and accounting
in various Hong Kong listed companies and over 10 years of work
experience in company secretarial matters of Hong Kong listed
companies. Mr. WONG was appointed as independent non-
executive director of Roma Green Finance Limited, a company
listed on Nasdag Stock Market (“Nasdaq”) (Nasdag: ROMA) on
December 29, 2023. Mr. WONG has been the company secretary,
an authorised representative and the process agent of Gome
Finance Technology Co., Ltd (stock code: 628) since 4 December
2023. Mr. WONG worked as the company secretary of E-star
Commercial Management Company Limited, a company listed
on Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6668) from
December 2019 to June 2022. He has been an independent
non-executive director of Grown Up Group Investment Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1842) since April 2021. Mr. WONG was an
independent non-executive director of Hon Corporation Limited
(stock Code: 8259) from January 2022 to May 2022 and of Tempus
Holdings Limited (in liquidation) (stock code: 6880) from 27
November 2019 to 11 July 2023. He worked as the chief financial
officer and company secretary for both the Company and Xiwang
Special Steel from November 2015 to October 2019. Mr. WONG
obtained a bachelor’s degree in Professional Accountancy and a
Master of Business Administration from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong. He has been a member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since 2000, and a chartered financial
analyst since 2003. Mr. WONG is a member of the Remuneration
Committee, and the chairman of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company.

Mr. WANG An (£ %)

Mr. WANG An, aged 78, is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. WANG has extensive experience
in agriculture and knowledge in economics. He graduated from
Beizhen Agricultural Professional College of Shandong Province*
(ILRAIERFEFZRER) in 1968. In 1971, he graduated from the
Professional Course in Economic Statistics from the Party School
of Liaoning Province* (EZEH ER KT BT FEZI) and was
promoted to Senior Professor. From 1968 to 1998, Mr. WANG
worked at Agricultural Bureau and Forestry Bureau of Zouping (8F
FEERBEMER) and was the secretary and deputy director of
the Government Office and director of Bureau of the Legislative
Affairs (& l/®), director of the Government Office, and communist
party member of the Government Office of Zouping, Shandong
Province, of the PRC. Before retirement in 2007, he was the
secretary of the Party’s Committee at the Luzhong Professional
School in Shandong Province, of the PRC* (1113 % & rh B 2 &2
Ft). Mr. WANG was appointed as an independent non-executive
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Director of the Company on 1 April 2013 and currently serves as
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee.

Mr. WANG Zhen (E #E)(resigned on 8 May 2023)

Mr. WANG Zhen, aged 39, was an independent non-executive
Director until 8 May 2023. Mr. WANG has over 6 years of
experience in the legal field. He graduated with a bachelor’s degree
from Weifang University* (445 2Fc) in 2009. After obtaining his
professional legal qualification in the PRC in 2009, Mr. WANG has
been serving as a professional lawyer of Shandong Lizhi Law Office*
(LR B ERRERFT) from 2010. Mr. WANG was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 23 March
2016.

Ms. LI Shaorui (Z#35)

Ms. LI Shaorui, aged 43, is an independent non-executive Director
of the Company. She has over 17 years of experience in the legal
field. She is currently a practicing solicitor of Shandong Xiangdu
Law Firm* (\UERFEREEMEFN in the PRC. Between 2006 and
2011, she served as a criminal court judicial clerk at the Yangxin
County People’s Court* (“#&f5 8 AR EBE”). She served in several
law firms in the PRC since 2011, focusing on corporate and
commercial dispute resolution practice and other non-contentious
practice. Ms. LI graduated from Shandong University of Political
Science and Law with a major in Law in 2003. Following her
legal studies, she obtained the Certificate of the National Judicial
Examination in the PRC in 2009. Ms. LI was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 6 July 2023 and currently
serves as a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company.

*  For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRERRE

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company recognises the value and importance of sound
corporate governance to ensuring shareholders’ confidence and
trust and enhancing the Group’s long-term business performance.
The Board is therefore firmly committed to maintaining high
standards of corporate governance through the adoption of robust
corporate governance practices and procedures in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules and industry best practice.
The Company has adopted the principles of good governance and
code provisions contained in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as
its own code of corporate governance. Save as disclosed herein,
the Board considers that the Company was in compliance with
all applicable code provisions set out in the CG Code throughout
the Year. The Board is committed to upholding the corporate
governance of the Company to ensure that formal and transparent
policies and procedures are in place to protect and maximize the
interests of the shareholders.

The Board is responsible for performing, inter alia, the following
duties with respect to its corporate governance function:

° to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

° to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

° to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosures in its corporate governance report.

During the Year, the Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance practices and the duties performed by the committees
of the Board. Detailed discussion of the major corporate
governance practices adopted and observed by the Company
during the Year or, where applicable, up to the date of this report, is
set out below.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

On 10 December 2021, the Stock Exchange published the
conclusions to its consultation on “Review of Corporate
Governance Code and Related Listing Rules” (the “Consultation
Conclusions”). Most of the amendments to the Listing Rules
and the CG Code pursuant to the Consultation Conclusions took
effect on 1 January 2022. Most of the new requirements under
the amended CG Code have been adopted by the Company as its
corporate governance practices for a number of years, even before
those amendments came into effect.

The Group’s culture

A healthy corporate culture across the Group is vital for the
Company to achieve its vision and mission towards sustainable
growth. The Company is of the view that it is the Board’s role to
uphold a corporate culture with three core principles integrity,
fairness and honesty to guide the conduct of its employees and
ensure that the Company’s vision, values and business strategies
are aligned to these core principles.

The Group is committed to inclusive practices in the way it employs,
develops and treats employees, underpinned by the corporate
values of fairness, integrity, innovation and transparency, with a
people-focused strategy to cultivate a safe and inclusive corporate
culture where employees can positively contribute to the sustained
growth of the Group.

The Group provides continuous training to its employees and also
potential employees in order to guide them in their future career
development in the real estate industry. In the past few years,
the Group has been diversifying its business. This has enabled
the Group’s employees to explore their career development in
industries other than property development. New employees from
other business sectors such as property management services also
contributed new ideas and concepts to the Group and the existing
employees.

The Group believes that a fair, diversified and inclusive workplace
is integral to the Group’s success and that a diverse workforce
with specialised, complementary skill sets, ideas and experiences
enriches the workplace and enhances business performance. With
a view to supporting the Group’s long-term business goals, the
Group strives to develop a diverse workforce and formulates an
inclusive working environment where all employees feel valued,
have opportunities to advance and are driven to succeed.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

RERAWRE (F)

Directors’ securities transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by the Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
own code for securities transactions by Directors. Having
made specific enquiries, each of the Directors confirmed that
he or she has complied with the Model Code during the Year
and up to the date of this report.

Board of Directors
()  Board composition

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors,
two non-executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. During the Year and up to the
date of this report, the Board consisted of the following
Directors:

Executive Directors:
Mr. WANG Jin Tao (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. WANG Wei Min

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. WANG Di (Chairman) (resigned on 14 February
2023)

Mr. WANG Yong (Chairman) (redesignated from Deputy
Chairman to Chairman on 14 February 2023)

Mr. SUN Xinhu

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. WONG Kai Hing

Mr. WANG An

Mr. WANG Zhen (resigned on 8 May 2023)

Ms. LI Shaorui (appointed on 6 July 2023)
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

During the Year, the Board was in compliance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors, representing at least one-third of the Board,
with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications and
accounting and related financial management expertise
(the “Qualification”), except during the period from
8 May 2023 (the date of the resignation of Mr. WANG
Zhen as independent non-executive Director) to 5 July
20283, before the appointment of Ms. LI Shaorui as
independent non-executive Director on 6 July 2023.

According to Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, the
Company is required to have at least three independent
non-executive Directors. According to Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules, the Company’s independent non-
executive Directors must represent at least one-
third of the Board. According to Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules, at least one of the independent non-
executive Directors of the Company must possess the
Qualification.

According to Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the Audit
Committee of the Company must comprise non-
executive Directors only and must comprise a minimum
of three members, at least one of whom must be an
independent non-executive Director who possesses the
Qualification. Rule 3.21 also provides that the majority
of the members of the Audit Committee must be
independent non-executive Directors and that the Audit
Committee must be chaired by an independent non-
excutive Director. According to Rule 3.27A of the Listing
Rules, the Nomination Committee of the Company
must comprise a majority of independent non-executive
Directors and must be chaired by the chairman of
the Board or an independent non-executive Director.
Further, pursuant to Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, the
Company’s Remuneration Committee must comprise
a majority of independent non-executive Directors and
must be chaired by an independent non-executive
Director.
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In accordance with code provision B.1.4, the Board
is committed to assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors annually and
ensuring that independent views and input are made
available to the Board.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 8 May 2023, immediately following the resignation
of Mr. WANG Zhen as an independent non-executive
Director, a member of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee:

(@) the Company only had two independent non-
executive Directors, such that the number of
independent non-executive Directors fell below
the minimum number required under Rule 3.10(1)
of the Listing Rules and below one-third of the
members of the Board required under Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules;

(b) the Audit Committee only had two members,
such that the number of members fell below the
minimum number required under Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules; and

(c) the Nomination Committee did not comprise a

majority of independent non-executive Directors as
required under Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

With the appointment of Ms. LI Shaorui as an
independent non-executive Director, a member of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee on 6 July 2023: (i) the Board comprises
three independent non-executive directors representing
at least one-third of the members of the Board, which
fulfils the requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A
of the Listing Rules; (i) the Audit Committee has three
members; and (i) the Nomination Committee comprises
a majority of independent non-executive Directors.
Save as disclosed hereinabove, the Company was
in compliance with the aforementioned provisions
of the Listing Rules relating to the composition and
chairmanship of the Board and the Board Committees
throughout the Year and up to the date of this report.

Code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code provides that
the chairman of the Board should invite the chairmen
of the Board committees to attend the annual general
meeting. In their absence, the chairman of the Board
should invite another member of the relevant Board
committee or failing this his/her duly appointed delegate
to attend. These persons should be available to answer
questions at the annual general meeting. Additionally,
code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code provides that the
Company should ensure the external auditor attends the
annual general meeting to answer questions relating to
the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content
of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and
auditor independence. Due to other work commitments,
the chairman of the Board and one member of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company did not attend the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 16 June 2023 (“2023 AGM").
In order to ensure effective communication with the
shareholders of the Company, other Board members
(including the executive Directors and chairmen of
the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee) attended the 2023 AGM to
answer relevant questions from the shareholders of
the Company present thereat. The external auditor of
the Company, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited,
as well as the Company’s legal advisors, Henry Yu &
Associates, also attended the 2023 AGM.
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(i) Appointment and re-elections of directors

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the company with a specified term
of 3 years. In accordance with the Bye-Laws of the
Company, the Board is authorised to appoint any
person as a Director of the Company either to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board or, subject to authorisation
by the members in general meeting, as an additional
member of the Board. According to the Bye-Laws of the
Company, new appointments to the Board are subject to
re-election by shareholders at the next following annual
general meeting. Moreover, one-third of the Directors of
the Board (or, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third if the number of directors is not a multiple of
three) shall retire from office by rotation and shall be
eligible for re-election by shareholders at the annual
general meeting. A retiring Director shall continue to
act as a Director throughout the meeting at which he
retires. The Board should ensure that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at least once every three
years. In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing
Rules, the Company has appointed three independent
non-executive Directors. The Board considers that
each of the independent non-executive Directors has
appropriate and sufficient industry or finance experience
and qualifications to carry out his or her duties so as to
protect the interests of shareholders of the Company
as a whole. One of the independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. WONG Kai Hing, has over 20 years of
experience in the accounting and finance fields and
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants a chartered financial analyst. The
Company has received the annual written confirmations
from each of Mr. WONG Kai Hing, Mr. WANG An and
Ms. LI Shaorui in respect of his or her independence
respectively pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Based on such confirmations, the Board considers
that each of the independent non-executive Directors
is independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Continuous appointment of independent non-executive
Directors who have served for more than nine years

Pursuant to code provision B.2.3, any further
appointment of independent non-executive Director who
has served for more than nine years should be subject to
a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders.

As at the date of this report, Mr. WANG An has served
as an independent non-executive Director for more than
nine years.

Notwithstanding that Mr. WANG An has served as an
independent non-executive Director for more than nine
years; (i) the Board has assessed and reviewed the
annual confirmations of independence based on the
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
confirmed that Mr. WANG An remains independent; (ii)
the Nomination Committee has assessed and is satisfied
of the independence of Mr. WANG An; and (jii) the Board
considers that Mr. WANG An remains independent
from the management of the Company and free from
any relationship which could materially interfere with
the exercise of his independent judgment. In view of
the aforesaid factors and taking into account the skills,
expertise, background, qualifications, experience and
knowledge of Mr. WANG An, the Board is of the view
that his further appointment as an independent non-
executive Director will continue to bring benefits to the
Group and would recommend Mr. WANG An for re-
election at the next annual general meeting.

A separate resolution to be approved by shareholders
will be proposed to appoint Mr. WANG An as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company at
the next annual general meeting of the Company.

Biographical details of Mr. WANG An are set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in
this report.
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(i)

Board Evaluation

The Board distributed self-evaluation questionnaire
to members of the Board during the Year to evaluate
the overall performance of the Board. The Chairman
examined the workings of the Board and its members
along with its effectiveness, the quality of its decision
making and strategy, and its relationship with the
executive management. Directors’ recommendations
have been analysed, discussed and prioritised.

The Board is generally satisfied with the current Board
composition. The Board comprised of members with
diversified background ranging from accountant, lawyer
to seasoned managers.

Currently, the Board comprises six male members
and one female member. The Nomination Committee
will continue to actively monitor and consider different
aspects of diversity in Board composition and
recommend further actions or plans to the Board as
appropriate.

In recent years, there has been increasing recognition of
the importance of considering environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) factors in risk management. ESG-
related risks have significant impact on a company’s
financial performance, reputation, and ability to operate.
Therefore, the Group’s risk management and internal
control processes take into account potential impact of
ESG factors on the Group’s operations, reputation and
financial performance.
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(iv)

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Roles and responsibilities of the Board and management

The Board, with the assistance from the senior
management, forms the core management team of the
Company. The Board takes the overall responsibility
for management of the Company, formulating the
business strategies and development plan of the
Company, decision making on important issues,
including but not limited to substantial mergers and
acquisitions and disposals, Directors’ appointments
and significant operational and financial matters, and
review and approval of annual and interim results of
the Company. The senior management is responsible
for supervising and executing the Board policies and
strategies including the provision of monthly updates of
the Group’s performance, position and prospects to the
Board, to enable the Board and each of the Directors
to deliver and discharge their duties under the Listing
Rules. Daily management, administration and operation
of the Company are delegated to the management
team of the Company. The Directors have timely and
full access to all relevant information of the Company
and may, upon making a request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses, for the purpose of discharging
their duties to the Company. The Company Secretary
(in consultation with the Company’s legal advisors
where necessary or appropriate) provides advice and
services to the Directors to ensure the Directors follow
all the Board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations. Company Secretary notifies the Directors of
rule amendments and updates in respect of corporate
governance practices to assist the Directors to fulfill their
responsibilities.

To avoid actual or potential conflict of interests and
to ensure they are able to devote sufficient time and
have the capacity to properly discharge their duties
and responsibilities to the Company, the Directors shall
disclose to the Company details of other positions held
by them at the time of appointment and thereafter upon
the occurrence of any change.

(V)
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v)

(vi)

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements for the Year, which
must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group, and ensure that they are prepared in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The financial statements of the Company
and the Group for the Year were prepared on a going
concern basis. The Audit Committee reviewed and
recommended the Board to adopt the audited accounts
for the Year. The Board is not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to any event or condition that may
undermine the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The statements of the external auditors of the
Company with regard to their reporting responsibilities
on the financial statements of the Company are set out
in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 82 to 90.

Relationship among members of the Board

Mr. WANG Di, the chairman and a non-executive
Director during the Year up to 14 February 2023, is
the son of Mr. WANG Yong, the deputy chairman
and a non-executive Director. Mr. WANG Yong was
redesignated from deputy chairman to chairman on 14
February 2023 following the resignation of Mr. WANG Di.
Saved as disclosed, there is no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship(s)) between any of the Directors or chief
executive officer of the Company. Each of Mr. WANG
Di, and Mr. SUN Xinhu, among others, has entered
into a voting agreement in respect of their shares held
in Xiwang Holdings dated 27 September 2011 and as
supplemented by a supplemental voting agreement
dated 7 February 2012. Under these agreements, each
of the shareholders of Xiwang Holdings shall only vote,
in the capacity of a shareholder of Xiwang Holdings, in
accordance with the instructions of Mr. WANG Yong at
any shareholders’ meeting of Xiwang Holdings.
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(vii)  Continuous professional development of directors

Induction seminars providing comprehensive guidance
on directors’ duties and liabilities are provided by the
Company to Directors upon appointment to the Board.
Senior management of the Company provides briefings
to all Directors for updates of their knowledge and skills
of the industry of the Company. The Company Secretary
(in consultation with the Company’s legal advisors
where necessary or appropriate) provides updates on
amendments to the Listing Rules and other statutory
requirements relating to Directors’ fulfillment of their
responsibilities and duties to the Company. During the
Year, the Company provided the Directors with written
materials on the updates of corporate governance
practices, in particular the requirements relating the
disclosure and approval requirements under the Code
on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs (the
“Takeover Code”). Each Director has confirmed he or
she has studied the materials provided by the Company.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. WANG Di was the chairman of the Company during the
Year up to 14 February 2023 and was, during that period,
principally responsible for formulation of plans and policies of
the Group. Mr. WANG Yong was redesignated from deputy
chairman to chairman on 14 February 2023. The chairman
also chairs the Board meetings and briefs the Board members
on the issues discussed at the Board meetings. The chief
executive officer of the Company throughout the Year and up
to date of this report is Mr. WANG Jin Tao, who is responsible
for the supervision for the execution of the plans and policies
determined by the Board.

Board Committees

Throughout the Year and up to the date of this report,
the Board has three Board Committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Save as disclosed in the section handed
“Board Composition” of this Corporate Governance Report,
independent non-executive Directors have comprised the
majority of members of these committees appointed by
the Board throughout the Year and up to the date of this
report. Written terms of reference of these committees
based on the CG Code have been approved and adopted
by the Board. Sufficient resources are provided to the Board
Committees for their discharge of their duties. They are able
to seek independent professional advice, at the Company’s
expense, upon reasonable request and under appropriate
circumstances.
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Audit Committee

In accordance with the written terms of reference
of the Audit Committee, the majority of members
of the Audit Committee shall be independent non-
executive Directors. At least one of them shall be an
independent non-executive Director with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under the
Listing Rules. A former partner of the external auditors
appointed by the Company from time to time may not
act as a member of the Audit Committee for a period of
at least two years from the date of the person ceasing
(a) to be a partner of the firm or (b) to have any financial
interest in the auditors’ firm, whichever is the later. As at
the date of this report, the members of Audit Committee
comprise Mr. WONG Kai Hing (chairman), Mr. WANG
An and Ms. LI Shaorui. The primary responsibilities of
the Audit Committee are to monitor the integrity of the
Group’s financial statements and reports and to review
significant financial reporting judgements contained
therein, to review the Company’s financial controls,
risk management and internal control system, to make
recommendations to the Board for the improvement
of the Group’s risk management and internal control
procedures and system and to make recommendations
to the Board for the appointment and removal of external
auditors. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
are available on the Company’s website and the website
of the Stock Exchange. Three meetings were held by
the Audit Committee during the Year. During the Year,
the Audit Committee reviewed the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems, as well as the
effectiveness of its internal audit function and financial
reporting system. The Audit Committee reviewed and
recommended the Board to adopt the audited accounts
and final results announcement for the year ended 31
December 2022 and the unaudited accounts and interim
results announcement for the six months ended 30
June 2023. The Audit Committee reviewed and made
recommendation to the Board for the re-appointment of
the Company’s external auditors and the audit plan of
the external auditors.
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(i) Remuneration Committee

In accordance with the written terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee, the majority of members
of the Remuneration Committee shall be independent
non-executive Directors, and the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee must be an independent
non-executive Director. The terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee are available on the
Company’s website and the website of the Stock
Exchange. As at the date of this report, the members of
the Remuneration Committee comprise Mr. WANG An
(chairman), Mr. WONG Kai Hing and Mr. SUN Xinhu. The
primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
are to make recommendations to the Board on the
policy and structure of the remuneration of all Directors
and senior management members of the Company,
to review and recommend to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management members, including benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments.

The Remuneration Committee also administers and
oversees the Company’s share option scheme from time
to time, and reviews and approves the granting of share
options to any members of staff of the Group.

Remuneration Policy

— The Board has taken into consideration a number
of relevant factors when considering remuneration
adjustments and annual bonuses, such as making
reference to the prevailing market conditions,
local market practice, salaries paid by comparable
companies, the levels of emolument of existing
staff of the Company, job responsibilities, duties
and scope, performance of individuals and the
market demand for their skills. The Board seeks
to strike a balance and provide appropriate and
proportionate remuneration to members of the
Board and the senior management having regard
to all the above-mentioned factors.
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— The share option scheme of the Company is
maintained for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group
SO as to encourage them to participate in the long
term development of the Group.

— No individuals employee (including a Director) or
his or her associates should participate in deciding
his or her own remuneration.

—  Each Director signs an employment contract or
appointment letter with specific terms such as
director’s fee and length of employment upon
joining the Board. The employment contract or
appointment letter will be reviewed and approved
by the Remuneration Committee.

In accordance with recommended best practice E.1.9
contained in the CG Code, the Company has a long-
established practice of a benchmarked approach in
determining an independent non-executive Director’s
fees and remuneration, which does not involve equity
based remuneration with performance-related elements.
The level of fees payable to independent non-executive
Directors is also subject to shareholders’ approval.

Two meetings were held by the Remuneration Committee
during the Year. During the Year, Remuneration Committee
reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of
Directors.

The remuneration of the Directors and key management
personnel are set out in notes 9, 10 and 29 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.
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(iii)  Nomination Committee

In accordance with the written terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee, the majority of members
of the Nomination Committee shall be independent
non-executive Directors, and the chairman of the
Nomination Committee must be the chairman of the
Board or an independent non-executive Director. The
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the Company’s website and the website
of the Stock Exchange. As at the date of this report,
the members of the Nomination Committee comprise
Mr. WONG Kai Hing (chairman), Ms. LI Shaorui and
Mr. SUN Xinhu. The primary responsibilities of the
Nomination Committee are to review the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board
at least annually and to make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy, to identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and to
select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship, and
to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors. Pursuant to the nomination policy,
the Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable
candidates to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to shareholders for election or re-
election of Directors at general meetings or appointment
of Directors to fill casual vacancies. The Nomination
Committee may, as it considers appropriate, nominate
a number of candidates more than the number of
Directors to be appointed or re-appointed at a general
meeting, or the number of casual vacancies to be
filled. The factors listed below would be used as
reference by the Nomination Committee in assessing
the suitability of a proposed candidate: (i) reputation
for integrity; (i) accomplishment and experience in
the property industry; (ii) commitment in respect of
available time and relevant interest; and (iv) diversity in
all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18
years or above), cultural and educational background,
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ethnicity, qualifications, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, independence and length of service. These
factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive or decisive. The Nomination Committee has
the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers
appropriate, in accordance with the requirements of and
subject to any restrictions in the Listing Rules. Retiring
Directors are eligible for nomination by the Nomination
Committee and recommendation by the Board to stand
for re-election at a general meeting. The secretary
of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of
the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations
of candidates from Board members if any, for
consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to its
meeting. The Nomination Committee may also identify
candidates pursuant to the criteria set out above and
put forward candidates who are not nominated by Board
members. The Nomination Committee may use any
process it deems appropriate to evaluate the candidates
pursuant to the criteria set out above, which may include
personal interviews, background checks, presentations
or written submissions by the candidates and third party
references. For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination
Committee shall make recommendations for the Board’s
consideration, approval and appointment. Any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first annual general meeting after his or
her appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting. For proposing candidates to stand for election
or re-election at a general meeting, the Nomination
Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its
consideration and recommendation to the shareholders.
In case of election or re-election at a general meeting,
until the issue of the circular to shareholders, the
nominated persons shall not assume that they have
been proposed by the Board to stand for election at
the general meeting. In order to provide information of
the candidates nominated by the Board to stand for
election or re-election at a general meeting, and to invite
nominations from shareholders, a circular will be sent to
shareholders. The names, brief biographies (including
qualifications and relevant experience), independence,
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proposed remuneration and any other information, as
required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and
regulations, of the proposed candidates will be included
in the circular to shareholders. A shareholder can serve
a notice to the Company Secretary within the lodgement
period of its intention to propose a resolution to elect
certain person(s) as a Director, without the Board’s
recommendation or the Nomination Committee’s
nomination, other than those candidates set out in the
shareholder circular. The particulars of the candidates so
proposed will be sent to all shareholders for information
by a supplementary circular. A candidate is allowed
to withdraw his or her candidature at any time before
the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to
the Company Secretary. The Board shall have the final
decision on all matters relating to its recommendation of
candidates to stand for election at any general meeting.
Unless required by applicable law or the request of any
regulatory authority of competent jurisdiction, under
no circumstances shall a member of the Nomination
Committee or a staff member of the Company disclose
any information to or entertain any enquiries from the
public with regard to any nomination or candidature
before the circular to shareholders is issued. Following
the issue of the circular, the Nomination Committee or
Company Secretary or other staff member approved by
the Nomination Committee may answer enquiries from
the regulatory authorities or the public but confidential
information regarding nominations and candidates
should not be disclosed except to the extent required by
applicable law or the request of any regulatory authority
of competent jurisdiction.
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The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out its approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board, which is
summarised as follows: the Board has set objectives
(including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) to
implement the Board Diversity Policy and review such
objects from time to time to ensure their appropriateness
and ascertain the progress made towards achieving
those objectives. The ultimate decision as to the
appointment of any person to the Board will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidate will
bring to the Board. The Board has aimed to increase the
proportion of female members over time when selecting
and making recommendation on suitable candidates
for Board appointments. On 6 July 2023, the Board
appointed Ms. LI Shaorui as an independent non-
executive Director. Since then, the Board is comprised
of both male and female members. The Board would
ensure that appropriate balance of gender diversity is
achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation
and international and local recommended best practices
from time to time. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for monitoring the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy and reviewing the same as
appropriate. In designing the Board’s composition,
board diversity has been considered and the Board
should have a balance of skills, experience and
knowledge in the industry and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company’s business. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board. The Nomination Committee, having reviewed
the Board’s composition, nominated Mr. WANG Yong,
Mr. SUN Xinhu and Mr. WANG An to the Board for it
to recommend to the shareholders for re-election at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 16
June 2028. The nominations were made in accordance
with the nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
of the Company, having taken into account the
diversity aspects (including but not limited to gender,
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age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service), and the benefits of diversity, as set out under
the Board Diversity Policy. Three meetings were held
by the Nomination Committee during the Year. The
Nomination Committee performed annual review of the
structure of the Board, recommended the redesignation
of Mr. WANG Yong from deputy chairman to chairman,
recommended the appointment of Ms. LI Shaorui as an
independent non-executive Director and recommended
the nomination of Directors for re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 16 June 2023.

During the Year, the Board appointed one female
member. At present, the Board considers its diversity of
gender to be appropriate. The Company will ensure that
gender diversity is taken into account when recruiting
staff of mid to senior level and ensure that sufficient
resources are available for providing appropriate
trainings and career development to develop a pipeline
of potential successors to the Board and maintain
gender diversity in the future.

At 31 December 2023, as set out in the section headed
“A. Employee” in the ESG report, among 20 employees
(including senior management) of the Group, the
percentages of male employees and female employees
were 45% to 55% respectively. The Board considers
that the gender composition of the Group’s workforce
(including senior management) to be ideal.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed (i) the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy and the Nomination Policy and considered in
accordance with code provision B.1.3. that they remain
effective and appropriate for the Company; and (i) the
succession planning of the Board.

In accordance with Rule 3,27A of the Listing Rules, the
Company’s Nomination Committee, which comprises
a majority of independent non-executive Directors, has
been chaired by an independent non-executive Director
throughout the Year and up to the date of this report.
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(iv) Attendance record of the Board, and Board committee vy EFGREFSZESEZUR
meetings and general meetings IR & 191 /E o 87
The details of Directors’ attendance of the Board and %%i$f;f{riﬁﬁ'ﬂ§$@§
Board committee meetings as well as general meetings ESSZERRRURBRRAS

B ERCERRE ST

held during the Year are set out in the following table:

No. of meetings attended/no. of meetings eligible to attend
BERERRY RERLEERNY

Audit  Remuneration Nomination

Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Ezg EREEE FMzES REZEE
23 23 23 23 RRAE
Executive Directors:
HITES !
WANG Jin Tao 12/12 N/A N/A N/A 11
(Chief Executive Officer)
FEE(TTHEH) NEA NEA NEM
WANG Wei Min 12/12 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
FER A A N
Non-executive Directors:
FHTES:
WANG Di (Former Chairman) (note i) 11 N/A N/A N/A N/A
FRFIEEE) (M) NEA NEH NEA NEm
WANG Yong (Chairman) 12/12 N/A N/A N/A 0/1
(note i)
TE(E) (K TER TER TER
SUN Xinhu 12/12 N/A 2/2 3/3 0/1
BR NEA
Independent Non-executive
Directors:
BIFHTES:
WANG An 12/12 3/3 2/2 N/A 1/1
EE N
WONG Kai Hing 12/12 3/3 2/2 3/3 1/1
HEH
WANG Zhen (note iv) 4/4 1/1 N/A N/A N/A
TR (Kfativ) NEA NEH NEA
LI Shaorui (note iii) 6/6 2/2 N/A 2/2 N/A
FERE (i) NEA NEA
Besides the above Board meetings, the Chairman of BREfiEEeeRN  BELEE
the Board, Mr WANG Yong held one meeting with the EIRTRISFRIGXXEC2.71% -
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive %$§%FE% 5:2% b’/\\}'ffﬁfﬁ
Directors without the presence of other Directors during i%i@;§$&§@£ﬁﬁﬂ§§$
the Year in accordance with code provision C.2.7 of the ;; ? B MIERAMESE
CG Code. e
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Note:
i Mr. WANG Di resigned on 14 February 2023.

ii. Mr. WANG Yong was redesignated from Deputy Chairman to
Chairman on 14 February 2023

iii Ms. LI Shaorui was appointed as independent non-executive
Director on 6 July 2023.

iv Mr. WANG Zhen resigned on 8 May 2023.

Auditors’ Remuneration

A breakdown of the remuneration of the Group’s external
auditor, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, for the year

i F ik A N2023F2 814 B Bt
£ o

i FE R ER2023F2 5148 M El
IRBPEAETE -

i, BT R2023F7 A6H#E
ZERBULIENITES °

iv. F AL AER20234F5 A8HBHT -

BBETE &

ANEBER2023F12 A31 A ILFE X7
FONEZ BB E M EBATAR

ended 31 December 2023, is as follows: NEMFMATT -
(RMB’000)
(AREETIT)
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited B TMEBMERA A
Annual audit services F 'R 585

The Audit Committee reflected their views to the Board that
the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditor was reasonable and fair in all circumstances and there
had been no major disagreement between the external auditor
and the management of the Company during the Year.

Xiwang Property Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2023

BERZEQEREZERT ERR
B/ ENARRRIMNEZBED 2 B &
EHBRAFEE - MAFEARINEZ
BEEARFREREELBEERBRD
I °



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Internal Control
Risk Management and Internal Control

Maintaining sound risk management and internal control
systems are pivotal to the fulfillment of the Group’s business
objectives and its long-term sustainable growth. The Board
acknowledges its overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks the Group is
willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives,
and ensuring that the Company establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems to safeguard shareholders’ investment and
the Group’s assets. To this end, the Board continuously
reviews and makes improvements in its risk management
and internal control framework. During the Year, the Group
had its own internal audit department which conducted a
comprehensive review of the Group’s risk management
system, resulting in an enhanced enterprise risk management
(“ERM”) framework through a robust and inclusive system
that manages risks at all levels of the Group. During the
Year, the Board, through the Audit Committee, also reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, covering operational, financial and
compliance controls of the Group.

Risk Management Framework

The Group’s risk management system is aligned with the
internationally recognised internal control standards, adopting
a framework consisting of five elements, namely, the (i)
control environment, (i) risk assessment, (iii) control activities,
(vi) information and communication, and (v) monitoring. The
risk management and internal control systems of the Group
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives of the Group and provide
reasonable, but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. These systems consist of two essential
features, namely the risk governance structure and the risk
management process.
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Risk Governance Structure — The Group’s risk governance
structure is based on the “3 lines of defence” model, which
comprises day-to-day operational management and control,
risk and compliance oversight, and independent assurance.
The ERM policy formalised by the Group clearly defines
roles and responsibilities of each of the multiple layers of
the structure, including the Board, the Audit Committee,
senior management, department heads, operational level and
internal audit function.

Risk Management Process — The Group’s ERM approach
is a structured mechanism and a continuous process of

identifying, evaluating, prioritising, managing and monitoring
the risks that the Group faces. The key process of the Group’s

ERM is illustrated below:

6 Annual Review
FZ [0
Conduct annual review on
the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems
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1 Risk Identification
[\ B =8 )

Identify potential risks of
key processes at least annually
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5 Risk Reporting
[\ Bk 3R
Submit risk monitoring and

management information
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4 Risk Monitoring
[ B BE 42
Define risk indicators and set acceptable

indicator levels for monitoring the
significant risks identified
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2 Risk Assessment
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Evaluate and prioritise
the risks at least annually
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3 Risk Response
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Formulate risk mitigation plan for the
significant risks identified
S+ 34 P 588 51 ) 28 K /B ik 6l S
2\ B 7% i T )

Annual Report 2023



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The ERM approach adopted by the Group is embedded in
the Group’s strategy development, business planning and
day-to-day operations. The Group adopts a control and risk
self-assessment methodology and continuously assesses
and manages its risk profile on a regular basis. Risks that
are relevant to the Group’s business are identified, assessed
and ranked according to their likelihood, financial and other
consequences and reputational impact on the Group. The
ERM system uses risk indicators and red flags to monitor the
key risks identified. Risk owners (i.e. persons responsible and
accountable for ensuring effective mitigation of the relevant
risks) are required to submit risk alerts with risk mitigation plan
promptly and regular risk reports are presented to the senior
management and Audit Committee for ongoing review and
monitoring. The key risks identified, managed and monitored
during the Year include sales and taxation processes. Action
plans were formulated and implemented during the Year to
address the areas of concern effectively.

The Group’s internal audit department conducts risk
management and internal control reviews covering operational,
financial and compliance controls of the Group. The Group’s
internal audit function reports directly to the Audit Committee.
It carries out independent reviews of key business processes
and controls in accordance with its annual audit plan approved
by the Audit Committee. The head of internal audit has regular
meetings with the Audit Committee to report the key findings
and recommendations for improvement of audit issues. The
Audit Committee and the Board were not aware of any areas
of concern that would have a material impact on the financial
position or results of operations of the Group during the Year
and considered the risk management and internal control
systems to be effective and adequate.

TEERHRE (F)

AEEFRBHNEERERE R ARE
RAKERREER - ZHE8RA
FEET ARERBEHLERB
BAETRYL E AR AN REER
2R - AAAKREEKNRAR IR
EHAREMNE - MHREMERREAR
SENBEZEETHA - FERD
Ao bERBREERSGEMARARER
RAEEZED SR EZER - Bk
FIEABIA ERARAREEBRBER
MEEA) BAZERR® A R R &R
AEMERESYIREEHARBRE
EERERERERZBSETRE
BEEMEE  RAFEERHA - B8
WEEN T ZRERBIEHE LRRR
12 o TTHRIBINAFEHE REE N
BRI A,

AEBERAREZIFETRRE R
MRAMEREZ  PRAKEES
MBRAREH - AERENABEZ
BEEERREZZEE@WRE - ERE
BERZEeMAENFREESEEE
EEBREMEVNERBLER - N
MEZABEACTHEERZE QR
CRUMETEERERRBCERZ
EENREZ BERZEEREFSY
N FNZE AN G J2 (] AT BE 3 AN 5% B 0 B
BRRKREXBELEATEZE
H UREAEBREERANBEZERR
BREFR -

FEBLERARARF 2023F®R 53



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

i

54

S fa 3
B /A

= (&)

Inside Information

The Company takes seriously its obligations under Part XIVA
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules with
respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling
and disclosure of inside information. The Group has a
disclosure policy which sets out guidelines and procedures
for the Directors and officers of the Group to ensure inside
information of the Group is to be disclosed to the public in
a timely and fair manner (the “Disclosure Policy”). Under
the Disclosure Policy, the Company’s executive Directors
and members of senior management have the authority to
evaluate and determine whether any particular information
may constitute inside information and require disclosure and
refer the subject matter to the Board for decision. Measures
have been put in place to preserve the confidentiality of
inside information and to ensure that its recipients recognise
their obligations to maintain it confidential unless and until
publicly disclosed. In communicating with external parties,
only designated officers are authorised to respond to enquiries
in designated areas. Briefing sessions are held regularly for
officers to facilitate their understanding and compliance with
the Disclosure Policy.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary, Ms. FUNG Nga Fong (“Ms. FUNG”),
is a full-time employee of the Company and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary
provides advice and services to the Board to ensure that the
Board follows all the Company’s Board procedures and all
applicable rules and regulations. The Company Secretary
notifies the Board of rule amendments and updates in respect
of corporate governance practices and assists the Directors
in fulfilling their responsibilities. Ms. FUNG has confirmed that
she attended sufficient relevant professional training during
the Year as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

The Company has taken out liability insurance to indemnify
its Directors and senior management for their liabilities arising
from the performance of their duties. The insurance coverage
is reviewed by the Company on an annual basis. No claim was
made against any of the Directors and members of the senior
management of the Company during the Year.

Dividend Policy

The Company does not have any predetermined dividend
payout ratio. Declaration and recommendation of payment of
dividends of the Company is subject to the approval of the
Board, depending on results of operations, working capital,
financial position, future prospects, and capital requirements,
as well as any other factors which the Board may consider
relevant from time to time. Shareholders will be entitled to
receive dividends apportioned and paid pro rata according to
the amounts paid up on the shares. Any future declaration,
recommendation and payment of dividends of the Company
may or may not reflect or follow the historical declarations and
payments of dividends and will be at the absolute discretion of
the Board of the Company.

The declaration and payment of dividends is also subject to
any restrictions under the laws of Bermuda, the Memorandum
of Association, Bye-Laws of the Company and any other
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company did not declare any dividend in the three years
immediately preceding the Year.
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Shareholders’ Rights and Investor Relations

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Companies
Act”) and the Bye-Laws of the Company, dividends may
be paid out of contributed surplus (as ascertained in
accordance with the Companies Act). No dividend shall be
paid or distribution made out of contributed surplus if to do
so would render the Company unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due or the realisable value of its assets would
thereby become less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital and share premium accounts.
However, no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended
by the Board of the Company. It is the Company’s policy
to maintain transparency and provide information of the
Group’s material developments to shareholders and investors
in a timely manner. General meetings of the Company are
formal channels for communication between shareholders
and the Board. The chairman of the Board and the Board
committees are invited to attend the general meetings to
have direct communication with the shareholders. External
auditor of the Company should also attend annual general
meetings to answer shareholders’ enquiries. Under the
Company’s Bye-Laws, the Companies Act and applicable
legislations and regulations, shareholders holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition sent to the Company’s registered
office at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM11
Bermuda and its principal place of business in Hong Kong at
Unit 2110, 21/F, Harbour Centre, 25 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, for the attention of the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require a special general meeting (“SGM”) to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. The
written requisition must state the purpose(s) of the SGM,
signed by the shareholder(s) concerned and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of
those shareholders. If the requisition is in order, the Company
Secretary will ask the Board to convene a SGM by serving
sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory requirements
to all the registered shareholders. On the contrary, if the
requisition is invalid, the shareholders concerned will be
advised of the same and, accordingly, a SGM will not be
convened as requested. The notice period to be given to all
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the registered shareholders for consideration of the proposal
raised by the shareholder(s) concerned at a SGM varies
according to the nature of the proposal, as follows: (i) at least
twenty-one (21) clear days’ and not less than ten (10) clear
business days’ notice in writing if the proposal constitutes a
special resolution of the Company, which cannot be amended
other than a mere clerical amendment to correct a patent
error; and (i) at least fourteen (14) clear days’ and not less
than ten (10) clear business days’ notice in writing if the
proposal constitutes an ordinary resolution of the Company.
Shareholders who have enquiries about the above procedures
or have enquiries to put to the Board or have suggestions on
the Company’s business may write to the Company Secretary
at Unit 2110, 21/F, Harbour Centre, 25 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Board and senior management of
the Company will seriously consider shareholders’ enquiries
and address them accordingly and in compliance with the
Listing Rules. During the Year, no shareholder’s written
enquiry was received. Shareholders and investors may also
visit the Company’s website at www.xiwangproperty.com
and the Stock Exchange’s website for the Company’s
announcements, circulars, financial information, corporate
governance practices, annual reports, interim reports
and other corporate information and updates of business
development and operations. The Company will continuously
review its communication channels with its shareholders.

During the Year, an annual general meeting was held on 16
June 20283, which all the Directors except Mr. WANG Yong
and Mr. SUN Xinhu attended either in person or by means
of electronic facilities to communicate with the shareholders
of the Company. Notices and circulars related to the annual
general meeting had been despatched to the shareholders
properly and in a timely manner. In addition, all corporate
communications and regulatory announcements were
published by the Company on its website and the website of
the Stock Exchange in a timely manner. The Board considers
that its shareholders communication policy was effective
during the Year.
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Business Model and Strategy

The Group generates revenue from selling properties,
provision of property management services and trading
construction materials in the PRC. The Group will maintain
flexible strategies in business development and prudent risk
and capital management in order to achieve sustainable long-
term profitability and asset growth which will in turn maximise
shareholders’ interests. The Group aims at maintaining its
gearing at reasonable level and good banking relationships
which enable the Group to obtain the funding for business
needs and investments when opportunities arise. The Group
is optimistic about the long-term economic potentials of the
real estate market in PRC, and will focus on the development
of residential projects in Shandong Province whilst monitoring
development potential in other areas in the PRC from time to
time to explore new markets.

Change in Director's Information

Mr. WONG Kai Hing, an independent non-executive Director,
resigned as an independent non-executive director of Tempus
Holdings Limited (In liquidation) (Stock Code: 6880) on 11 July
2023. Mr. WONG was appointed as the company secretary,
authorised representative and process agent of Gome Finance
Technology Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 628) on 4 December 2023.

Mr. WONG was appointed as independent non-executive
director of Roma Green Finance Limited, a company listed on
Nasdaqg (Nasdag: ROMA) on 29 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of any
other information which is required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

For and on behalf of the Board

WANG Jin Tao
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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The Board is pleased to present this Directors’ report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”).

Principal Activities

The Group is principally involved in property development, provision
of property management services and trading of construction
materials in the PRC.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for
both ordinary shares and convertible preference shares in respect
of the Year (2022: nil). Payment of the preferred annual distribution
of RMBO0.01 per convertible preference share will be deferred as at
31 December 2023.

There has been no arrangement under which any shareholder has
waived or agreed to waive any dividend during the Year.

Business Review

Business review of the Company and a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance during the Year, the material factors
underlying its results and financial position, and a discussion of the
Group’s future business development as presently anticipated or
intended are set out on pages 15 to 21 of this report. An analysis
of Group’s performance during the Year using financial key
performance indicators is provided on pages 15 to 20 of this report.
These discussions form part of this Directors’ report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

A number of factors may affect the financial results and business
operations of the Group, some of which are inherent to property
development business and some arise from extrinsic sources. Major

risks identified are:

- Change of government policies and unexpected impact
(include national and local policies);

- fluctuations in global and national economic conditions; and

= long-term management of cash flows.
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Environmental Protection

The Group puts great emphasis on cultivating and enhancing
employees’ awareness of cherishing resources and utilising
resources with high efficiency to avoid wastage, and proactively
promotes environmental protection as part of its corporate culture.
The Group urges and encourages its supervisory employees on
duty to save energy, paper and other resources at work. The
ultimate goal is to save resources and costs and protect the
environment.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company itself is a holding
company listed on the Stock Exchange. The Group’s establishment
and operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong. During the Year and up to
the date of this report, the Group has complied with all the relevant
laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

Relationship with Employees, Customers and Suppliers

The Group promotes a people-oriented management culture and
emphasizes the value of employees as it believed employees are
important resources for enhancing the Company’s productivity
and core competitiveness. The Group recognises that providing
employees with competitive remunerations and opportunities to
receive skill trainings is instrumental to the realisation of employees’
individual values as well as the Group’s strategic goals.

The Group seeks to maintain good cooperation and communications
with upstream builders and material suppliers, and ensure both
sides benefit mutually from the relationship in the interest of smooth
long-term cooperation, thereby ensuring stable supply streams and
minimising risks of disruption to the Group’s business operations.

The Group also pays close attention to customer satisfaction,
carefully listening to opinions of property owners, purchasers and
other customers and constantly enhancing service quality in order
to maintain good reputation of the Group and to grow its customer
base.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
Year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 193.

Share Option Scheme

On 6 November 2005, the Company adopted a share option
Scheme (the “2005 Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution passed at
a shareholders’ meeting held on the aforementioned date, for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s business. The 2005
Scheme was effective for a term of ten years and expired on 5
November 2015. As at the date of this report, there are no share
options granted under the 2005 Scheme which remain outstanding.
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The principal terms of the 2005 Scheme are summarised as follows:
The maximum number of ordinary shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the 2005 Scheme and any other schemes of the Group must not
exceed 80,000,000 ordinary shares, being 10% of ordinary shares
in issue on the date of listing of the ordinary shares on the Stock
Exchange and approximately 5.68% of ordinary shares in issue
and listed on the Stock Exchange as at the date of this report, and
which must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the ordinary shares in
issue from time to time. The maximum number of ordinary shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to
any eligible person (including exercised and outstanding options)
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued ordinary
shares from time to time. The subscription price for the ordinary
shares under the 2005 Scheme shall be such price as the Board
may in its absolute discretion determine at the time of grant of the
option but the subscription price shall not be less than the highest
of: (i) the closing price of an ordinary share in the share capital of
the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of the Board approving the grant of an option,
which must be a business day; (i) the average closing price of an
ordinary share in the share capital of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of
an ordinary share in the share capital of the Company. An option
may be exercised in whole or in part in accordance with the terms
of the 2005 Scheme at any time during the period commencing
immediately after the business day on which the option is deemed
to be granted and accepted in accordance with the Scheme (the
“2005 Option Commencement Date”) and expiring on such
date of the expiry of the option as the Board may in its absolute
discretion determine and which shall not exceed ten years from the
2005 Option Commencement Date but subject to the provisions
for early termination thereof as set out in the 2005 Scheme. Upon
acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the
Company as consideration for the grant. The 2005 Scheme became
effective on 6 November 2005 and expired on 5 November 2015.
The share options granted under the 2005 Scheme prior to its
termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance
with the 2005 Scheme.
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In view of the expiry of the 2005 Scheme, the Company adopted
a share option scheme pursuant to a resolution passed at a
shareholders’ meeting held on 10 May 2018 (the “2018 Scheme”),
as incentives or rewards for eligible participants’ contribution
to the Group. Participants of the 2018 Scheme include: (i) any
employee or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-time
and including any executive Director), consultants or advisers of
or to the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested
Entity”) in which the Group holds an equity interest; (i) any non-
executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (i)
any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; (iv) any customer of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (v) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any Invested
Entity; and (vi) any shareholder of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity. The 2018 Scheme
became effective on 10 May 2018 and, unless otherwise cancelled
or earlier terminated, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date. The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise of
all outstanding options which may be granted under the 2005
Scheme, the 2018 Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group shall not (unless approval of the Company’s shareholders
at a general meeting has been obtained) exceed 140,877,331
ordinary shares in aggregate, representing approximately 10.00%
of ordinary shares in issue and listed on the Stock Exchange as
at the date of this report, and shall not in aggregate exceed 30%
of the ordinary shares in issue from time to time (or such higher
percentage as may be permitted under the Listing Rules). The
maximum number of ordinary shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to any eligible person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not (unless approval of the Company’s shareholders
at a general meeting has been obtained) exceed 1% of the issued
ordinary shares from time to time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval
in a general meeting (with such participant and his associates
abstaining from voting). The offer of a grant of share options may
be accepted within 28 days from the date of offer, upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1.00 in total by the grantee. The
exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by
the Directors. The exercise price of share options is determined
by the Directors, but may not be less than the highest of: (i) the
Stock Exchange closing price of an ordinary share in the share
capital of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share
options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of an ordinary
share in the share capital of the Company for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer, and (iii) the nominal value
of an ordinary share in the share capital of the Company. Share
options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings. As at the date of this report, no
share options have been granted under the 2018 Scheme since its
adoption.
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The maximum number of ordinary shares available for grant
under the 2018 Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) is
140,877,331 shares (at the beginning of the Year: 134,477,331
shares) which represents 10.00% (at the beginning of the Year:
9.55%) of the total number of ordinary shares of the Company in

issue at the end of the Year.

As at 31 December 2023, no option was outstanding. Details of
options which were outstanding, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
during the Year, including the fair value of the option at the date of
grant and the accounting policy adopted are set out in notes 2 and
26 to the consolidated financial statements and below:

2018 F 5T 8l K fF ] HAth B AR #E 5T 21 1E T ]
BHTHE@EKRRANEE 5140,877,331 i A%
D ORNER - 134,477,331 IR ) - (AR E
RARB B BEITEBRBEMN10.00% (RF
] :9.55%) °

R2023F12 A31H @ BIEBIKEHKIT
- BEFREAITE - BT - sk
EAMMEREFE(SEERENRDH
HEO AR EBERTRMANESTER) SRS
BB HRMF2 26 T ¢

Outstanding Qutstanding Exercise
asat asat price per
Class of Date of 1 January 31 December Share Vesting Exercise
grantee grant During the year ended 31 December 2023 2023 2023 (HKS) ~Period period
R0 R0
1818 1231R ShirkE
ARAER il HENNEIANRLEE HATE HAfTE (B7) BEH e
Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed
Rt ik b ] 5
Directors
£z
WANG Di 5 November 2013 - - - (3,000,000 3,000,000 - 1112 5November 2013-  (Note 2, 3,4)
4 November 2023
1% 2013511458 DIEIRSA-  (h234)
2003611 A4R
SUN Xinhu 5 November 2013 - - - (3,000,000 3,000,000 - 1112 5 November 2013 - (Note 2, 3)
4 November 2023
Tl 201351158 2013%F11R58 - (Hit2-9)
20035 11R4R
Employees (Note 1) 5 November 2013 - - - (400,000 400,000 - 1112 5 November 2013 - (Note 2, 3)
4 November 2023
£&(0i11) 2013511758 013511 35A - (Hi#2:3)
2003%11A4H

= = - (6400,000 6,400,000
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Btet -
Employees include employees of the Group (other than the Directors) 1. EEBIERBEEASEEITINEREHITED
working under employment contracts with the Group which are regarded REBEB(EEHRIN)  ZZEEHRBEHED
as “continuous contracts” for the purpose of the Employment Ordinance FEE7TERFBIRDIM S WARE [FEEH] -
(Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
The closing price of the ordinary shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s 2. REBBEIMEARERNR  TERREER
daily quotations sheet on 4 November 2013, being the trading day H BB B AT 5 H2013F 11 B4B I
immediately preceding the date of grant of options, was HKD1.10 per MEASR1.10ETT °
share.
The validity period of the options was from 5 November 2013 to 5 3. B AER B HIB2013F 11 A5 E20234F
November 2023. The options could only be exercised by the grantees in 11A5H LE o RIEABIRAT I TEMEARE -
the following manner:
Maximum cumulative
number of ordinary
shares under the options
that can be subscribed
for pursuant to
Commencing from the exercise of the options
HITHEBRET A RE
BREIEZ
BT A ERR IR ZERESRTHE
5 November 2014 2,100,000
2014411 A5H
5 November 2015 2,100,000
2015411 A58
5 November 2016 2,200,000
2016411 A5H
Mr. WANG Di resigned as a non-executive Director on 14 February 2023 4. FEREERMEALERZHENR2023F2H 148

due to personal work arrangement.

ity-linked Agreements

Other than the share option schemes as disclosed above, no
equity-linked agreements (as defined in the Companies (Directors’

Repo

rt) Regulation (Chapter 622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)),

including any agreement for the issue or grant of any options,
warrants, convertible securities or other similar rights in respect of
the shares of the Company were entered into by the Company, or,
to the best of the knowledge of the Directors, otherwise existed,
during the Year.
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Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Memorandum of Association, Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda,
being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata
basis to existing shareholders prior to offering any shares to any
person.

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to
the shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed
Securities of the Company

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the
Year.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the
Year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements
and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

As the 31 December 2023, the reserves available for distribution to
shareholders of the Company was RMB190,017,000 (31 December
2022: RMB194,774,000).

Major Customers and Suppliers

For the Year, purchases from the largest supplier of the Group
accounted for approximately 92.9% (2022: 98.4%) of the Group’s
total purchase and purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 95.4% (2022: 100%) of the
Group’s total purchase. For the Year, the Group’s largest customer
accounted for approximately 43.9% (2022: 48.3%) of the Group’s
total revenue and the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 86.9% (2022: 98.2%) of the Group’s total revenue.
None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
shareholders of the Company (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interests in the Group’s five largest
suppliers and five largest customers of the Group during the Year.
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Directors and Directors’ Service Contracts
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. WANG Jin Tao (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. WANG Wei Min

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. WANG Di (Chairman) (resigned on 14 February 2023)

Mr. WANG Yong (Chairman) (redesignated from Deputy Chairman
to Chairman on 14 February 2023)

Mr. SUN Xinhu

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. WONG Kai Hing

Mr. WANG An

Mr. WANG Zhen (resigned on 8 May 2023)
Ms. LI Shaorui (appointed on 6 July 2023)

Pursuant to Bye-Law 86(2) and 87(1) of the Bye-Laws of the
Company and code provisions B.2.2 and B.2.3 of the CG Code,
each of Mr. WANG Jin Tao, Ms. LI Shaorui and Mr. WANG An
shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, will offer himself or herself for re-election. None
of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation. The Company has received from each of the
independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considered all the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s
Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 22 to 27 of this annual report.
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Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
(as defined in Rule 18.23 of the Listing Rules) to the business of
the Group to which the Company, its holding companies or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, was subsisting at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

Contracts of Significance with Controlling
Shareholders

Save as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statement, no contract of significance (as defined in Rule 18.23 of
the Listing Rules) was entered into between the Company or any of
its subsidaries and any controlling shareholder (as defined in Rule
18.26 of the Listing Rules) or any of its subsidiaries during the Year.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or the holding company or
a subsidiary of the Company’s holding company a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of an acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

Pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules, the Company hereby
discloses that none of the Directors has or had any interest in any
business apart from the Group’s business, which competes or
competed or is or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the Group’s business at any time during the Year and up to and
including the date of this report.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Company has maintained liability insurance to indemnify its
Directors for their liabilities arising from the performance of their
duties during the Year and up to and including the date of this
report.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company and
the Group were entered into or existed during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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Remuneration Policy

The remuneration policy of the Group is formulated and periodically
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and takes into
account, amongst other things, individual merit, qualifications and
competence. The remuneration packages of the Directors are
reviewed and recommended by the Remuneration Committee and
approved by the Board, having regard to, amongst other things,
the Group’s operating results, individual performance, experience,
qualifications and comparable market statistics.

Directors’ Interests in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company and its
Associated Corporations

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 352 of the SFO, or were required, pursuant to
the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows:

Directors’ Report (Continued)

EEEHE(E)

N R

ANER B Fr A EUR R # BN R B 2§ E I E B
uT ZBROF R(EREE) BAANY
C BRRBENTRE o B EH MR8 i Fr
2/\5%53&?& HERBR  WEEZRSH
o BEREERE(HTEE)AEELLE X
B EARE &R ERRITLBEHSH
&

EERARDT
1 - HEAR G

K B AHEEE B R R
%%EPE’J%”

R2023F12A31H » ARREZEEREET
BRABRARE sk EA M AAEEE(AFES
MEERBIEXVER AR E ) MR « BRI
DREFTHEEBLERADRIRIEES R
HEKRHIEIBFENECHA - HiBE
ZHESTRIZAME AR R LB AT RS NS
BuR

Approximate
percentage
shareholding

in the same class

Number and of securities
class of securities in the relevant
Name of Name of company/ held/interested corporation as at
Director associated corporation Capacity (Note 1) 31 December 2023
20235
Fi%s,/ ®B 12A31H
ERN fEHREEER
EFYARER EkblEE: ]
EEpE AR/ HEEEEN AR g (fit1) REBHE DL
WANG Yong Company Interest of controlled 982,999,588 69.78%
corporations (Note 2) ordinary shares (L)
(Note 3)
5 ARA FHlEEER (i) 982,999,588
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Number and
class of securities

Approximate
percentage
shareholding

in the same class
of securities

in the relevant

Name of Name of company/ held/interested corporation as at
Director associated corporation Capacity (Note 1) 31 December 2023
R20235
i/ B8 12A31A
BEm RiEEEEN
EFYARER EERESFN
EEpE AR/ HEEEN B ) (fiet1) REMAE 2
506,244,669 99.75%
convertible preference
shares (L)
(Note 3)
506,244,669
AHAREERL)
(Hi3)
Xiwang Investment Interest of controlled 3 shares (L) 100%
(Note 4) corporations (Note 2)
AERE (Mzt4) R EE R (Hi2) 3ARAA(L)
Xiwang Holdings Beneficial owner (Note 2) 6,738 shares (L) 3.37%
TR BRERAN2) 6,738 R 1A(L)
Interest of controlled 190,000 shares (L) 95%
corporations (Note 2)
REtVERE S (M) 190,000/ A% (L)
Xiwang Hong Kong Interest of controlled 694,132,000 shares (L) 100%
corporations (Note 2)
AEES REtEE RS (fit2) 694,132,000 813 (L)
Xiwang Group Company Beneficial owner (Note 2) RMB620,000,000 (L) 18.84%
RS E NG ERBBAHz2) AR ¥620,000,0007T(L)
SUN Xinhu Xiwang Holdings Beneficial owner 89 shares (L) 0.04%
b8 i AEER ERBEBA 8O {7 (L)
Xiwang Group Company Beneficial owner RMB35,460,000 (L) 1.06%
ATEEAF ERfEEA AR #35,460,0007T(L)
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Notes:

(1)

@

The letter “L” represents the Director’s interests in the shares.

As at 31 December 2023, Xiwang Group Company was the ultimate
holding company of the Company and was owned as to 18.84% by Mr.
WANG Yong, 23.69% by 20 individuals and the remaining 57.83% by
other shareholders. Further, the 20 individuals are accustomed to act
in accordance with the directions of Mr. WANG Yong in respect of the
exercise by such 20 individuals of their voting powers as a shareholder of
Xiwang Group Company. Accordingly, Mr. WANG Yong is deemed to be
interested in 42.17% of the shares of the Company in which Xiwang Group
Company was interested as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, Xiwang Hong Kong was a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Xiwang Group Company and directly held 95% and Mr.
WANG Yong and 22 individuals directly held 5% of the issued share
capital of Xiwang Holdings, respectively. As at 31 December 2023, Xiwang
Investment was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Xiwang Holdings. Therefore,
each of Xiwang Holdings, Xiwang Hong Kong and Xiwang Group Company
is deemed to be interested in the number of shares of the Company held
by Xiwang Investment as at 31 December 2023.

These shares were registered in the name of Xiwang Investment as at 31
December 2023. Mr. WANG Yong is deemed to be interested in all shares
held by Xiwang Investment as at 31 December 2023.

Further to the Company’s announcement dated 29 March 2023, the
Company was informed by a letter from Official Receiver’s Office of Hong
Kong dated 21 March 2023 that a winding-up order dated 20 March 2023
was made against Xiwang Investment. As at 31 December 2023 and up to
and including the date of this report, Mr. Lai Kar Yan and Ms. Chu Ching
Man were and are the joint and several liquidators of Xiwang Investment.
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Substantial Shareholders and Other Persons FERRNEMBEZRESRRE

who are Required to Disclose their Interests RGIZEXVERER BREERA

pursuant to Part XV of the SFO *+

(@) Substantial shareholders of the Company (@) ADXFEERR
As at 31 December 2023, so far as it is known to the Directors MR2023F12A31H * BARAEES
of the Company, the following shareholders (other than FT40 » AR ARIEE 5 K HE &0
the Directors and chief executives of the Company whose E336IEFTTEE N E MRS -
interests and short positions in the shares and underlying VAT AR ER (AR Bl fg i K A BE I 1
shares of the Company are set out above) had or were MEZEMEEEN EXHIINESE KL
deemed or taken to have interests or short positions in the ARABEBITEHABRIN A SR
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded B EEERS ARG RIEERMD
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Mz S B

Section 336 of the SFO:

Number of Approximate

shares of the percentage

Name of substantial Company held of interest as at
shareholder Capacity (Note 1) 31 December 2023
A AT 720235

ligiE 4= 12A318H

TERRES BB 514 (KtaE1) BHEZED L

Xiwang Investment Beneficial owner 982,999,588 69.78%
(Note 2) ordinary shares (L)
AERE(KH72) EmlEAA 982,999,588
AR (L)

506,244,669 99.75%
convertible preference
shares (L)
506,244,669%
AT B SEAR (L)

Xiwang Holdings Interest of a controlled 982,999,588 69.78%
corporation (Note 3) ordinary shares (L)

AEER Rt EEE R 982,999,588 %
(K1aE3) Tm A (L)

506,244,669 99.75%
convertible preference
shares (L)
506,244,669/
AT AR B SEAR(L)
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Name of substantial
shareholder

TERRES B8

Capacity
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Number of
shares of the
Company held
(Note 1)

2 S N
KRG EE
(B1at1)

EEEHE(E)

Approximate
percentage

of interest as at
31 December 2023
72023F
1283181
BRI

Xiwang Hong Kong

BHERB

Xiwang Group Company

AEEB AR

ZHANG Shufang

SRATT

Interest of controlled
corporations (Notes 3, 4)
RIEHLEE R
(K153 ~ 4)

Interest of controlled
corporations (Notes 3, 4)
REHLEE R
(H1a£3 - 4)

Interest of spouse (Note 5)

Fodgas (HaEs)

982,999,588
ordinary shares (L)
982,999,588/%
EEkL)

506,244,669
convertible preference
shares (L)
506,244,669%
AIHARR (B e AR (L)

982,999,588
ordinary shares (L)
982,999,588/%
A (L)

506,244,669
convertible preference
shares (L)
506,244,669%

AR EERL)

982,999,588
ordinary shares (L)
982,999,588/%
A (L)

506,244,669
convertible preference
shares (L)
506,244,669%
AR B SRR (L)

BEEX

69.78%

99.75%

69.78%

99.75%

69.78%

99.75%
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Number of Approximate
shares of the percentage
Name of substantial Company held of interest as at
shareholder Capacity (Note 1) 31 December 2023
AL 12023%F
ROEE 12HA318H
TERRHE BB &4 (H1at1) BAEEED L
Qilu International Funds Person having a security 982,999,588 69.78%
SPC (acting for and interest in shares ordinary share (L)
on behalf of Zhongtai (Note 6&8)
Dingfeng (“Zhongtai BERKRMEREROAL 982,999,588%
DF”) Classified Fund SP)  (K/36&8) AR (L)
(“Qilu”)
Qilu International Funds 506,244,669 99.75%
SPC( A& Kk FEZhongtai convertible preference
Dingfeng ([ Zhongtai shares (L)
DF |)Classified Fund SP 506,244,669/%
7%) (I Qilul) AT AR (B SE AR (L)
Zhongtai International Asset  Investment Manager 982,999,588 69.78%
Management Limited (Note 7) ordinary share (L)
hREIREE BB IR (H17F7) 982,999,588 %
BEEERAA BB
506,244,669 99.75%
convertible preference
shares (L)
506,244,669%
AR ARE SEAR (L)
Lai Kar Yan Interest of controlled 982,999,588 69.78%
corporations (Note 2) ordinary share (L)
R=R RiEEHEEE R (Hit2) 982,999,588%
A (L)
506,244,669 99.75%
convertible preference
shares (L)
506,244,669%
AT AR SRR (L)
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Name of substantial
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Number of
shares of the
Company held

EEEHE(E)

Approximate
percentage
of interest as at

shareholder Capacity (Note 1) 31 December 2023
AR F 12023%F
KRG EE 12A318H
TERRHSE BB 514 (K1et1) BAEREI
Chu Ching Man Karen Interest of controlled 982,999,588 69.78%
oorporations (Note 2) ordinary share (L)
RERX ) EE S (HE2) 982,999,588 %
EEkL)
506,244,669 99.75%
convertible preference
shares (L)
506,244,669%
AIHARR (B e AR (L)

Notes Hfat -

(1) The letter “L” represents the entity’s interests in the shares. (1) FEILRRZEERARO#ER -

(2)  Further to the Company’s announcement dated 29 March 2023, ) ?ﬁZK@ﬂ HH3 /202343 A29H
the Company was informed by a letter from Official Receiver’s Z’“it » RARR2023F3A21H
Office of Hong Kong dated 21 March 2023 that a winding-up order %?%WFEE%iu%ﬁﬁm%E
dated 20 March 2023 was made against Xiwang Investment. As at SA20BBETEHAFREMNEFERLS - R
31 December 2023 and up to and including the date of this report 2023F 12 A3 1B REEZAREBH (R
Mr. Lai Kar Yan and Ms. Chu Ching Man are the joint and several E%ZAB)  BEBRAERAFIAXTA
liquidators of Xiwang Investment. FAEREHFRERREEA

(38)  As at 31 December 2023, Xiwang Holdings directly held 100% (38) M2023F12A31H r AEIEREER
of the issued share capital of Xiwang Investment and therefore is EATREZIEEITRA - ALK E
deemed to be interested in the number of shares of the Company HESASNAETREMFZARFRG
held by Xiwang Investment as at the same date. R EER o

(4)  As at 31 December 2023, Xiwang Hong Kong directly held 95% and (4) M2023F12A31H - AEEEBHEHIE
Mr. WANG Yong and 22 individuals directly held 5% of the issued EER2ZBAD R EEFEATIER
share capital of Xiwang Holdings, respectively. As at 31 December 95%Ei5% B B ITARAR - 202312 A
2023, Xiwang Hong Kong was in turn wholly-owned by Xiwang 318  AXEAHAISEERREEHE
Group Company. Therefore, Xiwang Hong Kong and Xiwang Group A o At - M2023F12AH31H - BE
Company are deemed to be interested in the number of shares of EERATEBRARGGEAKEATR
the Company held by Xiwang Investment as at 31 December 2023. BT AA AR DR o

(6)  Ms. ZHANG Shufang, being the spouse of Mr. WANG Yong as at 31 (6) REF T (EBEEMHRB)R2023F
December 2023, is deemed to be interested in all the shares of the 12A31BEMRAREBRERF BHEER
Company in which Mr. WANG Yong is deemed to be interested as RBEENARARMEROPHEE R -
at the same date.

(6)  The controlling shareholder of the Company notified the Board (6) ANARKIERREER2017F9A28H

on 28 September 2017 that it had entered into share charge
agreements with an independent third party pursuant to which it
had charged all of its shareholding in the Company in favour of such
independent third party as security for notes issued by its subsidiary
to such independent third party in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$200,000,000.

MEeEFTe  RACE—ZBIFE=
FEIS R mE R ZE - Bt - BAZ
EBIBE=FAZHEABBEREA
RIMZHRE  EAE—HBHMEBAR
MZEBYLE - HTRTACRER
200,000,000/ 7T 215 2 FE1R ©
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(b)

Zhongtai International Asset Management Limited, being the
fund manager of Qilu as at 31 December 2023, is deemed to be
interested in all the shares of the Company in which Qilu was
interested pursuant to the SFO.

On 2 August 2023, Mr. Osman Mohammed Arab and Mr. Lai
Wing Lun (the “Receivers”) were appointed as the joint and
several receivers (the “Receivership”) of 982,999,588 ordinary
shares and 506,244,669 convertible preference shares of the
Company (the “Charged Shares”) held by Xiwang Investment.
Two subscription agreements dated 28 September 2017 and 9
February 2018 respectively (the “Subscription Agreements”) were
entered into between Xiwang Special Steel and Zhongtai Financial
Investment Limited (the “Original Noteholder”), whereas two share
charges in respect of the ordinary shares of the Company dated
29 September 2017 and 9 February 2018 respectively and share
charges in respect of the preference shares of the Company dated
29 September 2017 and 9 February 2018 respectively were entered
into by Xiwang Investment as chargor in favour of the Original
Noteholder as chargee (the “Deeds of Charge”). Subsequently,
pursuant to two deeds of assignment dated 20 December 2017
and 26 October 2018 respectively, the Original Noteholder assigned
its right, claims and causes of action under the Subscription
Agreements, the said notes, the Deeds of Charge and other relevant
documents to Qilu for the account and on behalf of Zhongtai DF
(the “Chargee”). The Receivers were appointed by Qilu on behalf of
the Chargee based on an event of default by Xiwang Special Steel
under the Subscription Agreements.

Other persons who are required to disclose their interests
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’
Interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations” and paragraph
(a) above, as at 31 December 2023, no other person had
any interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which are required to be recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.

Connected Transactions

Pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules, the transactions
between the Company and the connected person(s) (as defined
under the Listing Rules) of the Company constitute connected
transactions of the Company. The Company regulates and
manages such transactions in compliance with the Listing Rules.
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Non-Exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions

On 7 October 2022, the Company and Xiwang Finance entered into
a financial services framework agreement (the “Financial Services
Framework Agreement”) in relation to the provision of certain
financial services, including deposit services and loan and other
financial services (the “Financial Services”), by Xiwang to the
Company and certain other entities, namely companies which are
owned as to: (i) 51% or above by the Company; (i) 20% or above
by the Company and its subsidiaries, individually or collectively; or
(iii) less than 20% by the Company and its subsidiaries, individually
or collectively, but as the largest shareholder(s) (collectively, the
“Qualified Entities”).

As at the date of entry into the Financial Services Framework
Agreement, during the Year and up to and including the date of this
report: (i) Xiwang Investment is and was the controlling shareholder
of the Company and is and was wholly-owned by Xiwang Holdings;
(i) Xiwang Holdings is and was held as to 95% by Xiwang Hong
Kong; (iii) Xiwang Hong Kong is and was in turn wholly-owned
by Xiwang Group Company, the ultimate holding company of the
Company; and (iv) Xiwang Finance is and was a subsidiary of
Xiwang Group Company. Therefore, as at the date of entry into the
Financial Services Framework Agreement, during the Year and up
to and including the date of this report, Xiwang Finance is and was
a connected person of the Company within the meaning of Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules, and the Financial Services Framework
Agreement constituted and continues to constitute a continuing
connected transaction within the meaning of Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The Financial Services Framework Agreement is a renewal of
another financial services framework agreement previously entered
into between the Company and Xiwang Finance dated 12 August
2019, which had expired on 30 November 2022. The Financial
Services Framework Agreement is valid for a term commencing
from its effective date, being the date of fulfilment of all the
conditions precedent set out therein (namely approval of the
Financial Services Framework Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder by the Board and the announcement
and approval of the same by shareholders’ at a special general
meeting), to 30 November 2025. The Financial Services Framework
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder were
approved by the shareholders of the Company at a special general
meeting held on 30 November 2022 and all conditions precedent
set out in the Financial Services Framework Agreement were fulfilled
as of the same date.

Directors’ Report (Continued)
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Under the Financial Service Framework Agreement, the fees and
charges payable with respect to the Financial Services are as
follows:

(@)

Deposit services: The interest rates payable by Xiwang
Finance to the Group in respect of the deposit services shall
not be lower than: (i) the relevant benchmark interest rates
set by the People’s Bank of China (the “PBOC”); and (ii) the
interest rates paid by other independent major commercial
banks in the PRC for comparable services during the same
period; and

Loan and financing services: The rates to be charged by
Xiwang Finance for the provision of loan and financing
services to the Group shall not be higher than: (i) the relevant
benchmark interest rates set by the PBOC; and (ii) the relevant
rates charged by other independent major commercial banks
in the PRC for comparable loan and financing services during
the same period,

in each case in compliance with the requirements set by the PBOC.

The Company and Xiwang Finance shall enter into separate
agreements in respect of the transactions contemplated under
the Financial Service Framework Agreement, and such separate
agreements shall be consistent with the terms and principles set out
in the Financial Service Framework Agreement.
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Annual Caps

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the approved maximum
daily outstanding balance of deposits (including interest) placed
by the Group with Xiwang Finance during the term of the Financial
Services Framework Agreement and the actual transaction amounts
of the non-exempt continuing connected transactions under the
Financial Services Framework Agreement are set out below:

Maximum daily
outstanding balance of
deposits (including

Directors’ Report (Continued)

EEEHE(E)

FE LR

HE2023F12A31BILFE - AEERE
B AR 75 AE 2R 7 2 HA PR A A1 £ B A 1E AR 4
HESHERTRER(BEMNB)RRES
ARG IER BT T ER R ERER
SHBEBRRXZEEHIIMT

Actual maximum daily
outstanding balance of
deposits (including

Period accrued interest) accrued interest)
BHEEFRER ERSHESFERER

HE (BfEESTFIE) (BEEFFE)
(RMB in million) (RMB in million)

(ARBHET) (ANR¥EBETT)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 RMB160 million RMB152 million
B ZE2023F12A31HILFE ARK160BETT ARB152B8 T

Further details of the Financial Services Framework Agreement were
disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 7 October
2022 and 12 October 2022 and the circular of the Company dated
8 November 2022.

Confirmation from the independent non-
executive Directors

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected
transactions and are of the opinion that the above continuing
connected transactions have been (i) carried out in the usual and
ordinary course of business of the Group; (ii) conducted on normal
commercial terms; and (iii) entered into in accordance with the
terms of the agreement which are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company’s shareholders as a whole.

EHCRRBERBZNE —PHFBRER
AAaE HEA2022F10 A7 B 22022410
A12BH R ERARAFBEA2022F11 A8
BEREK o

BMFATESERS

BAR ETRAIZE14A 5560 E - B IEH
TEFCEN LAKERBISL AL Lt
SEREXFDORAKELE MBFEEH
BIZPEH  ()REFBEEGERAIT © K(iii)
REAFEENBRIGERFILENTEARF]
PRERHIEE BB A4 -
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Confirmation from the external auditor

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
external auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The external auditor of the Company has provided a
letter to the Board confirming that nothing has come to its attention
to cause it to believe that the continuing connected transactions:

a. have not been approved by the Board;

b.  were not conducted in accordance with the Group’s pricing
policies;

Cs were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreement(s) governing such transactions; or

d. have exceeded the annual cap (as defined in Rule 14A.53 of
the Listing Rules) as set by the Company.

Corporate governance

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 28 to 58 of this report.

Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference based upon the provisions and recommended practices
of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and internal control procedures and
system of the Group. As at 31 December 2023, members of the
Audit Committee comprised Mr. WONG Kai Hing, Mr. WANG An
and Ms. LI Shaorui, being the independent non-executive Directors.
Mr. WANG Zhen resigned on 8 May 2023 and Ms. LI Shaorui was
appointed as a member of the Audit Committee on 6 July 2023.
The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the Year have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee, which is of the opinion that
such statements are in compliance with the applicable accounting
standards, the requirements of the Stock Exchange and legal
requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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Sufficiency of public float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float not less than 25% of the total issued share
capital during the Year and as at the date of this report.

Auditors

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been
audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited. A resolution will be
proposed at the upcoming annual general meeting of the Company
to re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as auditors of the
Company.

For and on behalf of the Board

WANG Jin Tao
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
18 M A% B

HLB

HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

To the Shareholders of Xiwang Property Holdings Company Limited
(incorporated in the Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Xiwang
Property Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 91 to 192, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

82 Xiwang Property Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2023

1% &3 F H AT A Mo g Thelandmark

31/F Gloucester Tower &5
IR
11 Pedder Street SITE119
Central BHES
Hong Kong HERTITRE3E
BAIBEXERERATRR
(RERZAME T BERAA)
=
/%\

RAZERD (AT [ RA ) 2EFeHE R
FOIE1QEATEXEIERERAR (AT
HHE [BEARDRENBAR(SEAEEE
B REGRETHHRE - WERaVBRERSE
K 2023F 12 431 A B4R & B 75 ik i 2k B &)
ZZALFENGEEER  SA2ANKS
=R REERERRIEAHEERER - N
RERE M HmMERMTE  BRERSFTERE
B R EHAbFRARE K o

BRMRE  ZEHFEUBEREREBESES
A (BRSO ) EMRNESH
BREERN([HRAMBREEN ) EEMH
iR S5EER2023F12 31 HR4R
BFBARN  REEZBILFENEETE
RERGEEESRE - WEKRBEBERIE
B4 B2 45 T & A A o

RRER

RPERBEEESFIMASRONBEE
ZQ([BEREFSE]ETER - AR
ZEEATAENEEEERNRS [ KM
B EFE AR AR BAAELE E 1B D+
tFE— R - REBEBFESTMASRMI
(EXeEERTRD(TFA) - BB
B BEEE - YEETTHTOHEMERS
BEME - BFIEE - RAIMESNESRE
RRIEE AR MNETE RIREER -



KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)
BB AR E ()

FAEETEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FIEETFESBIBERMMNEBEEHE - R A
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated ¥ AL A M EBRERNBARAEENE
financial statements of the current period. These matters were 18 © B EBEA K MBI B LGA M TEHR
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial & & A E RRFETRIERN - I T2YHE
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we  LEIFIZHEBEBHER, -

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Goodwill

5

I

Refer to Notes 2.3 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements. 2GS BREMF2.3/%16 ©

Key audit matter

BEETER

As of 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
goodwill, which arose from Meijun Project, were
RMB107,420,000.

B ZE2023F12A31H F IEMNRESEAARE
107,420,0007T * REREEIER °

Management performed impairment assessment
on the goodwill and concluded that an impairment
of RMB71,035,000 was recognised. This
conclusion was based on value in use model that
required significant management judgement with
respect to the selling price and construction cost
of properties, plot ratio and the discount rate.
EIREHBETREN G - HELARERRE
AE¥71,035,0007T ° It A& I KIEE BEEED
ER O EREREEERMEEEREENSN - i
TELL & N BRI RAEH B A HIE -

Management assesses potential impairment of
goodwill on an annual basis. The impairment
assessment of goodwill is carried out by
management based on independent valuations
of the respective cash generating units (“CGUs”)
prepared by a firm of qualified external valuers.
EREGTHSHBENBEERELETIE - BE
HERERBS KRNI EEMESRCEEEN
(IREELEEN )N B EEETREM

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EANEFNEERRETSER

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment included, but not limited to:

HEREREMEERNRIEEE(ETRR)

° understanding and assessing the design and
implementation of key internal controls over preparation
of the discounted cash flow forecasts on which the
estimation of the recoverable amount of goodwill are
based;

e  THMENEBHEHEFEHREFRKRERE (EETEEA

W ol & 5 e) £ ) HEAM R AR EH R RERE

A

o obtaining and inspecting the valuation report prepared
by the external valuers engaged by the Group on which
the management’s assessments of impairment of
goodwill were based;

e ERIRE BEEEZEANIBEEMREENMGEER
& MERBRILEREERE
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

BB R & (&)

Key audit matter

BEETER

The values of CGUs are estimated based on e

the respective discounted cash flow forecasts
prepared by the management.

REeEEBUNAENENEEEMRENSRIE o

BEmIBBEITREET

The preparation of discounted cash flow forecasts e

involves the exercise of significant management
judgement in particular in determining the key
assumptions adopted, which include sales
volumes, sales prices and the plot ratio and in
calculating the discount rate applied.

REBRR e REAS REREEDERNAE - L
HECRTEMERANEERR  SHEHEHESE  #HE
BRMAEL E RGTEMERRALIREK o

We identified the assessment of potential
impairment of goodwill as a key audit matter
because of its significance to the consolidated
financial statements and because the assessment

of potential impairment of goodwill are inherently e

subjective and require significant judgement and
estimation which increases the risk of error or
potential management bias.

BB EEENEERERT RRREFFE
REREHEREUBRRNTZEEANURRE R
EENEBERMERS BG BT RARERERHE
Kftat  WEMMERHBRRENEEEEERE

MR E S o s

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN EFNEERRETSER

assessing the external valuers’ qualifications,
experience and expertise and considering their
objectivity;
FHESNBAEREEE KBRERBEMNBLZEBRATE
M

with the assistance of our valuation experts,
evaluating the methodology used in the valuations of
CGUs, challenging the key assumptions and critical
judgements made in the preparation of the discounted
cash flow forecasts prepared by management by
comparing key inputs, which included sales volumes,
sales prices and the plot ratio, with historical
performance, management’s budgets and forecasts
and other external available information, and evaluating
the discount rate applied in the discounted cash flow
forecasts by assessing if the parameters adopted in
calculating the discount rate was within the range of
those adopted by other companies in the same industry
and with similar risk profile;
EREZERNHBHT AR EEELGHEMANT
% EBREERR(BEHE  SERMBLLE)EE
SR ERENTEE RTERIARE MmN A 1SERE
TTELER T & AR B IR B FE AR AL IR IR € M TRRI h PR YE ) A
SRR AR & B A 2 B DA R e A B ER IR <8 7 FE ORI A 8 AR A B
BE FERTAFERRXGRANZ2HERER X
MABRURBRSFENEMARAEANSEER

assessing whether the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of the assessment
of potential impairment of goodwill are reasonable
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.

2RI ERINATE @ GRS MBHRERPARE
BEERENENRESLRSE

We found the management’s impairment assessment on
goodwill were supportable by the available evidence.
BMBEREEENREMETRREN G AR EFHRE
X FF e
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)
BB AR E ()

HEPYRIREE

Carrying values of properties under
development

Refer to Notes 2.3 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements. 2R A B EHREN T2.3%17 o

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNFSANIEEFERETSE

Key audit matter

[

As at 31 December 2023, the Group owned Our procedures in relation to management’s determination
properties under development located in the of the carrying values of properties under development
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) with carrying  included, but not limited to:

amounts of RMB295,169,000. BMEEREEECERTME L REBERBORESFE(ET

HZE2023F12A31H - EEEAEHPEARKLM
B([PEDEENERTWENERSBAARE
295,169,0007T °

These properties are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. The determination
of the net realisable value of these properties
requires judgement and estimations, which
include expected future selling prices and the
costs necessary to complete the sale of these
properties, and is assessed by the management.

ZEMETIAK AR AR FECBRIEENR - &
EREMENAIZRFETEELAES LA - &
REARKEER TN LZEMEHEMTANAE
I BB IR E AT o

RRY)

challenging the Group’s forecast sales prices by
comparing the forecast sales prices for a sample of
properties to sales prices achieved before and after
the reporting date and the list prices of comparable
properties;

BB ERRNTRREE
MEBURAIELBEYMENERE R  BER HHEEXN
FERIE(E

challenging the Group’s forecast of construction cost
per square metre by comparison with construction
costs for similar units in other areas and where there
were differences and obtaining explanations from
management;

BB BRHEMERAEUETHREXS B 5
EZFHREEXNTINTEARMEEEZEER  REERE
ESRRRE
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BB R & (&)

Key audit matter

BEETER

We identified the assessment of the net realisable e

value of properties under development as a key
audit matter because of the significance of these
properties to the Group’s total assets and because
the assessment of net realisable value is inherently

subjective and requires significant management e

judgement and estimation in relation to estimating
future selling prices and future construction costs
which increases the risk of error or potential

management bias. *

BB RT YRR 2 FENMEEESBREE
AEERE RARREMEMG BEXEHEE—AR
REE - URAERFENF G RER B -
FREEBHARAREE IRIZERAIELERH
ErAEE - WAL MERERRENBEEEER
ZNRARER e

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN EFNEERARETSR

discussing significant property development projects
with the relevant project managers to identify the
key drivers behind the appraisal forecasts and net
realisable values, such as forecast yields and cost
plans; and

BAEAIE R KBRS REAYEREIER UHEAIFETE
RRAISRFEESENETERSEE - HI0FERKE
EREARTE &

conducting site visits to properties under
development for sale, on a sample basis, to
observe the development progress and challenging
management’s development budgets reflected in the
latest forecasts with reference to market statistics
about estimated construction costs and signed
construction contracts.

RHBREEHFERRFPYEETEMER - UBER
EREENZ2ERBGEAEERTIRERZREEAN
ZTEFRAEHE  BREFEAPREOEREHME

HE -

We found the carrying values of properties under
development for sale were supportable by the available
evidence.

BARR  FEZRVYEZREERAESNRESS
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and,
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

B ABET RS (&)

HifEs

EFAYHMESRR - HUEEEREFR
AHEE - BT BREEAMHRER RN
ZEE SRS ([HMER ) -

ﬁﬂiﬁﬁ?\é\ﬁaﬁ‘%ﬁ%m%ﬁ AR E HAE
B TEZEEMERBREMER
H’J%.ﬂ, £ ©

BABMYREYBHREROES  RANE
TREEEMES @ FLBRET  TEEM
EERBEGEAMBREIBMERTBRE
R T RANBERTEEABBRE AT FE
BERERRANIBER - ERBEMDHITHT
- MRBMRBSEMEEFEERERR
ot RPFEREZEE - &5 m - B
BRAEARE -

EXERBEBSHTMASEMNETEN
BHRELNRBERARGIINEERTE - &

HEEMPBENEAVBEHRE  UHERR
?%{&“‘ii*/—\ﬁﬁ%i&ﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁTTﬁmBAHXE‘F&
B FR T B BUE A A AR BRI P 78 MY D B2 Il &
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SR EEEEROEE - RS AREES
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=
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

B ABET RS (&)

o FEEFEMRASHEEMNBREMER
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun
Practising Certificate Number: PO6901

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEEER

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
For the year ended 31 December H=12A318 LG E B &E ARBT T AR TIT
Revenue EER 5 20,790 48,455
Cost of sales SHE KA (19,348) (47,521)
Gross profit EF 1,442 934
Other income HAp U A 5 3,268 3,196
Selling and marketing expenses 5 I T 5 HE R X2 (132) (157)
Reversal of allowance of expected credit #5125 fE W KIE 2
loss (“ECL”) on trade receivables TEEMERER
([FEEEREXDEE 6 56 128
Administrative expenses THHAX (6,184) (10,384)
Impairment loss recognised in M BERAREREE
respect of goodwill (71,035) (1,950)
Written off of prepayment NN (79,401) -
Loss from operation KEEE (151,986) (8,233)
Finance cost 3PN 7 (155) (43)
Loss before tax B %% A 5 18 8 (152,141) (8,276)
Income tax credit FTiSHiiE % 11 17,699 944
Loss for the year FEEE (134,442) (7,332)
Loss attributable to: LT ALTEMLEE :
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIESZEDN (134,442) (7,332)
Loss per share attributable to APNAEEEZEEAE
ordinary equity holders of hHERER
the Company
Basic and diluted EXRE#E 13
— Basic loss for the year — FEENEE RMB(9.5) cent RMB(0.5) cent
AR¥(9.5)7 AR(0.5)%
— Diluted loss for the year —FEEEER RMB(9.5) cent RMB(0.5) cent

AR¥(9.5) 7 AR 0.5)%

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BEHIHMITER IS AMERELN — I
consolidated financial statements.

o

W

BEBLERARAF 2023F®% 91



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
e EZHEBER

2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
For the year ended 31 December HZE12A31BILFE ARBT T ARBFIT
Loss for the year FEEE (134,442) (7,332)
Other comprehensive income Htt 2wl
Other comprehensive income may be reclassified REZ BRI AIEEH HIEE
to profit or loss in subsequent periods: BEammEMmEmmKA
Exchange differences on translation of foreign MEBINEFEHE K =R
operations 322 2,792
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEXHEEELE (134,120) (4,540)
Total comprehensive loss for the year REFEATALTELGEZE
attributable to: 8B -
Owners of the Company KARER A (134,120) (4,540)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BEMIRKITIER I EHESMERELN — I
consolidated financial statements. 2 e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mE BRI R

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
As at 31 December M2 A31H B 5 AR®T T ARETF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - B K 14 2 3
Right-of-use asset FREEE 15 1,509 2,298
Goodwill R 16 107,420 178,455
Total non-current assets FRBEEHE 108,931 180,756
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Completed properties held for sale B R FEYEE 17 3,715 3,921
Properties under development HEPYE 17 295,169 295,169
Trade receivables H 5 WA 18 262 8,771
Prepayments and other receivables BFREREMEKRKIE 19 8,589 88,007
Cash and cash equivalents HERIRESZEEY 20 150,882 150,500
Total current assets MEVEERE 458,617 546,368
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables B5 K EMENKIE 21 37,829 46,660
Lease liabilities HEAE 23 832 759
Contract liabilities BHEE 22 461 594
Tax payable FERTRE IR 17 -
Amounts due to related companies FETRE N R FIE 29(a) 19,096 17,110
Total current liabilities mENAEARE 58,235 65,123
Net current assets RBEEZE 400,382 481,245
Total assets less current liabilities EELERABERS 509,313 662,001
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e P AR R ()

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
As at 31 December W12 8318 B 5 AR®T T ARETFIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 23 744 1,554
Deferred tax liabilities EERIERE 24 74,913 92,671
Total non-current liabilities EMBBERE 75,657 94,225
Net assets EERE 433,656 567,776
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of KATEEAEGERS
the Company
Share capital [N 25 175,672 175,672
Reserves R 27 257,984 392,104
Total equity MR 4BER 433,656 567,776

These consolidated financial statements were approved and JtE&GA BRI LEET2MN2024E3 26
authorised for issue by the Board on 26 March 2024 and signed on B #t /& RIE# T - YHUATEER A

its behalf by: = .
WANG Jin Tao WANG Wei Min
IT&E FER
Director Director
EE EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated — FEMT AT s B L H4R & B 15 s R a9 — 3B
financial statements. 9
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

Attributable to owners of the Company

AARBAAEL
Share Exchange
Share option Capital ~ Statutory Contributed ~ Merger fluctuation Accumulated Total
capital reserve reserve  reserve  surplus reserve reserve losses equity
EXRE
kA BRERE BAEE  LERE SRR SBEG B  RFE  EREE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETR ARETI
(Note 27) (Note 27) ~ (Note27)  (Note 27)
(Wir) (W) (ster)  (Wider)
At 1 January 2022 R2022%171H 175,672 1770 102910 52,738 373006 (118,063 55818 (215%) 572316
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - - 3% (133
Other comprehensive incomefor ~— FEEM2ENA
the year - - - - - - 2,192 - 2,192
Total comprehensive income/foss) ~ EE2EMA/(BlR) 2%
for the year - - - - - - 2,192 (1332 (4,540)
At 31 December 2022 and R02E12A31BR
1 January 2023 20031 A1 175,672 1770 102,910 52,738 378006 (118,063 8,610 (28867) 567,776
Loss for the year EEER - - - - - - - (134,442 (134,442)
Other comprehensive income EEEM2EUA
for the year - - - - - - 322 - 322
Total comprehensive income/foss) ~ £E2EMA/(BiE)4E
for the year - - - - - - 322 (134,442)  (134,120)
Transfer of share option reserve upon SRR &%
the lapse of share option EhiEaR - () - - - - - 1,710 -
At 31 December 2023 R202312331R 175,672 - 102910 52,738 373,006  (118,069) 8,932 (161,539) 433,656

The accompany notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

W e

B B 0 Y S B bt S A A

=)

B 75 R B — &P
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n _\éiﬁﬁzﬁii

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
For the year ended 31 December H=12A318 LG B &E ARBT T AR T IT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REREXBNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax PRELRIESE (152,141) (8,276)
Adjustments for: FLTFIIEB ELAE
Interest income FEWA 5 (3,265) (3,174)
Depreciation — property, plant and E - - WENMKRE
equipment 14 1 =
Depreciation — right-of-use asset e —FREEE 15 817 603
Finance cost BhE AN 7 155 43
Impairment loss recognised in respect gt BT 2 85 (E 5 18
of goodwill 16 71,035 1,950
Written off of prepayment a1t TR 79,401 =
Reversal of impairment losses on trade  FEEA(EAEBLIER T2
receivables under ECL model B SRS IA 2 RE
Eia R El 6 (56) (128)
(4,053) (8,982)
Decrease in completed properties REE B FEWERD
held for sale 206 363
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables ‘2 5 EURIE (3L ),/
NN 36 (77) 2,039
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and &/ 3818 % E fth & Uit
other receivables RIER A () 9 (314)
Decrease in trade and other payables B o5 N EMEMNFKIEA
DR 36 (189) (655)
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities & #)& &R 4) /1 (133) 271
Increase in amounts due to related JFE 1} A3 N B FRIE L N
companies 1,759 3,802
Cash used in operations ETEE AR S (2,478) (3,476)
PRC taxes paid EX R EFIE (42) -
PRC taxes refunded ROl HFHIE = 457
Net cash flows used in operating KL EBFTAIR S
activities mEFEE (2,520) (3,019

96 Xiwang Property Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2023



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
MERERERE)

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
For the year ended 31 December HE12AIBILEE B &E ARBT T AREF T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RERETHNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received B U B 3,273 3,137
Purchase of property, plant and BEME - BENMEE
equipment = (3)
Net cash flows generated from REZEBBEESRE
investing activities bR 3,273 3,134
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING RERMETHNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest paid BERFE (155) (43)
Repayment of principal portion of lease ([EEHEBEHNARESIH
liabilities (764) (599)
Net cash flow used in financing BMETEFTARERE
activities B (919) (642)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND BHEPESEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS WA (166) (527)
Cash and cash equivalents at FYNRE IR EEY
beginning of year 150,500 148,233
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [E X&) g 2558
net 548 2,794
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRANRERASEEY
AT END OF YEAR 20 150,882 150,500

The accompany notes form an integral part of these consolidated — BEBEY Bt sEHE AR It S 45 & B SRR B9 — P
financial statements. 7 @
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

1.

98

CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION

Xiwang Property Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda and
its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. The registered office of the Company is located
at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company is
disclosed in the corporate information section to the annual
report. In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Xiwang Investment Company
Limited (in liquidation) (“Xiwang Investment”), which is a
private company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(the “BVI”). The ultimate holding company of the Company
is Xiwang Group Company Limited (“Xiwang Group
Company”), which is established in the People’s Republic of

China (the “PRC").

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally involved in property development,
provision of property management services and trading of
construction materials in the PRC (particularly in Zouping City,

Shandong Province).

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

ARREBAR

AETEXEERER G (A&
#EﬁL?ﬁﬁimﬁ@&ﬂ H A%
MRBEAHERZAERAR LM -

RN 7)) R %Jﬁ{_LEACIarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Ham|lton
HM11, Bermuda ° KATIE 5

i’@%E)fﬁ#&Zm%éﬂ Eﬂ%&ﬁ%f’
BERE AN /
ATRERR
&) B
BE)#
A B 4% 2
([*E]
AETEE

\_m
S A
e o} 0
%
vm

0o/

B
=g

> B
N‘
g%%%ww

Zl|

o S 1 20 31 >
<
F
Bt
i

Z o
B 2 Z B

B

SH
]
=

\

A

\

=l

—~
-
al
—
~
o

]

(i~ R E#
TEWBARFELNT -

Place of Percentage of equity interest and
incorporation/ voting rlght_s attributable to thne EiF)ompany
registration Issued ordinary/ AAARERRE AL RRRE
and business registered 2023 2022
bExm cap,ta, 2023% 20225
Name R,/ RTLE/ Direct  Indirect Direct  Indirect Principal activities
£ REEEHY EH’&M E# 3 E% B TEEE
% % % %
Keen Lofty Investments Limited BvI US$15,756,000 100 - 100 - Investment holding
BHRAERAA EERUEE 16,756,000% 70 RERR
Glorious Prosper Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
BEARAR & 18T RERR
Shandong Xiwang Property PRC RMB200,000,000 - 100 - 100 Property investment and
Company Limited i AE%200,000,0007 development, and trading
(LRATEEERAA) construction materials
WRETEXERAR: NERERFRIRENES
Shandong Keen Lofty Property PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100 - 100 Provision of property
Management Limited i AR10,000,0007 management services
(UREENIERERAT) RENEEERE
WREENXERERAR
# Established in the PRC as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise # RARBEIKZHINEBEDE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidation financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decision made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Listing Rules
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong). They have been prepared on the
historical cost basis. These consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”) as the Group’s principal
activities were carried out in the PRC. The functional currency
of the Company is the Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”). The
functional currency of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
is RMB. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

2.2 APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October Insurance Contracts
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules

Disclosure of Accounting
Polices

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

21

2.2

REVBBRREREE

RAEMBHRRDIRBERESHANAE
([EREEMAE ) BEH 2 BEVH
HEEN([BBUMBHREER ) (E+
BREMEESMBHRELER - FES
AHER([EFRERER ) R2E) MR
2o pimBEAMBERRME @ WA
EHEMAAERHMPFETIEMERE
FORTE - AIBBERIREFEEAXN - It
Sh - IREMBHRERBE LWRARE
BIEBIE 6228 BB R AHEDIFT IR E R
EREE - WEMBRRIRBES
RARER RS - WEHS M BFHRERIA
ARB(TAR®B 2% EAESET
REBDHEPELE - ARFHEE
BRET(BR])  ARAEFEZ
MBARZNEEEB/ARE - A
BEAMBAAZEREOITMN  HS
BERAERID -

|2 2 49 SRAE T
8 1 75 55 2 Y

RAFE  AEBCSERERETES
SRR G RMBEIA T HEER B RS
ERERTA - ZFERTAR202351
A1B SRR AN S EFE R
BIAER - AR BAR A RIS IR

BRI RE£R RBEH
F175R (B1E2020F
10 A &2022%2 A
BB BRE R
FITHRUBETK))
BRI ERE8% SEHETNTE S
(BaTA)
BB gaHERIE 125 HE—XFEER
CHES) BEREEER
HEITR A
BB QAR E12% ER BN E -
(BFTA) AR
BRI ENEIRR SHBREE
B HRE R

EBREER(BTEX)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e RS R R R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

2.2 APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 22FEHAREIEBMERE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Except as described below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Change in accountlrkgla(golicy as a result of
application of the H PA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition

of the Mandatory Provident Fund - Long
Service Payment offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong

In June 2022, the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (“Government”) gazetted the Hong
Kong Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022
(“Amendment Ordinance”), which will come into effect from
1 May 2025 (“Transition Date”). Once the Amendment
Ordinance takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of
the accrued benefits derived from its mandatory contributions
to mandatory provident fund (“MPF”) scheme to reduce the
long service payment (“LSP”) in respect of an employee’s
service from the Transition Date (the abolition of the “offsetting
mechanism”). In addition, the LSP in respect of the service
before the Transition Date will be calculated based on the
employee’s monthly salary immediately before the Transition
Date and the years of service up to that date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published the captioned accounting
guidance relating to the abolition of the offsetting mechanism.
In particular, the guidance indicates that entities may account
for the accrued benefits derived from mandatory MPF
contributions that are expected to be used to reduce the LSP
payable to an employee as deemed contributions by that
employee towards the LSP.To better reflect the substance
of the abolition of the offsetting mechanism, the Group
has applied the above HKICPA guidance and changed its
accounting policy in connection with its LSP liability.

The change in accounting policy in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.2 APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs and Interpretation(s)
in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs and interpretation(s) that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(Revised)

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture’

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)?

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Supplier Finance
Arrangements?

Lack of Exchangeability®

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that contains
a Repayment on Demand
Clause?

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

The Directors anticipate that the application of all new and
amendments to HKFRSs and interpretation(s) will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e RS R R R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.3 ERETHEESR

INFORMATION
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

° potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and the non-controlling
interests according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests
(if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i)
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in
an associate or a joint venture.
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e RS R R R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combinations or asset
acquisitions

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
acquired processes are considered substantive if they are
critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, including
an organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge,
or experience to perform the related processes or they
significantly contribute to the ability to continue producing
outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability
to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business combination
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e MR R M aE (4E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 23 EXREFHBEER @

INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combinations or asset
acquisitions (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for
which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of
the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-
assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation
are initially measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combinations or asset
acquisitions (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that
qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained
during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with
the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
and measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had disposed
directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the
measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e RS R R R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) (or
group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes

and not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each

asset in the unit (or group of CGUSs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss
on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation within
the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUSs), the amount of
goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the

portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs) retained.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

23 EXREFHBERER @)

114

T1
X

n

BREBIINIE - BER
B EHEEENRE

RBESHER > NEERFEYE
TR 55 B R A DA B Al {2 R 4F HR B IR RO 42
AREENREE UETXEEE
EREETATRBREHBERERS
B WBEEMNZENR - Bl EET1E
MEENTKEESRE  UEERERS
B(E)NEE -

ME - BEERRELRERAEEENH
WEEBEDEBMGT - BEEEEFMR
PRI E & R - AREAEZE
EFfENRSELEMA AT KO SHE -

RAABRELBEVMNRER @ B
EEMEYSEN BN EERE -
TCEREESEIEINEBARSELSE
7 BRIKESEDENELSER
—HORERNKDRSELEMA
Al e CEEEMBNRSEL BN
ReELSBENEMNET A ROEER -
VEBAARCELBENNREELE
RIAB R ARE S FRETTHLR o

AYEEeBERSAABERELEKRAE
EEREBETNRSE - T HEA
BER - EARARMKREGETOR
KEeRERRERE  ZBEEXR
BT ERNTSEHERREENGNA
RABAERRBA S REMLTHNEE
(IR EEBM)NEFERR

BEBLERAERAR 2023F% 109



2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e MR R M (4E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group; or

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly. Depreciation
is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates
used for this purpose are as follows:

Equipment
Bd]
Motor vehicles

e
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end. An item
of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset. Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed. As a
practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the financial statements would not
differ materially from individual leases within the portfolio.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e RS R R R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

(1)

(i)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The cost of right-of-use asset includes: (a) the amount of
the initial measurement of the lease liability; (b) any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received; (c) any initial direct
costs incurred by the Group; and (d) an estimate of costs
to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing
the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e MR R M (4E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities
other than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from
COVID-19 - related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term. The Group presents right-of-
use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. The
lease payments include: (a) fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable; (b) variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate as at the commencement date; (c)
amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees; (d) the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group; and (e) payments of penalties for terminating
a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e RS R R R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(iv)

v)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) when the lease term has changed by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate
at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date at amounts
equal to net investments in the leases, measured using the
interest rate implicit in the respective leases. Initial direct costs
(other than those incurred by manufacturer or dealer lessors)
are included in the initial measurement of the net investments
in the leases. Interest income is allocated to accounting
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on
the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except
for investment properties measured under fair value model.
Variable lease payments for operating leases that depend on
an index or a rate are estimated and included in the total lease
payments to be recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as other income.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e RS R R R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognized on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the

market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables from property
management services arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on

initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary

course of business are presented as revenue.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets

(i)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o The financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

° The contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at financial assets at financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e RS R R R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that are required to be measured
at the amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) as measured at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significant reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e MR R M (4E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on financial assets which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade receivables,
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents). The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e RS R R R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivable. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balance and/
or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings. For all other instruments, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instruments as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instruments as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e MR R M (4E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

U

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly: (a) an actual or
expected significant deterioration in the financial
instruments’ external (if available) or internal credit
rating; (b) significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread; (c) existing or
forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations; (d) an actual or expected
significant deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; and (e) an actual or expected
significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e RS R R R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

U

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if (i) it has a low risk of default, (i) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating
of “investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group). Irrespective of the above, the
Group considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ifi)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e RS R R R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or
in the case of trade receivables from property
management services and lease receivables,
when the amounts are over one year past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping: (a) past-due status;
(b) nature, size and industry of debtors; and (c)
external credit ratings where available.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e MR R M (4E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
amounts due to related companies and lease liabilities) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Except for changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform in which the Group applies the practical expedient,
when the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified,
the Group assess whether the revised terms result in a
substantial modification from original terms taking into
account all relevant facts and circumstances including
qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not conclusive,
the Group considers that the terms are substantially different
if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received,
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at
least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value
of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted for as an
extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as
part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange
or modification is considered as non-substantial modification
when such difference is less than 10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted at the
financial liabilities’ original effective interest rate. Transaction
costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount
of the modified financial liabilities and are amortised over the
remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial liability is recognised in profit or loss at the date of
modification.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)
Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale
after completion. Properties under development are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value
is determined by reference to the sales proceeds of properties
sold in the ordinary course of business, less applicable
variable selling expenses and the anticipated costs to
completion, or by management estimates based on prevailing
marketing conditions. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make
the sale. Development costs of property comprise cost of land
use rights, construction costs, and professional fees incurred
during the development period. On completion, the properties
are transferred to completed properties for sale. Properties
under development are classified as current assets when the
construction of the relevant properties commences unless the
construction of the relevant property development project is
expected to complete beyond normal operating cycle.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by
an apportionment of the total land and buildings costs
attributable to unsold properties. Net realisable value is
estimated by the directors based on the prevailing market
prices, on an individual property basis, less estimated cost to
completion and costs necessary to make the sales.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management. For the
purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to
use.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and as the time of the transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e RS R R R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 23 EXREFHBEER @

INFORMATION (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities, and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 23 EXREFHBEER @

INFORMATION (Continued)
Revenue and other income recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met: (a) the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs; (b) the Group’s
performance creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or (c) the Group’s
performance does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue and other income recognition
(Continued)

Sales of properties

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
properties, the relevant properties specified in the contracts
are based on customer’s specifications with no alternative
use. Taking into consideration of the relevant contract terms,
the legal environment and relevant legal precedent, the Group
concluded that the Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment prior to transfer of the relevant properties
to customers. Revenue from sales of properties is therefore
recognised at a point in time when the completed property
is transferred to customers, being at the point that the
customer obtains the control of the completed property and
the Group has present right to payment and collection of the
consideration is probable.

Property management services income

For property management services, the Group bills a fixed
amount for services provided on a monthly basis and
recognises it as revenue in the amount to which the Group has
a right to invoice and that corresponds directly with the value
of performance completed.

Sales of construction materials

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer. The Group recognises revenue
when it transfers control of a product or service to a customer.

Revenue from the trading of construction materials in the
Group’s revenue happen at a point in time and do not include
any significant separate performance obligations. The Group
recognised revenue from trading of construction materials
when the construction materials is transferred.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the
other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue and other income recognition
(Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.

Revenue from other source
Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied
to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. In
prior years, final dividends proposed by the directors were
classified as a separate allocation of retained profits within the
equity section of the statement of financial position, until they
have been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Following the implementation of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622), proposed final dividends are disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair value
of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve). At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate
of the number of equity instruments expected to vest based
on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share capital. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously
recognised share option reserve will be transferred to share
capital.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 23 EXREFHBEER @

INFORMATION (Continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans including the
LSP under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the cost
of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit
credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at
the end of each annual reporting period. In determining the
present value of the Group’s defined benefit obligations and
the related current service cost and, where applicable, past
service cost, the Group attributes benefit to periods of service
under the plan’s benefit formula. However, if an employee’s
service in later years will lead to a materially higher level of
benefit than earlier years, the Group attributes the benefit on a
straight-line basis from:

(@) the date when service by the employee first leads to
benefits under the plan (whether or not the benefits are
conditional on further service) until;

(o) the date when further service by the employee will lead
to no material amount of further benefits under the plan,
other than from further salary increases.

Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the
effect of the changes to the asset ceiling (if applicable) and
the return on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected
immediately in the consolidated statement of financial position
with a charge or credit recognised in other comprehensive
income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement
recognised in other comprehensive income is reflected
immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to
profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period
of a plan amendment or curtailment and a gain or loss on
settlement is recognised when settlement occurs. When
determining past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement,
an entity shall remeasure the net defined benefit liability or
asset using the current fair value of plan assets and current
actuarial assumptions, reflecting the benefits offered under
the plan and the plan assets before and after the plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement, without considering
the effect of asset ceiling (i.e. the present value of any
economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the
plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan).

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at
the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability
or asset. However, if the Group remeasures the net defined
benefit liability or asset before plan amendment, curtailment
or settlement, the Group determines net interest for the
remainder of the annual reporting period after the plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement using the benefits
offered under the plan and the plan assets after the plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement and the discount rate
used to remeasure such net defined benefit liability or asset,
taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit
liability or asset during the period resulting from contributions
or benefit payments.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

o service cost (including current service cost, past service
cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments and
settlements);

o net interest expense or income; and

= remeasurement
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position represents the
actual deficit or surplus in the Group’s defined benefit plans.
Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the
present value of any economic benefits available in the form of
refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to
the plans.

Discretionary contributions made by employees or third
parties reduce service cost upon payment of these
contributions to the plan.

When the formal terms of the plans specify that there will be
contributions from employees or third parties, the accounting
depends on whether the contributions are linked to service, as
follows:

° If the contributions are not linked to services (for
example contributions are required to reduce a deficit
arising from losses on plan assets or from actuarial
losses), they are reflected in the remeasurement of the
net defined benefit liability or asset.

o If contributions are linked to services, they reduce
service costs. For the amount of contribution that is
dependent on the number of years of service, the Group
reduces service cost by attributing the contributions to
periods of service using the attribution method required
by HKAS 19 paragraph 70 for the gross benefits.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer MPF
contributions expected to be offset as a deemed employee
contribution towards the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS
19.93(a) and it is measure on a net basis. The estimated
amount of future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits derived
from the Group’s MPF contributions that have been vested
with employees, which are deemed to be contributions from
the relevant employees.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier
of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of
the termination benefit and when it recognises any related
restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 23 EAREHBEER @)

INFORMATION (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
(Continued)

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group
in respect of services provided by employees up to the
reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts
resulting from service cost, interest and remeasurements are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that another
HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an
asset.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the board of
directors that makes strategic decisions.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements
that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or
joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

The functional currencies of the Company and certain Hong
Kong and overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than
RMB. Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of
the Group’s net assets in Hong Kong dollars to the Group’s
presentation currency (i.e. RMB) are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in exchange
fluctuation reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated
in the exchange fluctuation reserve are not reclassified to
profit or loss subsequently.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value
of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 2, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are described below.

(i) Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which
the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
or change in facts and circumstances which results
in downward revision of future cash flows or upward
revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss or
further impairment loss may arise. The carrying amount
of goodwill at 31 December 2023 was RMB107,420,000
(2022: RMB178,455,000). Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are disclosed in Note 16.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Estimated net realisable value on completed
properties held for sale and properties under
development

In determining whether allowances should be made
for the Group’s completed properties held for sale
and properties under development, the Group takes
into consideration the current market environment and
the estimated net realisable value (i.e. the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale). An allowance
is made if the estimated or actual net realisable
value of the completed properties held for sale and
properties under development is less than expected
as a result of change in market condition and/or
significant variation in the budgeted development cost,
material provision for impairment losses may result.
As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the
completed properties held for sale and properties under
development was approximately RMB3,715,000 and
RMB295,169,000 respectively (2022: RMB3,921,000
and RMB295,169,000).

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision
of ECL for trade receivables based on the ECL which
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables. For other receivables, the provision of
ECL is based on 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period. Management
reassesses the provision at each reporting date. The
provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL for trade and other
receivables are disclosed in Note 32.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

HKFRS 8, Operating Segments, requires the identification and
disclosure of operating segment information based on internal
financial reports that are regularly reviewed by the chief
operating decision maker (the “CODM?”), being the senior
management of the Company, for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

Information reported to the Group’s senior management, in
accordance with HKFRS 8, focuses on the operating results
the property development business, property management
services business and trading of construction materials
business.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their principal activities and has
three reportable operating segments as follows: (i) property
development business; (i) property management services
business; and (jii) trading of construction materials business.
Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/
loss before tax. The segment results and other segment items
included in loss before tax for the reporting period are as
follows:

BEMBHRE LR ESREENTRTE
AHENMNBEEENRER BHE
BOLERATERLERRE([EER
BRRE | AARBRREERE)E
HEHUNEERIERKRBRFEZA
BRI EMSH o

REFBHMBHREEAFSNR - MAK
ERREEEERMNER  HEHE
ROEFRERT  DEEERBES
HEMEPEBNLERE -

REEME  AERBREBEEETEZXH
EREBEN - WH AT =R 2
MEEDE - (VERBRER (VWX
BERBRY  R(iEMESES -
EHERRAYERAKESKLLENE
MEE  WEFELHERDEEKRR
MHPRE - DEPRIRDRIBEF RIHD
s A, B R (BB B ATE N, &
B)FHE - MEHA - FTABRTAE R
D ERRE R EM D RFIRB T ¢

BEBELBRARAA 2023F% 147



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. &&53&ER @
(Continued)
Segment revenues and results pa i E Y
The following is an analysis of the Group’s turnover and results AT BB 2|EEEDILHEARE
by reportable and operating segment: EETEREBNDN
Property Trading of

Property development ~ management services  construction material Consolidated
ELES NEERRH ENES B&4
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
2023F 2000 2023F 2000% 2023F 2000% 20235 2002%
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AE®Tn ARETT ARETn ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETH

Revenue ey 90 422 2,729 903 17,971 47,130 20,790 48,455
Segment result P (150502  [(1890) 1,562 494 2 508 (148,938) (689)
Other segment information; ~~ Eft A4 # -
Other income EA 3,268 3,196
Finance cost RERK (155) (43)
Unallocated corporate AARLERR

expenses (6,316) (10,641)
Loss hefore tax BiAEE (152,141)  (8276)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the S EIPTE AR @ st iR B AN E
same as the Group’s general accounting policies. B— R HREER o
Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit/(loss) from each DECHRN S (B1E) hEMES iR &
operating segment without allocation of central administration BIEAAN ER A RREK AN T

costs, other income and finance cost. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment.

The CODM makes decisions according to operating results
of each segment. No analysis of segment asset and liability
is presented as the CODM does not regularly review such
information for the purpose of resources allocation and
performance assessment.

148 Xiwang Property Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2023

1%&*"* wmAlL (E18)
Z& L/?&ﬁ%
STAERAMEE -

VLI ES
BUAEESERERK

BRERRERBEEBEANFNES
,m%iﬁﬁb"% c HREIEBERERRE
VERERSEREMFENENE
HESZEEHN  RAE2IHHE
ERABEND
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. K& 29 #HEF @)

(Continued)

Other segment information

Property Trading of
Property development  management services  construction material Unallocated Consolidated
VELES NEEBRE EHES AR E&a

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
03F  200F  008F 20005 ANVF  NNE ANVE ANE BE 200%F
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTL ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETT ARBTT ARETL ARETR ARETR

Depreciation on property, %1% - MERREHTE
plant and equipment - = 1) = - - = - (1) _

Deprecaion onright-of-use ~ FREZEMITE
assels - - - - - B By @ 60

Reversal of/jprovision for) @ /(&) £ 5 ERFUB

allowange of ECL LEHERERER
on trade receivables 50 = 6 (16) - 144 = = 56 128

Impairment loss recognised i SiESRANFHEER

respect of goodwil (71,035) (1,950) - - - - - - (11,035 (1,950)
Witten off of prepayment B EZ 3 (79,401) > = - = = o - (19400) =
Geographical information It 38 &

All revenues are derived from PRC during the years ended 31 B E20229F K%2023F 12 A31 H 1+
December 2022 and 2023. B Ak EEKERER -
All non-current assets of the Group were located in the PRC B 220224 K 2023F 12 A31 H L&
(including Hong Kong) during the years ended 31 December E- EAEBIERHEEHL KRBT
2022 and 2023. Bl (BIEEE) -
Non-current assets EMEEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

PRC H 2 3
Hong Kong B 1,509 2,298

1,511 2,301
The non-current asset information above is based on the IR BB EB R IR B EFTIEM
locations of the assets and excludes goodwill. HE s WAEIERE .
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Info

rmation about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing to over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group are as follows:

N

KEFTER @)

EBEFAN

KEEFPHWSEASEAKSES

10% &R ¢
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBET T ARETIT

Customer A (Note (i) ZEAKEN)) 9,126 =
Customer B (Note (ii) BEB(H i) 8,845 23,422
Customer C (Note (iii)) B EC(Hat i) - 19,667
Notes: Hiat -

(i)

1 50 Xiwang

Revenue generated from the Customer A is derived from trading
of construction materials. The corresponding revenue did not
contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Revenue generated from the Customer B during the year ended 31
December 2023 is derived from trading of construction materials for
approximately RMB8,845,000 (2022: RMB23,422,000).

Revenue from the Customer C during the year ended 31 December
2022 is derived from trading of construction materials. The
corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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(i

(ii)

EEAEERBTIREESEEN - #Z
2022F 12 A1 HILFE « HEREMNL
ANEE AU L BT ERE10% ©

HE2023F12A31BILEE @ &
FBEXAWEZNKEEETEBREMMHA
R #8,845,0007C (2022 F : AR
23,422,0007T) °

HE2022F12A31BILEE - BRFCE
EWETHIREBEEEM - BIE20234F
12A31BIEFE @ HERE G A EER
25 89 BE IS8 3B10% ©



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 5. WEkEMKA
Revenue represents proceeds from the sale of properties, WA HEEWEMRSIE -9
property management services income and trading of E¥EERBUALREMESAER
construction materials in the PRC. An analysis of revenue and I8 o WS NEMRADITET ¢
other income is as follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
Revenue Wz
Sale of properties YIS E 920 422
Property management services income YD E 1B IR AU 2,729 903
Trading of construction materials EME S 17,971 47,130
20,790 48,455
All revenue contracts are for period of one year or less, FTEWNEESNEREE—FHIAT -
as permitted by practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the MEBEEHREERFE155E N TR
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is BN WEBEESIZERBITES
not disclosed. KR 5 EHE -
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETFTT
Other income Hug A
Interest income from a related party REEER BT EMA 3,262 3,172
Bank interest income |RITHEWA 3 2
Government grants (Note) BT BN (A7 E) - 20
Others Hih 3 2
3,268 3,196
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised Ftit - MBI E2022F 12 A31B IEFE - A&
government grant of approximately RMB20,000 in respect of EEREME SR RERMEETEP
COVID-19 related subsidies which is related to Employment COVID- 19/ B M BUR # B AR
Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong Government. #20,0007T °
REVERSAL OF ALLOWANCE OF ECL 6. BEEHEHEXEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Reversal of allowance of ECL recognised on: = & 524 [l 78 Hf
ERBERERE
— Trade receivables — & S RINEIE 56 128
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

7. FINANCE COST 7. BERAK
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETIT

Interest on lease liabilities HEBENHE 155 43
8. LOSS BEFORE TAX 8. BRBIAIEE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging: REBEMBRRATEELSHBRATSEE
1BIER
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETITT

Cost of inventories sold BEEFEKAR 19,348 47,521
Auditors’ remuneration % BX AT Bl <& 585 556
Auditors’ remuneration for non-audit service Az EXRN gk IESZARTS 2 B & - 120
Depreciation e

— Property, plant and equipment —WZ% - BEREE 1 =

- Right-of-use asset — (P HEEE 817 603
Expenses relating to short-term leases HA5T EATE EARRE R 2 9 382
Foreign exchange loss, net SNEESTE - FEE 612 3,170
Employee benefit expense (including EERAFZ(BREESR

directors’ and chief executive’s FEITHABNEH)

remuneration):

— Wages and salaries —IEKHS 2,225 2,024

— Pension scheme contributions —IRIREFT BB 259 226

2,484 2,250
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 9.

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b),
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

%%KIE?’IE&AEE’\J%?

FREEREBTHABNFHIRE
ETARE - BB R REHIE383(1)(@)
(b) * (C) R (MEIA KA B (B FE & B Fz5
BRDMBHIFE2BERBENT ¢

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETF T ARETTT

Fees e 227 212
Other emoluments: Huls -

— Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind —%H4 2R EYRE 340 444

— Pension scheme contributions —R{K&ETE 28 27

368 471

595 683
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 9.

REMUNERATION (Continued)
(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

BEENFTETHAENS
B )

(a) BMUFHAITES

FA - XN TEIFATESEH
wEn

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBET T ARETIT

Mr. Wong Kai Ming (Note (i) =R S A (A1 EEG) = -
Mr. Wang An FREAE 50 50
Mr. Wang Zhen (Note (i) FSE S A& (HaE(i) 17 50
Mr. Wong Kai Hing (Note (iii) B 4 LA A ([ A (i) 135 112
Ms. Li Shaorui (Note (iv)) BTt (Bt (iv) 25 =

227 212

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the Year
(2022: nil).

Notes:

(i) Mr. Wong Kai Ming passed away on 7 January 2022.

(ii) Mr. Wang Zhen resigned on 8 May 2023.

(iii) Mr. Wong Kai Hing was appointed on 15 February 2022.

(iv) Ms. Li Shaorui was appointed on 6 July 2023.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 9. EERITETHAENE
REMUNERATION (continued) BN ()

(b) BITESBNIFHNITES

(b) Executive directors and non-executive

directors
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
EHER Birg
re BN FEMR a@st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
For the year ended BZ2023F12A31H
31 December 2023 LEE
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. WANG Jin Tao FeREE(TTRER)
(the chief executive officer) 215 15 230
Mr. WANG Wei Min IERLE 125 13 138
340 28 368
Non-executive directors: FRTES:
Mr. WANG Yong FBEAE - - -
Mr. WANG Di (note (j) TREEWIH) = - -
Mr. SUN Xinhu BHRAE = = -
For the year ended B Z2022F12R311
31 December 2022 HFE
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. WANG Jin Tao FeEEE(TRER)
(the chief executive officer) 288 15 303
Mr. WANG Wei Min TEREE 156 12 168
444 27 471
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mr. WANG Yong TERE = = =
Mr. WANG Di FirEs - - -
Mr. SUN Xinhu BHRRAE = = =
Notes: et -

(i) Mr. WANG Di resigned on 14 February 2023.

(i) T ER20234F2 A 148 &

fE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive

directors (Continued)

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive office of the Company waived or agreed
to wave any remuneration during the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: nil).

Remuneration package, including director’s salaries
and other benefits, discretionary bonuses and share
option scheme, is detrimental according to individual
performance, job responsibility and seniority, and is
reviewed with reference to market conditions.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no
emolument have been paid by the Group to any of
the directors and the chief executive officer as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group as
compensation for loss of office (2022: nil).

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
three directors (2022: three directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in Note 9 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2022: two)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

9. EERFTETHAENSE
B )

(b) AITESRIFHUITES

(#8&)

HZE2023F12A31HILFE -
NN E)E B RITRAAF IR
2o R EWETHFHALHE
(20224 : #) -

FUEMN(ERESHFMREMD
BA - BISTEAL R BB AT 8D
DIRBEARE - THREERF
EMEE  X2EMBHBEREL

T -

HZE2023F12A31HILFE -
NEE A EAERE E MITHA
BT EMNESIERINALEE
A - R IMARNEBES
BERL#H(E (20224« ) o

10. LB RS HES

FR WA FEERE-RES
(2022%F : =ZE=H)  HEFHFHMER
N EXEE9 o WIHAAFESRRE
ETBABMB TMA(2022F : W
Z)BEEFRENFEFHNFBLOT -

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARET T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Z4 - REIREDAR 678 537
Pension scheme contributions RIS EHEIHE 21 28
699 565
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

11.

(Continued)

The remaining highest paid employees who are non-directors
with their remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

10. A2 B S HEE @

HRTHIEEHZSFHEREFENTT
5|48 R -

Number of employees

EEHE
2023 2022
20234 20224
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000/ 7T 2 2

INCOME TAX CREDIT

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate. No
provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits derived from or earned in
Hong Kong during the year (2022: Nil). On 21 March 2018, the
Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland Revenue
(Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was published in the Gazette
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

11. FTEHIER

REBERAEBKE AREMER
CEZREEBEEENREZERE
BEZEMANIEEREETE M
B AR AEBRFANLELERE
EAXSBRIERT SN  WAEET
BB FS T AE L B (2022F ¢
) o R2018FE3 A21H » BB A
ERBO17TFERBE (BFT) (B75) 1§
PIER([ZERBER]) - 3l AFIE
TR ARH o ZIEFI ERN2018F 3 A
8RR EBEW URBHTFIE - 1R
BREHMAS  AESEEER
2,000,00078 7T 2’ 7 i 428.25% 2 Bi
EEW A IE - m A A B 2,000,000
I 2 B8 512 16.5% 2 Bt R Uk 7R
H e TEER2EMNNESHMAS 2
EEEREMNBEERE — X
16.5%EURFRIE ©

BEBLERAERAT 2023F% 157



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e RS R R R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 11. Fﬁ?%ﬁ}ﬁﬁ(ﬁ)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”), all PRC
enterprises are subject to a standard enterprise income tax
rate of 25%, except for enterprises under specific preferential
policies and provisions. In 2023, the applicable tax rate for the
subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC were 5%
to 25% (2022: 25%). PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) is
levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from sales of
properties less deductible expenditures including amortisation
of land use rights and all property development expenditures.

BEPEEEMEEE(LERSH
R MERBROEYERIZELE
IS R 25% M - EXENIETEE
BIR R AR CH 1 BR AN o R 2023
FoRRARFEKLAHE R A
B i AR R 5% 2 25% (2022 F -
25%) o H B I (E R ([ o B £ it 3
BB ) JHIZIB30% E60% K B # Fi &
H B EEZ - T EEAY
EHEEMSFER MR (B L
H{E AR SE R TR M ER B A) o

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBET T ARETIT

Current tax BNHARH IE
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFE BB - (457)
Charge for the year FAZH 59 -
59 (457)

Deferred tax IRAERTE
Credit for the year FREE (17,758) (487)
Total tax credit for the year FERIER BB (17,699) (944)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued) 11. Fﬁ' ﬁ}fﬁﬁ‘:‘,(%g)
A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax FR - RBECHERHETER
at the statutory income tax rate to the tax credit at the Group’s BEBRNHIEEK® @ BAEEFUEER
effective income tax rate for the year, and a reconciliation of B ERAENTT B 28R - LA
the applicable rate (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the effective FEBRER(AAERER) BERI X
tax rate, are as follows: FISBRZA T -

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBET T ARETITT

Loss before tax FRELRTEE (152,141) (8,276)
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEMETTEORIE (38,035) (2,069)
Effect of different tax rates of entities REMBEERLEE 2 A

operating in other jurisdictions TRABE 2 400 699
Income tax at concessionary rate BREBRETENER (235) =
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BARBTWANHIETE

purpose (816) (1,280)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax 7~ a] ¥ 5 57 #7745 27 28

purpose 20,640 1,799
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERR BB ST 2 347 364
Over-provision in respect of prior years LA FE R E = (457)
Tax credit HIEE % (17,699) (944)

12. DIVIDENDS 12. iR &2

No final dividend was proposed by the Board for both ordinary EEeT AEZEn LA EITBIEE
shares and convertible preference shares for the year ended LR EH Z2023F 12 A31HIEFE
31 December 2023 (2022: nil). ZREARR B (20224 © ) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share amounts

FREAR R TR R IRE AT BUR

are based on: ETE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Loss attributable to ordinary equity ApalEmE=EE ARG

holders of the Company [E518

(134,442) (7,332)

Number of shares

BREE
2023 2022
20234 20224

Weighted average number of ordinary shares =t & J% 5L 7 &5 18 Fi{se FA &Y
in issue during the year used in the basic FRE BT S BRI

loss per share calculations T35 A% 2k

1,408,784,198 1,408,784,198

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares in B2 A] 4% i (& 4& A% 5 Bl HO#5%

respect of the convertible preference shares  ##E T @K HI S

507,492,257 507,492,257

Weighted average number of ordinary shares stE &R EEEAERL
in issue during the year used in the diluted  FRE 317 FAR InEF

loss per share calculations B

1,408,784,198 1,408,784,198

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December
2022, the basic loss per share was the same as the diluted
loss per share. No (31 December 2022: no) adjustment has
been made to the basic loss per share amounts presented
for the year ended 31 December 2023 in respect of a dilution
as the impact of convertible preference shares (31 December
2022: the impact of convertible preference shares and
outstanding share options) would not have a dilutive effect on
the basic loss per share amounts presented.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ¥ - BMER&RE

Motor
Equipment vehicles Total
B3] AE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFL ARET T ARETTT
Cost B%N
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1A1H 1,433 1,353 2,786
Addition NE & - 3
At 31 December 2022, R2022F12H31B &
1 January 2023 and 2023F1 1AM K
31 December 2023 2023%12 A31H 1,436 1,353 2,789
Accumulated depreciation Z:HE
At 1 January 2022 R2022%1 818 1,433 1,353 2,786
Charge for the year FAZH = = =
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R2022F12A31B &
2023F1A1H 1,433 #3538 2,786
Charge for the year FAZH 1 = 1
At 31 December 2023 A2023F12A318 1,434 1,353 2,787
Net carrying value RESE
At 31 December 2022 R20224%12A31H 3 - 3
At 31 December 2023 R2023512A31H 2 - 2
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET 15. EFAREEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR T T
At 1 January »1H1H 2,298 453
Addition INE - 2,330
Depreciation for the year FNITE (817) (603)
Exchange realignment bE 55, 3 8 28 118
At 31 December M12H31H 1,509 2,298
Notes: et
1, The Group leased building for its operations. Lease contracts were 1. REERMFANEYBEHEEFIELER
entered into for fixed term of 2-3 years. In determining the lease % - HERHNERE=FETHRRE
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the 5] c METHEE MG T A BEEMm
Group applied the definition of a contract and determined the period BRE  KEBEAASONESTETE
for which the contract is enforceable. A KRR HIBATH B ©
2. The total cash outflow for leases amounted to approximately 2. MNEE2023F12A31 B IEFEEM
RMB919,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: EEENBE SR BEYLNAEARK
RMB642,000). 919,000 7T (2022 FF : A K ¥ 642,000
JT) °
16. GOODWILL 16. &
RMB’000
AREBTIT
Cost: R :
As at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 7R2022F1 H1H ~ 2022F12H318 -
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 202391 H1H 2023F12H31H 200,583
Accumulated impairment: Z5HEE -
As at 1 January 2022 R2022%1 A1H 20,178
Impairment loss recognised in the year RFERIER R B EE 1,950
At 31 December 2022 and R2022%F12 A31B &
at 1 January 2023 72023%F1 H1H 22,128
Impairment loss recognised in the year REANERHRIEREE 71,035
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12H31H 93,163
Carrying values: REE
At 31 December 2022 R20226F12H31H 178,455
At 31 December 2023 MA2023F12H31H 107,420
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been
allocated to the following cash-generating units (“CGUs”) for
impairment testing:

16. & @)

BBREGAHBBNBECOEET
ReELAEN((REELEEMDF
BRI

2023 2022
20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETFIT

Meijun Project ERIEHE 107,420 107,420
Qinghe Project JBIEHE - 71,035
107,420 178,455

The recoverable amount of all the above CGUs has been
determined based on a value in use calculation prepared by
Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited (“Vincorn”) which is
an independent third party not connected to the Group.

For Meijun Project, the calculation use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by the senior
management covering a six-year period. The pre-tax discount
rates applied to the cash flow projections by Vincorn is
16.99% (2022: 16.55%).

For Qinghe Project, the calculation use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by the senior
management covering an eight-year period. The pre-tax
discount rates applied to the cash flow projections by Vincorn
is 13.01% (2022: 16.74%).

The key assumptions on which management has based its
cash flow projections to undertake the impairment testing
of goodwill are as follows: (i) the selling price of properties
are estimated based on the current selling price of similar
properties in the same location with no expected growth; and
(ii) the construction cost of properties is based on the actual
cost of similar properties in the same location considering the
factors such as the increase of labour cost and inflation.

tHiFrBReELEEMA A KE S 5E
Ymih A R EAR QA (8
R EAEEYTEBFENBLE=
TINEREEERE °

MEMEEMES BEAEFERAER
= AR E 1R E L B0 R & S F EARE A B
BEEMNRESR=TEA - =R
eREENEANKRBMEBEXRRS
16.99% (- = —4F : 16.55%) °

BNIEEME BEAEFERAER
= AR E 1R B HEfE B R E N\ F HAE A B
BHEEMNRESTRETEA - =R
eREEANEANKRBMBEXRRS
13.01%( =B -—%F : 16.74%) °

EEEBETHERENAERANE S
MIWATIA T EERRAKIE : ()
ERUMELRERNEEBRKE - BTE
HAP IR R (i) ¥ RS ANTD A
FREBEELUMEZNERXNARRKE - X
ERBIATRARIBINEBRERSE ©
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16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Plot ratio is calculated by the total gross floor area dividing the
land area and estimated based on the project design.

16. B @)

TR L T AR IR R TR AR LA
G H - B AREEA Rt (8
fhat -

2023 2022

20234 20224

Meijun Project XABIEH 3.06 3.06
Qinghe Project NEREIRELE) 2.20 2.20

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Management performed impairment assessment on
the goodwill and concluded that an impairment of
RMB71,035,000 was recognised. This conclusion was based
on value in use model that required significant management
judgement with respect to the selling price and construction
cost of properties, plot ratio and the discount rate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

17. STOCK OF PROPERTIES 17. MEFE
(a) Completed properties held for sale (@) FIFEERFENE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

(b)

ARET T ARETT

Properties held for sale s sz 3,715 3,921
At the end of the reporting period, the Directors RIERR - ESTEAFFE
assessed whether there exists any objective evidence MEREGGTERRBENSTEFE
of impairment of the properties held for sale. Taking into B o RKEEFRNEAMR RN
consideration of the current market conditions in the 18 7 0 I 4 B AR Rk (B /85 18 (2022
PRC, no impairment loss (2022: nil) was recognised in Fm) o
profit or loss.
Properties under development (b) BEEPYE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETTT

Land in PRC held at cost:

At 1 January and 31 December

Development expenditure, at cost:

RPBIR AR L
R

R1A1ER12H31H 291,983 291,983

R - A

At 1 January and 31 December MA1BR12A318 | 3,186 || 3,186
At 31 December W125318 295,169 295,169
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. EZ EW 1A
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETTT

Trade receivables B 5 e FIE 272 8,837
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses g : TEHA(= BBk B4 (10) (66)
262 8,771
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, before J/ATJEH‘E BEEABEYRNE S ER
allowance for credit losses, presented based on the contract dates. FIE(CREHE B ABE) MERR DT
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETTT

0-180 days 0&E180H 272 8,837
The Group generally allows a credit period of 30 days to its REE ML TERPI0ABZEH o
customers.
Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set 2 5 FE U 2 T8 BBV E S RIS S A M
out in Note 32. §$32 °
19. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 19. FENFIE N HafEURFX
RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT ARBT T
Prepayments (note) SEUNES IE(/WE) 576 79,943
Other receivables Ho{th & Y 5K0R 1,532 1,583
Prepaid tax AN BIA 6,481 6,481
8,589 88,007
Note: Hiat -
During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were written off of A ZE2023FE 12831 HIEEE - BRENIER
prepayment of approximately RMB79,401,000 (during the year ended 31 KRBT Z THET M - }E{Q?AIEW§ 4N R &
December 2022: nil) due to the uncertainty in future prospects of Qinghe 79,401,0007T (B ZE2022F 12 A31 B IFFE -
Project. The real estate market in the PRC experienced a downward trend. @)  FEEHMEMSBCRE R 52
The Board considered that Qinghe Project has minimal foreseeable future RBAE BNEEE—SREZAAERRKIES
cash inflow from its further development. The amounts prepaid are non- TEAMR A o TR RIBATARE o
refundable.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20. RERBEEEY
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTHRR 771 801
Short term time deposits 5 HATE BRI AR 150,111 149,699
150,882 150,500

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents of the Company’s subsidiary in PRC
denominated in RMB amounted to RMB150,764,000 (2022:
RMB150,313,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies. However, under PRC Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business. At
the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents
of the Company’s subsidiary in PRC denominated in RMB
amounting to RMB150,111,000 (2022: RMB149,699,000)
was deposited into a related company, Xiwang Group
Finance Company Limited (Fa TS B ER A7) (“Xiwang
Finance”). The effective interest rate of deposit is 2.25%
(2022: 2.10% to 2.25%). Cash at banks earns interest at
floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term
time deposits are made for varying periods of between one
day and three months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

RIRER - ANQ BB — R
BRRANARBHENREeRESSE
B A AR 150,764,000 7t (2022
£ AR¥150,313,0007T) - AR
AT ERABAEEMER - AMm -
1B 15 AR B A b S BE B (R 15 % A BE
EERNEEERT  AEEELESE
BERBETIIEEFENRITEAR
MEBRBHMER - RIFEHK -
ARRABRARER A — B A
RMARBFENRSREASCEED
AR #150,111,000 7T (2022 & : A
R #149,699,0007T) EF A — i 8
EARAITEEYHERAR(IA
FEHBE)  c GHRHNEBRHEE2.25%
(20224 : 210% £2.25% ) ° 81718
CRESBRTERFE RZEE
ERIDAE - MEHTHFRZHEBET
—  NF—REZFAAFE  BERK
SEMBIREFRME - WIRIEEH
HHT BT RAOF EEIRA B - R1T
EHRERRAEERFRIHEENT
FREVERTT ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

1. EG R EMERRIE

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR¥ET T

Trade payables =) ANE e 9,886 18,502

Other payables H e IR 27,218 27,340

Salary and welfare payables e R@ER 725 818

37,829 46,660

Trade payables B E{IIE

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the RMEARNE 5 RN FKARR DT

reporting period, based on the contract date or invoice date,

(REBEAWBHREZAHNT :

is as follows:

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT

0 - 30 days 0£230H 92 381
31 - 60 days 31260H 29 -
61 — 90 days 61290H 29 -
Over 90 days HBiE90H 9,736 18,121
9,886 18,502

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally BORNHBERZE  B—RAER—

FANEE ° E’r&ﬂﬁﬁmlﬁﬁy% Rz

settled on terms of one year. Other payables are non-interest-

bearing and payable on demand.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. EHNEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREBT T
Contract liabilities aHatE 461 594
The Group receives payment from customers, payments NREBWHREPRIE  MABEEEA

23

are usually received in advance of the performance under
contracts which are mainly from property management service
income and sales of properties (2022: sales of properties).

Revenue recognised in relation to contract

g

BAAHMKE T2 FRaYEEE
BRASURA R VD2 S5 & (20224F : W) 5H

e EEHEEAIRA

liabilities
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Revenue recognised that was included in the Eﬁﬁ;@;ﬂ\i%ﬂé%’ﬂﬁﬁ
contract liabilities balance at the beginning 458889 A
of the year 594 323
LEASE LIABILITIES 23. HE&E
2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Lease liabilities payable: EREESE
Within one year —FRA 832 759
Within a period of more than one year —F A HETBARF
but not exceeding two years 744 820
Within a period of more than two years MENA EETBBRSE
but not exceeding five years = 734
Within a period of more than five years HBiRAF 2 HER - -
1,576 2,313
Less: Amount due for settlement within o AT ZEARNEEEER
12 months shown under current liabilities ZFIEGIAREBEE) 832 759
Amount due for settlement after 12 months A+ — & A& 2| #HEE 2 3K
shown under non-current liabilities B ASEREBE) 744 1,554

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities approximates 8.09% (2022: 8.09%).

BRANHEA BN METHIEEER
F= 5498.09% (20224 : 8.09%) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

24. DEFERRED TAX 24, R IH

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as
follows:

Deferred tax liabilities:

R RERARENEBOT

EERIESE !

Fair value  Prepaid tax
adjustment for advance

LAT from  arising from proceeds

sales of acquisition of from
Properties  subsidiaries properties Total

W ig

HEAR ES

HEMEN FREEN  BEAREN
THIBER AREERE BB B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT AR®BTRT AR®TRT ARET:
At 1 January 2022 20221 A1 H 38,221 54,906 3l 93,158
Credited to profit or loss SABR - (487) - (487)

At 31 December 2022 and R2022F12A31H K&

1 January 2023 2023%1A1R 38,221 54,419 31 92,671
Credited to profit or loss stAB&= - (17,758) - (17,758)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12H831H 38,221 36,661 31 74,913

The Group has tax losses of RMB157,633,000 (2022:
RMB149,870,000) which are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. The Group has tax losses arising in PRC of
RMB22,674,000 (2022: RMB20,954,000) that will expire in
one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the above items as it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the above items can be
utilised.
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25. SHARE CAPITAL 25, R
Shares g
2023 2023 2022 2022
20235 2023 20224 20224
RMB’000 HK$°000 RMB’000 HK$’000
ARETR THT ARET T THT
Authorised: AT
4,000,000,000 shares (2022:  4,000,000,0008%
4,000,000,000 shares) (20224 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 4,000,000,0007%)
(2022: HK$0.1) each FRAEBE1AT
(2022%F : 0.1 7L ) &Y
LiEk 366,694 400,000 366,694 400,000
2,000,000,000 shares (2022 2,000,000,000%%
2,000,000,000 shares) (20224 :
convertible preference shares 2,000,000,0008%)
of HK$0.1 (2022: HK$0.1) BREE.1ET
each (2022%F : 0.1 7L )&
AREER 183,347 200,000 183,347 200,000
550,041 600,000 550,041 600,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRHRE
1,408,784,198 shares (2022: 1,408,784,1980%
1,408,784,198 shares) (2022% -
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 1,408,784,198%)
(2022: HK$0.1) each SREE.1IET
(2022%F : 0.1B7T) Y
LiEk 129,149 140,879 129,149 140,879
507,492,257 shares (2022: 507,492,257
507,492,257 shares) (2022 :
convertible preference shares 507,492,257%)
of HK$0.1 (2022: HK$0.1) SREE.1ET
each (20224 : 0.1%7T)
F AR B S R 46,523 50,749 46,523 50,749
175,672 191,628 175,672 191,628
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 26. B IR fEST

In view of the expiry of the 2005 Scheme, the Company
adopted a share option scheme pursuant to a resolution
passed at a shareholders’ meeting held on 10 May 2018
(the “2018 Scheme”), as incentives or rewards for eligible
participants’ contribution to the Group. The 2018 Scheme
became effective on 10 May 2018 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from
that date. No share options have been granted under the
2018 Scheme since its adoption. The maximum number of
shares issuable upon exercise of all outstanding options which
may be granted under the 2005 Scheme, the 2018 Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group shall not
(unless approval of the Company’s shareholders at a general
meeting has been obtained) exceed 140,877,331 ordinary
shares in aggregate, representing approximately 10.00% of
the ordinary shares in issue and listed on the Stock Exchange
as at the date of this report. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in
a general meeting (with such participant and his associates
abstaining from voting). Share options granted to a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or
to any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance
by the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to any eligible participant, in excess of
1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time within
any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting. In addition, any grant of options
under the 2018 Scheme to a participant who is a Director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company
or any of their respective associates must be approved by
the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any
independent non-executive Director who is the proposed
grantee). Further, where the Board proposes to grant any
options under the 2018 Scheme to a participant who is a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
Director or any of their respective associates, and such grant
would result in the ordinary shares issued and to be issued
to the proposed grantee upon exercise of all options granted
and to be granted under the 2018 Scheme or any other share
option schemes of the Company (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of offer of the grant of the
option: (i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total
number of ordinary share of the Company in issue; and (ii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

having an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000 (based
on the closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company
on the offer date), such proposed grant must be approved by
shareholders of the Company at a general meeting.The offer of
a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from
the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration
of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the
share options granted is determinable by the directors.
The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date
of offer of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal
value of a share in the Company. Share options do not confer
rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’
meetings.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted was
estimated as at the date of grant, using the binomial model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to
the model used:

26. B ESTE (@)

BB B EARQE L RARE W TE
& - @{Ef8iB5,000,000 7T 0 BlZ
BREHOLELEARRBRERRBREXR
TEE BREBEBRENENITNE
HBHR28EHA  BARAXINE
H1B TR BAREER - IREE
BREMITEHRESET - BRED
TEERESETE BT ERUT
MEEE (AR REREZY
HHEE QTR TI(E ¢ (VA Q R,
REERBHBHIAEERS BEBL
FreyEH U8 R (i) A2 B %5 B
M - BREYER TFAE AR
BokERAD ERERER -

BREAREEENBRENDIAEBE
TTRELBERER _—_BAEAGHE
o 302 B RO RO 3R 18R R {6k
o TR &I AT AR X B8 A R
%

Dividend yield (%) [i% B 2 (%) 3.31
Expected volatility (%) T8 AR 18 (%) 55
Historical volatility (%) 52 18 (%) 55
Risk-free interest rate (%) 2 R R T 2K (%) 1.87
Expected life of options (year) TEHRRE AR F HR () 10
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) nREEHREE (GRS TT) 0.4423
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 26. BREE @)

20184 5T &ITE N R 2023512 A31 B i
ROENEREEOTERBE - 17

Options under the 2018 Scheme outstanding at 31 December
2023 have the following expiry date, exercise period and

exercise prices: FEARITEE :

Number of Number of
share share
option Options option

at lapsed at
Date of Exercise Exercise 1 January during 31 December
Grantee grant period price 2023 the year 2023
R20235 R2023E
1518 Eg 128318
ARA RS TEDE TEE BRERE BREXN BREZA
HK$ '000 '000 '000
per share
gRET T4 T T
Directors E% 5-11-2013 2013F  5-11-2014 20145 1.112 2,000 (2,000) -
11458 to 11458
5-11-2028  E2023%F
11A5H
5-11-2013 2013F  5-11-2015 2015% 1.112 2,000 (2,000) -
11450 to 11A5H
5112023  Z2023F
11750
5-11-2013 2013%  5-11-2016 2016F 1.112 2,000 (2,000) -
11H5H to 11H5H
5112023  E2023F
11450
Employees B8 5-11-2013 2013F  5-11-2014 2014 1.112 100 (100) -
11458 to 11458
5-11-2028  E2023%
11A5H
5-11-2013 20138 5-11-2015 2015 1.112 100 (100) -
11450 to 11A5H
5112023  Z2023F
11750
5-11-2013 2013  5-11-2016 20168 1.112 200 (200) -
11H5H to 11H5H
5112023  E2023F
11458
6,400 (6,400) -
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

26. BREFE (@)

RBEHRERTEBERENTEE
RATERIT -

2023 2022
Number of options Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
20235 20224F
EREHE FEREHE TREE" g
’000 ’000 HKS$ per share
T 17 T4 BRET
5-11-2014 to 201411 A5HE
- 2,100 1.112 5-11-2023 2023%11 A5H
5-11-2015 to 201511 A5RE
- 2,100 1.112 5-11-2023 2023%F11A5H
5-11-2016 to 2016F11A5HE
- 2,200 1.112 5-11-2023 2023%11A5H
- 6,400
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in * B ENITEES RN EITHAR S AT AL

the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company’s share capital.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no
share option (31 December 2022: 6,400,000 share options)
outstanding under the Scheme. As at 31 December 2022,
the exercise in full of the outstanding share options would,
under the present capital structure of the Company, result
in the issue of 6,400,000 additional ordinary shares of the
Company and additional share capital of HK$640,000 and
share premium of approximately HK$6,477,000 (equivalent to
RMB5,786,000) (before issue expenses).

oA R R R R B B
e -

RMEHR  NARRZFTEE T
| RITIE A E IR (202212 A 31
H : 6,400,00017 & I #E) - B = 2022
F12A318  RARAB BRINERELE
BT - 2EITE N ARTTE A ARES
fR{E N1 5] 3£ 176,400,0000% ZE SN & B
f% - EAEEINZZR640,00078 7T R A%
B 496,477,000 T (FHE R AR
5,786,0007T ) (FNFR /TR AD) ©
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27.

28.

RESERVES

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Foreign
Invested Enterprise (“FIES”) registered in the PRC, a portion
of the profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in PRC has been
transferred to the statutory reserve which is restricted as to
use and discretionary reserve which is not restricted to use.

Merger reserve represents the reserve arising from business
combinations under common control.

Contributed surplus represents the excess of the fair value
of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired, over the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.
Pursuant to Bermuda company law, a company may make
distributions to its members out of the contributed surplus in
certain circumstances.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policies information for share-
based payments in Note 2.3 to the financial statements.
The amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to accumulated losses should the related options
expire.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end
of the reporting period:

27. f#1E

REBEEANRFREELNINEDRE( 5
B |)WBEBEIRRAN - AEH
PR B A B B8 2 B 2 75 #8200 A 20 Rl
BRZARERHIEERE - UK
I 48 FA 2 BR 5 e B (B e o

2 BB IR R SR I IR0 275 2 GF A
BB ©

BABBEMWENBRRRNNA
nEE BLEAIBRABRNMET
MARBIBROOEENSD - RERA
RERQRE  RAEIAIRETERLTIA
HEHARBAEKBRFEHDIK °

BRERBEECREBEDARITED
BRENDAEE  WIERRMEE2.3
P B DA ) S SRR R & 5T ERSR
ERBEEAENEE FRASHES
RIARE BRI T E R B E R iE
B NERBEREREMERS
REtEE -

28. E A EE

AEBRREMRE N TEARALE !

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR T IT
Property development expenditure MERERS
Contracted but not provided for EEEEE S 935 935
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29. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, the following transactions
took place between the Group and related parties at terms
agreed between the parties:

(a) Outstanding balances with related

2. ERBEEIRS

BRRZEFEREMBRRELMBEEIE
%%%'TNQ%KK% &%iﬁ
Z BRE T7 % B IGsE

(a) HEELQRNAREERLS

companies B
2023 2022
2023% 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B sE ARETR ARBTF T
Due to related parties: FEHREE H FUA
Xiwang Group Company AETEEAT i), (iv) 2,777 -
Xiwang Investment BERE (), (ii) 16,319 15,216
Xiwang Hong Kong Company Limited ~ FEEEBER AR i), (iii) - 1,036
Master Team International Limited Master Team
International
Limited (i), (i) - 858
19,096 17,110

()  These outstanding balances with related
companies are unsecured, interest-free and have
no fixed terms of repayment.

(i) The counterparty is an immediate holding company
of the Company.

(i)  The counterparties are subsidiaries of the ultimate
holding company of the Company.

(iv)  The counterparty is the ultimate holding company
of the Company.

() HEAERQAINREEZES %
REER 2R REE
B -

iy HEFHFAARAEELER
AE] o

(iii) ﬂ?ﬁ%ﬁ —?%ﬁ%
NAEIZHBA

vy, HFHABERRREIER
NE] o
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(b)

29. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 2. EXBELRS @)
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Transaction with related party: (b) HEERRS -
2023 2022
Nature of 20235 2022
Name to related party: Notes transaction RMB’000 RMB’000
BEHAR M RXHUE ARETR ARETT

Xiwang Finance HERH Interest

5 income WA 3,262 3,172

(c)

The related party transaction in respect of interest
income constitute continuing connected transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules are provided in section “Non-Exempt Continuing
Connected Transactions” of the Director’s Report.

ARFBRANBES R 5MH
B E B RAIE14AE B T HT A
THREWBRS - EMRAE
UABREZ BERTEF ST
& [ FRRS 2 HERERS ) —
# -

Compensation of key management c) AEBEXEEEAEH
personnel of the Group: [
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Short term employee benefits EHEBET 1,245 1,092
Pension Scheme contributions RIN&FT BB 49 42
Total compensation paid to key SNFEEEEAEN
management personnel HriNaaza 1,294 1,134

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in Note 9.
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29. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

290. ERBEELFTRZ @)

(d) on 12 August 2019, the Company and Xiwang Finance (d) ®2019%8A128 » AQFEF

entered into a new Financial Services Framework
Agreement to renew the existing arrangement for a term
commencing from 1 December 2019 to 30 November
2022. For each of the period from 1 December 2019 to
31 December 2019, for the years ended 31 December
2020, 31 December 2021 and for the eleven months
ending 30 November 2022, the caps on the maximum
daily outstanding balance of deposits (including accrued
interests) at Xiwang Finance shall be RMB150 million,
RMB150 million, RMB250 million and RMB500 million
respectively. On 7 October 2022, the Company and
Xiwang Finance further renewed the Financial Services
Framework Agreement for a term commencing from 1
December 2022 to 30 November 2025. The maximum
daily cap for the year ended 31 December 2023 shall be
RMB160 million.

TEHBEI S MRS IERE G H
NEERELH - HIlRB2019
F12 A1 BB E2022F11 A30
H - R2019F12 A1 HE20194F
12H31H L% BIf - #iZE2020
F12A31H » 2021F12A31H
EEFEREZE2022F11 A30
HiE+—@R  RAIHBEHE
BEafTREsn LR (82K
FRE) DAlEAARKIS0E
B ARBAS0EETL - AR
Bo50E BT RARKS00E &
TT ° FA2022F 10878 » AA A
HETHSE - PEBES R
EZR W - HIR 52022F 12 A1
BB ZE2025%11 A30H - &
F2023F12A31HIELEENR
SEBHEREAARKI60ES
=

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Maximum cap during the period under ¥TZH T BN &S LR

new arrangement
QOutstanding balance of deposit as
at year end (Note 20)

FRITFHREGEER(HE20)

160,000 160,000

150,111 149,699
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 30. ZERE S THEMT A
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial ZEeMT ERNREHARNEERER
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as T
follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBTIT
Financial assets at amortised cost SREE - REBHEAATIE
Trade receivables (Note 18) B S WA (M E18) 262 8,771
Other receivables (Note 19) H th pE Uk SR IB (e 19) 1,532 1,583
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) R RBEEFEW(H:E20) 150,882 150,500
152,676 160,854
Financial liabilities at amortised cost SRIEE - RBHEAE
Trade and other payables (Note 21) B 5 R H AR TR
(KizF21) 37,829 46,660
Amounts due to related parties (Note 29(a)) &8 )5 73 (K1 7729(a)) 19,096 17,110
Lease liabilities (Note 23) HEBEH723) 1,576 2,313
58,501 66,083
31. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL N.EMITAENAAEE
INSTRUMENTS
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair values of the Group’s R2023F 202212 A31H » A&EE
financial assets and financial liabilities approximated to their TREEMCHBEN AR EEER
carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of FEHEESE  REFERZEIAR
these instruments. FEHARE ] -
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities
such as trade receivables, other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables, amounts due to
related parties and lease liabilities, which arise directly from its
operations. The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

All of the Group’s revenue and substantially all of the Group’s
cost of sales and operating expenses are denominated in
RMB. Accordingly, the transactional currency exposures of
the Group are not significant.

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group’s financial assets, which mainly
comprise trade receivables, other receivables, cash and
cash equivalents, arises from default of the counterparty,
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts
of these financial assets. To manage the risk, deposits
are mainly placed with different financial institutions which
are all high credit quality financial institutions. The Group
would not release the property ownership certificates to the
buyers before the buyers fully settle the payments. It has set
up procedures to monitor settlement of overdue property
management fees. It uses debtors’ ageing analysis to assess
customers’ ability to settle in accordance with the contractual
terms on a timely basis.It also has other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

2. B EREEEERBE

AEBTECRTABREREMRS
FEY ZFERIANTIEENR
RASENZERE - AREAZH
HemEENARE - 0E 5B KK
B HMENHIE  ReRBREFE
Y E5REMBNRIEA - BNRE
FTREAMHERE HHEEETEHE
BEELX AKBESRTAMEENE
ZERSINERRE - EEER LTS
HRE  EFSFHNLRAEEESE
B HIBR - BREBERBIIN T -

HINES L Bz

AEBEEHEXRBRBRIBY HENX
ARGEERXBHUAARKEE -
It AEERZNEERBIALTERX -

8RR

rEEREREE(TZREESEK
RE - HiEWFIBRARBRE MBS
ZEYM A REETENNRS
EERBAZSREENEREE -
REBEHERR  FREZEEFEHRRT
RN REE 289 /ERERE
ENSREE - RERTBNHA
Al AREAERERELMEESE
BE - HEEYRFREZBAHME
BEENGEE - HEREHANKKR
DMRFEEFEFRANGIREEE
FIBEN - AKE A Hih B IR fr 7
REEREERET TR M EA BE IR -
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT NR.ERABEEEEZERBEK

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers

Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit terms. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability
to pay, and take into account information specific to the
customer as well as to the economic environment.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arises when
the Group has significant exposure to individual customers.

In respect of trade receivables arising from the sale of
properties and provision of property management services in
the PRC, the Group has no concentration of credit risk as nil
(2022: nil) and nil (2022: nil) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits and credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the management reviews the
recoverability of each trade debt at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate allowance for ECL are made
for irrecoverable amounts. The Group applies simplified
approach on trade receivables to provide for the ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The Group measures loss allowances
for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 2. WKEBEEEFERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (48)
Trade receivables arising from contracts EXEBEFEHNNEZREI
with customers (Continued) FRIE ()
The following table provides information about the Group’s TERREHEBEAREER2023F12 431
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 HHE S EUKIENEE R R & TEH
December 2023: ZERBLNELR :
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
SEEIESES IREIE
o iz =k

% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AR®TRT AR®TR

At 31 December 2023 72023%F12H31H
0 - 180 days 0&E180H 3.68 272 (10)
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TRERE K BREE
th= #aza E R B
% RMB’000 RMB’000
%  ARBTT ARBTT
At 31 December 2022 K2022%12A31H
0 - 180 days 0&180H 0.75 8,837 (66)
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT . KEAREEEERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers (Continued)

The closing loss allowances for expected credit losses for
financial assets at amortised cost including trade receivables
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 reconcile to the opening
loss allowances for expected credit losses as follows:

(%)

ELXBEFAANESRK

FRIE ()

MR2023F 2022612 A31 8 - f&#E s
MAFTENCREE(BRIEE ZEUGK
H)WFREFYIRHEREBARZEER
BBLHRIT ¢

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETTT

At 1 January »1A1H (66) (194)
Reversal of loss allowance recognised FRRIBREPERR

in profit or loss during RO EERETE

the year, net 56 128
At 31 December M12A31H (10) (66)

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of
a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a
failure to make contractual payments for a period greater than
agreed contract terms.

The loss allowances for ECL for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as
forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers (Continued)

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are set
out in Note 18.

The management monitored the financial background and
creditability of those debtors on an ongoing basis. The Group
seeks to minimise its risk by dealing with counterparties which
have good credit history. Majority of the trade receivables that
are neither past due nor impaired have no default payment
history. In this regard, the directors consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

Other receivables

For other receivables, the management makes periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The management believes that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition
and the Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL. For
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group
assessed the ECL for other receivables are insignificant and
thus no loss allowance is recognised.

Cash and cash equivalents

Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited because
the counterparties are financial institutions regulated by
government. The Group assessed 12m ECL for Cash and
cash equivalents by reference to information relating to
probability of default and loss given default of the respective
credit rating grades published by external credit rating
agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL is
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss allowance
was recognised.

2. WBEREERERBE

(%)

ELXBEFAANES R

FRIE ()

BERAKBEZRUREMELENE
ERREE— S B BEENHIES -

ERERBERZEEBRAZHBE
ENEEREN - AEEEREABR
HEETHBZRBGHFETRS %
K RBRERE o KEBo KRBT
RIBAEE B 5 & UK TR I M 3 K8 X
RCER e BLUET S » EFRAAKED
EERREKRERE -

H ft FE WK IR

MEMENZENS F EEEREB
THEETE - BEEBREBREES
BEMAMEEENZEERTEHEE
B TE HA i E YR IE 2 AT 4R B
EITEBTE EEBHEE%XSHE
ZIEERK S VAR AR EEE
o mMAAEEEN2MEAEHE
FiEXBERE - RE E2023 %2022
FI2A31BILFE  AEEFHHAD
BB EHERBATTEX
BE b 3 4 R B TR A o

BERBATZHEY

RekReFEVNERARER
RADHEF T RIBARE NS R
B AKRE2EINBEEFREEN
EMAREEFIRERNEORER
BOBBRX2ENFERE LRSS
EW®12EAERERERX - ERF
HEEE  BekReFEMNI12(E
ARMERERRESTEAN  Bit
W EFRER IR -
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT . KEAREEEERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to minimal liquidity risk as a substantial
portion of its financial assets and financial liabilities are due
within one year and it can finance its operations from existing
shareholders’ funds and internally generated cash flows.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of bank balances and cash deemed
adequate by the directors of the Company to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effect of fluctuations in
cash flows. The directors of the Company monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements on a regular basis.

The following tables detail the Group’s contractual maturity for
its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest dates on which the Group can be required to pay.
The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.

()
T ED 4 L B

AEBEAZHRDE S AREM - R
ARaXHremEERERABAR
—FRIEY YAARERRES K
NEAFRERNEREEH L ERMH

EEERDESARTE AEEE
RV BFHARNFREZTHREHHORT
BN BEEKT  MAAEEERE
BREED  YRERERERPH
TE - ARREFTHEZBN LA

TERFAINAEESRHABENANEH
B TREREMABNAURRS
MERBAEEAREFTFENKNKF
BHRER  TERMNERASRER

=
= °

More than More than

Weighted  Ondemand one year but two years Total
average or within less than but less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year two years five years cash flow amount

i EEXE HA-F0 EBmEE ABBEE
FHHE —£R SRWE SREE RELH REfE

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARETT  ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR

As at 31 December 2023 12023512/31R

Non-derivative financial liabilities {7 $REE

Trade and other payables BAREMERFUR - 37,829 - - 37,829 37,829

Amounts due to related companies ENEERRFE - 19,096 - - 19,096 19,096

Lease liabilities HEafk 8.09 926 m - 1,697 1,576
57,851 m - 58,622 58,501
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT . KEREEEERBEE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) ()
Liquidity risk (Continued) TED 1 R B )

More than More than

Weighted ~ Ondemand  one year but two years Total
average or within lessthan  butlessthan  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year two years five years cash flow amount

g B2t BA-FE BAWFE  ANERe
oMz —FR SRME SRRF ikt REE

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
% ARETL ARMTL ARMTL  ARMTRL ARETR

As at 31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

Non-derivative financial liabilities FT4EERaE

Trade and other payables BAREMERFE = 46,660 = = 46,660 46,660

Amounts due to related companies [ErAaE AR FUR = 17,110 = = 17,110 17,110

Lease liabilities HEak 8.09 912 912 760 2,584 2,313
64,682 912 760 66,354 66,083

Capital management BN E

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities will be REBEEHEAN  UBEEEAEF

able to continue as a going concern while maximising the B RRESEECEENERS
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt £4 5 A% B A B S oA B 3R o AN £2 [E B

and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains B e R PA SR A HARS M 45 TN o
unchanged during the reporting period.

The capital structure of the Group consists of total debt and REEMEARAEESFEAEBREARN

equity attributable to owners of the Company.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital, and balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends and
injection of capital.

BIEA ARG -

ARBEZEHRMAEHNERRE -
AEBEEEREARKARELEFIE
AEBREE - WEBIKMNEE&E
BV @BREANGES -
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 2. MHEREERERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) ()
Capital management (Continued) BEREE (&)
The Group’s net debt-to-capital ratio at the end of the current UTARERAGRSHARNFEE
and previous reporting periods was as follows: HE KRR
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETT ARETTT

Total debt (Note (i) REE () 20,672 19,428
Total equity (Note (i) warens (B () 433,656 567,776
Gearing ratio BEBELE 4.8% 3.4%
Notes: Hiat -
@) Debt is defined as lease liabilities and amounts due to related (i) BENER AHHERERENBERF]
companies as detailed in Notes 23 and 29(a). FIE - FFEEAM 23 %29(a)
(i)  Total equity includes share capital and reserves at the end of each (ii) PiEEPESRERARNBRARFE -
reporting period.
33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES B.AETHELEZERENY
ARISING FROM FINANCING AR
ACTIVITIES
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETTT
Lease liabilities HEEE
At 1 January w1 H1H 2,313 462
Changes from financing cash flows MERSREEH)
New leases entered e HE - 2,330
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEERE (764) (599)
Interest paid BAFLE (155) (43)
Total changes from financing cash flows AR S REE A 1,394 2,150
Finance costs B AN 155 43
Exchange realignment b 5 AR 27 120
At 31 December MW12A31H 1,576 2,313
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e P HRR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
plan administered by an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labour laws, rules and regulations
in the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit
Scheme”) organised by the relevant local government
authorities in the PRC whereby the Group is required to
make contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme at a
certain rate of the standard wages determined by the relevant
authorities in the PRC during the year. Contributions to the
Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Group had no forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme
and the Retirement Benefits Scheme utilised to reduce the
existing levels of contributions. As at 31 December 2023
and 2022, there was no forfeited contribution under the MPF
Scheme and Retirement Benefit Scheme which may be used
by the Group to reduce the contribution payable in the future
years.

34. R KEFFE

REBBERBEH F485F & Hl 1%
NIESFTENEAI B —Ha I E AT
errEl([RBELFE]) 5 AEF
EOIESTERBHRNEEGE T 2 E
8 o BEeFE T —BEREEIGRK
i ABUZTABEER - BB
wESFE - BEXxRHEBESAHZARK
BEEBEBKRARSRAEEEETEIEL
M FABBEWAN LR %A30,000
T o MR B T EIVEH AR A

B -

RIETBEERSEE - RAIKIER -
AEEZ2EBTEARMTBTER
AR 0 TE R SR IRAR A AT 8 (TR K
BRFE ) - B AEREEZTE
FHRERFANEBENEELIENET
e R m AR AR A AT B R - R KAE F
AEIMHRGARRE -

B E 20234 2022412 A31 B L4
B AEEVERBESFEETAMH
B R UL - IR AR KR B A& 2R
FEAK IR B M 5K F - R2023F &
202212 A31H » WEEBIES T
B MR KB R EIE T AR Wt 51m]
WASEE A RBERREREHEMSHR

e
A °
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e RS R R R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

35. A B M BN &R

BRARRERRARAFHRRKE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

BT

As at 31 December

M12831H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Right-of-use asset EREEE 1,509 2,298
Investments in subsidiaries R E AR/ E 217,260 217,260
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 218,769 219,558
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other receivables H {th e W Fx 78 302 298
Amounts due from subsidiaries i S NG EE] 39,657 44,483
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEEY 33 34
Total current assets mEEEAE 39,992 44,815
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables H fth fE A 3R0E 1,983 1,623
Lease liabilities HEaE 832 759
Amounts due to related parties FEST R 5 BUR 16,319 17,110
Total current liabilities mEBaEEE 19,134 19,492
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 20,858 25,323
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEEAER
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBER 239,627 244,881
NON CURRENT LIABILITY FRBERE
Lease liabilities HERE 744 1,654
Net assets BEFE 238,883 243,327
EQUITY L
Share capital A& A 175,672 175,672
Other reserves H it 63,211 67,655
Total equity b e 238,883 243,327

EMR2024F3A26 HEEE G HLE K
RIETIZ - B TIATHRERESE

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors
on 26 March 2024 and signed on behalf by:

WANG Jin Tao WANG Wei Min
By FER
Director Director
Ex 3
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023%F12A31 B L FE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 35, 22 3] B I 4R S0 5% ()
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: et -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AARIHEEOBRENT -
Share Exchange
option Capital Contributed fluctuation Accumulated
reserve reserve surplus reserve losses Total
BB EXRE
1] RA 1 AR 1] 25tEE okl

RMB'O0O  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARETT ARETE ARETE AR¥TT ARETR

(Note 27) (Note 27)
(Hiato7) (Kt227)
At 1 January 2022 M2022%F1 /18 1,770 151,442 373,006 59,365 (513,436) 72,147
Loss for the year FERNEE - - - - (7,010) (7,010
Other comprehensive income  EREMEERA
for the year - - - 2,518 - 2,518
Total comprehensive loss for ~ ERXN2 HEBLELE
the year - - - 2,518 (7,010) (4,492)
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12A31H 1,770 151,442 373,006 61,883 (520,446) 67,655
Loss for the year FRE#R - - - - (4,757) (4,757)
Other comprehensive income  EREMREUKA
for the year - - - 313 - 313
Total comprehensive income/  ERZ2EKA
(loss) for the year (E18) s - - - 313 (4,757) (4,444)
Transfer of share option A B R A28 2 A e
reserve upon the lapse of BIERE
share option (1,770) - - - 1,770 -
At 31 December 2023 M2023%F12A31H - 151,442 373,006 62,196 (523,433) 63,211
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e RS R R R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023% 12 A31 B L F &

36. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

37

38

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had
non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of RMB2,330,000 and RMB2,330,000, respectively, in
respect of lease arrangements for office.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
offsets the balance of trade receivable and trade payable of
approximately RMB8,642,000 due to the legally enforceable
right obtained by the Group to set off the balances and intend
either to settle on a net basis.

COMPARATIVES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform with current year’s presentation.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 March
2024.
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36.

37.

38.

TENFRERS

REE2022F 1231 B IEFE © &K
SERBAETNHELTED FIRER
BEENHEABERNEEREE ARKE
2,330,0007T & A R #2,330,0007T °

REZE2023F 12831 B ILFE - &%
EEHEEZRWKIBERE S ENIE
a4 AR#8,642,0007T © AAEE
TE1S B VR ] 98 Bl F 1T B 4 FI LA K 48 45
FRIRLUFREAE o

e B F

ETHRSEECEF S BEUNERFE
ZE2—B -

RS M H®RE

RAEMEHREREMN2024F3 A 26 H
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EEMBEBRE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20236 20226 20214 2020 20194
For the year ended BZE12A31A1t
31 December FE(ARY
(RMB million) BET)
Revenue EE 20 48 25 25 112
Gross profit/(loss) £/ (£8) 1 1 1 9) (35)
(LBITDA)/EBITDA (BRFE - BE -
FrEREH
ER)/BFE B
B EREHE
Bl (151) 8) (%) (1) (66)
Operating (loss)/profit L2 (E18)/ & (151) 8) (2) (1) (66)
Net (loss)/profit (B8),/ &H5%8 (134) (7) 8 (1) (62)
As at 31 December ®12A31A
(RMB million) (ARBREETR)
Current assets REEE 459 546 546 545 556
Non-current assets ERBDEE 109 181 181 181 181
Total assets BEBE 568 727 727 726 737
Current liabilities nHaR 58 65 62 67 68
Non-current liabilities FrBERE 76 94 93 93 93
Total liabilities BERE 134 159 155 160 161
Total equity ERER 434 568 572 566 576
Total liabilities and equity BERERES 568 727 727 726 737
Per share (RMB) SR(ARY)
Basic (loss)/earnings SREA(BE)/ RMB(9.5)cent ~ RMB(0.5)cent ~ RMBO.6cent  RMB(0.8) cent  RMB(3.7) cent
per share &7l AR¥%0Q.5)7  ARE0.5)7% ARE06D AR (08)D ARE@S
Diluted (loss)/earnings =i 107004 RMB(9.5)cent RMB(0.5)cent ~ RMBO.4 cent  RMB(0.8) cent  RMB(3.7) cent
per share & AR%0Q.5)7  ARE0.57% ARE04D AR®(087  AR®@7S
Dividends per ordinary share BREERRE - - - - -

Dividends per convertible
preference shares

BRAHRRELRES
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR e EREEMEE
SALE
Attributable
Approximate interest of the
Property name Location gross floor area Use Group
BABARE r&EH
MEER 3 (G R& el s
sqg.m.
FAAK
Meijun Project The east of Daixi 3rd Road South of 483 Residential 100%
Chengnan New District, Zouping,
Shandong Province
ESHIELE WRESF T EHER F=x
BE AR
Lanting Project The south of Heban 3rd Road and 834 Residential 100%
the west of Liquan 1st Road, Zouping,
Shandong Province
RSN IIERE B M =5 F=E
VAR B8 R — B AT
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
BRPYE
Estimated
approximate Attributable
Approximate gross floor Stage of interest of
Property name Location site area area Use completion the Group
B EHEE rEE
S % WREE AEEER AR TR Elt#ER
sg.m. sg.m.
FhHx FHA
Meijun Project The east of Daixi 3rd Road South of 178,154 478,903  Residential & Construction 100%
Chengnan New District, Zouping, Commercial in progress
Shandong Province
XEER IWRE BT RN FEREE i<

EE-REERR
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Audit Committee

ERZB®

Board
EEg

Board Committee(s)

E£Z8

8

Bye-Laws
AR

CG Code
EERSTA

Company
PAN/NC]!

Company Secretary
NElwE

COVID-19
COVID-19

Director(s)

5=

ESG
ESG

Group
REHE

HK$
BIT

Listing Rules

EmRA

Memorandum of Association

R R N
Model Code

]

GLOSSARY

audit committee of the Company

ARRIBEZRES®

Board of directors of the Company
KRAREEE

Board committee(s) of the Company, including the Audit Committee,

the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and any other
committee of the Board as may be established by the Company from time
to time

ARRIEELZEG  DEBEZZEY REZEg  FNZEgRELRR
A TR EEEEMAMEE S

the bye-laws of the Company from time to time in force
RN AR 2 4B A

The Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules (as amended from time to time)
TR RN SR U 2 R EVESTR - BARHEET

Xiwang Property Holdings Company Limited
AEEFZERABR AT

company secretary of the Company
KRR REIWE

coronavirus disease

ERRE R

director(s) of the Company

ARABES

environmental, social and governance
B - HEREA

Company and its subsidiaries
ARAREMBAR

Hong Kong Dollars
BT

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (as amended from time to time)
BEBBMERGABRARES EMHRE - LAREET

memorandum of association of the Company from time to time in force

RRBTR AR A ER KM

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of the Listed issuers

(as amended from time to time)

THRITABERITESRSNIEETE - EREELT
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Glossary (Continued)
AR (E)

Nomination Committee

RELZE®

Previous Year

£

PRC
G

Remuneration Committee
FTMEEE

RMB
AR

SFO
& 7 M EE Rl

Stock Exchange
Bk 22 PT

Xiwang Finance

AEMB

Xiwang Group
ATEE

Xiwang Group Company
AXSEARH

Xiwang Holdings
A E R

Xiwang Hong Kong
BAEEH

Xiwang Investment
AERE

Xiwang Special Steel
(RSl

Year

RER

%
%

nomination committee of the Company

ARRREERES®

year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F 12831 B ILFE

the People’s Republic of China
HREE AR FLANE

remuneration committee of the Company

ARRIFHERES

Renminbi

AR

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (as amended from time to time)
BBEDIFESTIEE 7 REABRS - LETRFHEET

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMERGAARRAT]

Xiwang Group Finance Company Limited* (FAE &£ BB AR A F)
ATSEYBEERAR

Xiwang Group Company and its subsidiaries
ATSERRNEME AR

Xiwang Group Company Limited* (FAEE£BEHR A A])
AEEEEFRAR

Xiwang Holdings Limited (P T4EA AR A &])
AEERER AR

Xiwang Hong Kong Company Limited (FEEB AR A F)
BAEBAERAF

Xiwang Investment Company Limited (in liquidation) (FA £ 1% & GR A A
(B#F))
AEREBRAROGEES)

Xiwang Special Steel Company Limited (in liquidation) (78 458 A& R
~El(OBEEH))
AERHMERAROEES)

year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31B ILFE

per cent
Bkt
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NGS COMPANY LIMITED

EXERBERRAT"

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(REREFMAIZARRAA
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